# Mathematisches Institut Justus-Liebig-Universität Giessen

Dissertation

# An equivariant degree and periodic solutions of the *N*-vortex problem

*Autor:* Björn Gebhard Betreuer: Prof. Dr. Thomas BARTSCH

Eine Thesis zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Naturwissenschaftlichen Fachbereiche der Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen

Februar 2018

# **Declaration of Authorship**

I declare that I have completed this dissertation single-handedly without the unauthorized help of a second party and only with the assistance acknowledged therein. I have appropriately acknowledged and cited all text passages that are derived verbatim from or are based on the content of published work of others, and all information relating to verbal communications. (See in particular Section 1.4.) I consent to the use of an anti-plagiarism software to check my thesis. I have abided by the principles of good scientific conduct laid down in the charter of the Justus Liebig University Giessen "Satzung der Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis" in carrying out the investigations described in the dissertation.

Gießen, February 28, 2018

### Abstract

We examine the *N*-vortex problem on general domains  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  concerning the existence of nonstationary collision-free periodic solutions. The problem in question is a first order Hamiltonian system of the form

$$\Gamma_k \dot{z}_k = J \nabla_{z_k} H(z_1, \dots, z_N), \quad k = 1, \dots, N,$$

where  $\Gamma_k \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  is the strength of the *k*th vortex at position  $z_k(t) \in \Omega$ ,  $J \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}$  is the standard symplectic matrix and

$$H(z_1,\ldots,z_N) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{\substack{k,j=1\\k\neq j}}^N \Gamma_j \Gamma_k \log |z_k - z_j| - \sum_{\substack{k,j=1\\k\neq j}}^N \Gamma_j \Gamma_k g(z_k,z_j)$$

with some regular and symmetric, but not explicitly known function  $q: \Omega \times \Omega \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ .

We present two types of periodic solutions that can be found in general domains. The first one is based on the idea to superpose a stationary solution of a system of less than N vortices and several clusters of vortices that are close to rigidly rotating configurations of the whole-plane system. The second type consists of choreographic solutions following approximately a boundary component of the domain. The proofs in both cases rely on a suitable rescaling of the problem, investigation of the limiting system and implicit-function-like methods for a local continuation of existing solutions. Moreover, the modification of a  $S^1$ -equivariant degree theory allows us to prove that the continuation occurs globally.

## Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Thomas Bartsch for his great guidance during my PhD studies in point vortex dynamics, for his advice regarding general academic questions and procedures, and for his support allowing me to attend conferences. I appreciate the pressure-free, but still motivating working atmosphere. In fact I have left all of our discussions with an  $\varepsilon$  more of motivation than I had before.

I am also grateful to the other Professors of the Analysis group, Mohameden Ahmedou, Bernhard Lani-Wayda and Hans-Otto Walther for teaching me various aspects of Analysis in interesting lectures, seminars and reading courses. In particular I say thank you to Prof. Bernhard Lani-Wayda who supported me already during my Bachelor studies and woke my interest in dynamical systems and differential equations.

Furthermore, I would like to thank Prof. Rafael Ortega for receiving me as a guest at Universidad de Granada, for his very kind hospitality and for the interesting discussions regarding Hamiltonian dynamics and stability during my stay. Many thanks to the DAAD, Prof. T. Bartsch and Prof. B. Lani-Wayda for making this visit possible. Concerning hospitality I also have to thank the PhD students of Granada, without whom the stay would not have been as pleasant as it was.

The same thank you of course holds true for all the fellow students here in Gießen, with whom I have shared and still share great times in- and outside of university.

Ein ganz besonders großer Dank gilt meinen Eltern und meiner Schwester für ihre bedingungslose Unterstützung und ihren immer verlässlichen Rückhalt. Danke!

# Contents

No	otatio	n	vi
1	Intro	oduction	1
_	1.1	The <i>N</i> -vortex problem	1
	1.2	Central question and related results	2
	1.3	Outline of the thesis	4
	1.4	Further comments	6
2	Ans	S <sup>1</sup> -equivariant degree for Hamiltonian systems	8
-	2.1	Summary of results	8
		2.1.1 Notation	8
		2.1.2 Degree setting	9
		2.1.3 Global continuation	10
		2.1.4 Nontrivial degree for nondegenerate solutions	11
	2.2	Application to Hamiltonian systems	12
	2.2	2.2.1 The basic degree setting	12
		2.2.2 Nondegenerate solutions and nontrivial degree	13
		2.2.3 Continuation of periodic solutions	14
		2.2.4 Choreographic setting	17
	23	Equivariant degree theories and their application to ODEs	18
	2.5	2.3.1 The degree of Dylawerski et al	19
		2.3.2 The degree of Rybicki	20
	2.4	Construction of the degree	22
	2.5	The global continuation theorem	25
	2.6	Calculation of the degree	26
2	Dowi	adia solutions consisting of clusters	20
3	2 1	Statement of results	34 22
	5.1	2.1.1 Critical points of <i>H</i>	34 24
		5.1.1 Critical points of $\mathcal{A}_{\Omega}$	54 26
		5.1.2 Relative equilibria of $\mathbb{R}$	20 26
	2 2	Ansatz and proliminarias	30 27
	2.2	Proof of Theorem 2.8	37 40
	3.3 2.4	Additional information and the case $l = 1$	40
	J.4	Authoritation and the case $l = 1 \dots \dots$	45
	3 5	5.4.1 The case $t > 1$	40
	3.6	An explicit stationary solution	49
	0.0		
4	Peri	odic solutions near $\partial \Omega$	51
	4.1	Statement of results	51
	4.2	Scaling of the domain	53
	4.3	Symplectic boundary coordinates and scaling	54
	4.4	A single vortex	56

	4.5	Choreographic solutions with $N \ge 2$ vortices	60				
5	Con	clusion and open questions	64				
	5.1	The <i>N</i> -Gon in the unit disc	64				
		5.1.1 Local aspects	65				
		5.1.2 Global aspects	65				
	5.2	The general case	66				
	5.3	Further remarks	67				
Α	Han	niltonian systems and their variational structure	69				
	A.1	Hamiltonian systems on $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$ and symplectic transformations $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	69				
	A.2	The Sobolev spaces $H^s$	70				
	A.3	The action functional on $H^1$	71				
B	Green's and Robin function 7						
	B.1	Basic properties	75				
	B.2	Explicit cases	76				
		B.2.1 The wohle plane	76				
		B.2.2 The upper halfplane	76				
		B.2.3 The unit disc	77				
	B.3	Boundary behaviour	77				
		B.3.1 The harmonic radius in simply connected domains	77				
		B.3.2 The harmonic radius of an annulus	78				
		B.3.3 Green's function	79				
	B.4	Hydrodynamic Green's function	80				
С	A de	erivation of the <i>N</i> -vortex problem	82				
	C.1	Two representations of the Euler equation	82				
	C.2	The localization of vortex blobs	84				
Bi	Bibliography 8						

# Notation

# Miscellaneous

Let U, V be subsets of a Banachspace X. Then  $\overline{U} = \operatorname{clos}(U)$ ,  $U^{\circ} = \operatorname{int}(U)$ ,  $\partial U$  denote the closure, the interior and the boundary of U and  $\operatorname{dist}(U, V) = \operatorname{inf} \{ \|u - v\|_X : u \in U, v \in V \}$ . An inner product on X is usually denoted by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_X$ . In the context of fluid dynamics we also use the notation  $x \cdot y = x_1y_1 + x_2y_2$  for the euclidian scalar product  $\langle x, y \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2}$ . The transpose of a matrix  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$  is written  $A^T$ . Commonly used matrices are the  $n \times n$  identity matrix  $\operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ , as well as

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

the rotation by  $-\frac{\pi}{2}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and the  $2N \times 2N$  block matrices

$$J_N = \begin{pmatrix} J & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & J \end{pmatrix}, \qquad M_{\Gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_1 \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2} & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & & \Gamma_N \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2} \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_N \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  denote the vorticities of the point vortices.

# Derivatives

Partial derivatives are written like  $\partial_t \omega(x, t)$ ,  $\partial_1 \omega(x, t) = \partial_{x_1} \omega(x, t)$  or  $\partial_r F(r, u)$ ,  $D_u F(r, u)$ . As usual  $\nabla \Phi$  denotes the gradient of a real valued function  $\Phi$  defined on a Hilbertspace X and  $\nabla^2 \Phi$  the Hessian matrix or more general the linear and continuous map  $X \to X$ , such that  $\langle \nabla^2 \Phi(x)u, v \rangle_X = D^2 \Phi(x)[u, v]$ . Higher order derivatives are for example written like  $D_u^k F(r, u), \nabla^k F_r(u)$  or  $F_r^{(k)}(u)$ , and for derivatives with respect to time we use  $\dot{u}(t)$  or  $\frac{d}{dt}u(t)$ .

Concerning classical differential operators we have divergence div  $v = \nabla \cdot v = \partial_1 v_1 + \partial_2 v_2$ , Laplace  $\Delta u = \operatorname{div}(\nabla u)$  and rotation  $\operatorname{curl} v = \partial_1 v_2 - \partial_2 v_1$ , if v is a two-dimensional vector field.

For a smooth function  $G : \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(x, y) \mapsto G(x, y)$  we write  $\nabla_1 G$ ,  $\nabla_1^2 G$  for the gradient and Hessian with respect to x and

$$\nabla_2 \nabla_1 G = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{y_1} \partial_{x_1} G & \partial_{y_2} \partial_{x_1} G \\ \partial_{y_1} \partial_{x_2} G & \partial_{y_2} \partial_{x_2} G \end{pmatrix}.$$

In a similar way one has to understand  $\nabla_2 G$ ,  $\nabla_2^2 G$  and  $\nabla_1 \nabla_2 G$ . Note that if *G* is symmetric, i.e. G(x, y) = G(y, x), then

$$\nabla_2 \nabla_1 G(x, y) = \left( \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G(y, x) \right)^T.$$
(0.1)

In the context of fluid dynamics we use  $\nabla^{\perp} \Phi = J \nabla \Phi$  and  $\nabla^{\perp} G(x, y) = J \nabla_1 G(x, y)$ .

# Spaces

$L_T^2$	square integrable functions $u : \mathbb{R}/T\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ , $\langle u, v \rangle_{L_T^2} = \int_0^T \langle u(t), v(t) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt$
$H_T^s$	Sobolev space $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}/T\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ of <i>T</i> -periodic functions, for $s = 1$ : $\langle u, v \rangle_{H^{1}_{T}} = \langle u, v \rangle_{L^{2}_{T}} + \langle \dot{u}, \dot{v} \rangle_{L^{2}_{T}}$
$C_T^0; C_T^k; C_T^\infty$	continuous; <i>k</i> -times continuously differentiable; smooth <i>T</i> -periodic functions $u : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ , $  u  _{C_T^k} = \sup \left\{ \left  u^{(j)}(t) \right  : 0 \le j \le k, t \in \mathbb{R} \right\}$
$L^2, H^s, C^k$	$= L_{2\pi}^2, = H_{2\pi}^s, = C_{2\pi}^k$
$\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$	linear and continuous operators between two Banach spaces $X, Y$ , $\ L\ _{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)} = \sup \{ \ Lx\ _Y : \ x\ _X \le 1 \}$
$\mathcal{L}(X)$	$= \mathcal{L}(X, X)$
$\mathcal{C}^k(U,Y)$	$k\text{-times}$ continuously differentiable functions from $U\subset X$ into $Y$
$C^{k,\alpha}(U,Y)$	$\mathcal{C}^k(U,Y)$ with kth derivative being $\alpha\text{-H\"older}$ continuous

# Topological degrees

deg	Brouwer degree or Leray-Schauder degree
$S^1$ -deg, d <sub>k</sub>	$S^1$ -equivariant degree by Dylawerski, Gęba, Jodel, Marzantowicz, see 2.3.1
$S^1$ -deg <sup><math>\perp</math></sup> , d <sup><math>\perp</math></sup> <sub>k</sub>	degree for $S^1$ -orthogonal maps by Rybicki, see 2.3.2
$S^1$ -deg $^{\nabla}$ , d $_k^{\nabla}$	modification of $S^1$ -deg <sup><math>\perp</math></sup> to $S^1$ -equivariant gradients, see 2.1.2

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

# **1.1** The *N*-vortex problem

In order to describe an incompressible fluid contained in a domain  $\Omega$  one uses partial differential equations like the Navier-Stokes equation or in the nonviscous case the Euler equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \upsilon + (\upsilon \cdot \nabla)\upsilon = -\nabla p, \\ \operatorname{div} \upsilon = 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

as most sophisticated models. Here v(x, t) denotes the velocity of the fluid and p(x, t) the pressure at the point  $x \in \Omega$  and at time  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Since in general the Navier-Stokes and Euler equation are quite complicated to deal with – we just like to mention [33] – simplified models based on these equations are used in the hope of gaining information about the original equations and/or to describe phenomena in applications in a precise enough manner. One of these simplified models is the so called *N*-vortex problem.

Here as a first simplification one considers a two-dimensional fluid, i.e.  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $v : \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ . The restriction of the fluid to two dimensions is a reasonable approximation when one of the dimensions is comparably small in relation to the other two, or more generally when the three-dimensional flow is confined to two-dimensional layers due to stratification or rotation. Assuming the two-dimensional fluid to be nonviscous and contained in a smooth domain with an impenetrable boundary, it is described by the Euler equations (1.1) and an additional boundary condition that requires the fluid to be tangential to  $\partial\Omega$ . A solution v of this boundary value problem can be found by solving the 2*D*-Euler equations in vorticity-stream formulation, i.e. finding scalar functions  $\omega(x, t)$ ,  $\Psi(x, t)$  satisfying

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \omega + \nabla^{\perp} \Psi \cdot \nabla \omega = 0, & \text{in } \Omega \\ -\Delta \Psi = \omega, & \text{in } \Omega \\ \Psi = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

and setting  $v = \nabla^{\perp} \Psi$ , see Section C.1. One next assumes that the whole velocity field  $v(\cdot, t)$  at any time *t* is solely determined by the position of finitely many vortices. Speaking in terms of vorticity this means that  $\omega(\cdot, t)$  is highly concentrated in finitely many points  $z_1(t), \ldots, z_N(t) \in \Omega$ . Let  $\Gamma_j \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  be the amount of vorticity located around  $z_j(t)$ . The corresponding formal ansatz  $\omega(x, t) = \sum_j \Gamma_j \delta(x - z_j(t))$  for (1.2) leads to a system of ordinary differential equations describing the motion of the vortex positions in time. This so called *N*-vortex system is of the form

$$\Gamma_j \dot{z}_j(t) = J \nabla_{z_j} H_\Omega(z_1(t), \dots, z_N(t)), \quad j = 1, \dots, N,$$
 (1.3)

where  $J: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  denotes rotation around the origin by  $-\frac{\pi}{2}$ , and  $H_{\Omega}$  defined on an open

subset of  $\Omega^N$  is a real valued function determined by the stated singular ansatz for the vorticity profile. The derivation of the *N*-vortex problem has its origin in the 19th century and is, depending on the considered case, due to Kirchhoff [47], Routh [68] and Lin [53, 54], but can also be found in more modern books, e.g. [34, 56, 57, 64]. An historic overview of the derivation of the point vortex system together with advanced models can be found in [55]. In appendix C we present the localization theorem of Marchioro and Pulvirenti [59] as a rigorous justification for the point vortex system.

The simplification of the dynamics of a fluid to the motion of finitely many point vortices has a wide range of applications. In Geophysics system (1.3) serves as a simple model for the interaction of ocean eddies with coastlines, see [21, 24, 73], or for an explanation of vortex configurations in the eye of hurricane Isabel (2003), see [48] and chapter 3 of [9]. Point vortex models, typically with a high number of vortices, are also used in numerical simulations of liquids and gases of various kinds, for example to simulate the locomotion of a fish or insect [30] or to create computer animations in video games [41].

Furthermore, the *N*-vortex problem does not only occur as a singular limit of the Euler equations, but also as a limit of other partial differential equations from mathematical physics. If for example the initial data  $u_0^{\varepsilon} = u^{\varepsilon}(\cdot, 0) : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$  of the Gross-Pitaevskii (also called Ginzburg-Landau-Schrödinger) equation

$$\begin{cases} i\partial_t u^{\varepsilon} - \Delta u^{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-2} \left( 1 - |u^{\varepsilon}|^2 \right) u^{\varepsilon}, & \text{in } \Omega \\ u^{\varepsilon}(\cdot, t) = f, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

 $f: \partial \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$  some prescribed function and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , has independent of  $\varepsilon > 0$  only isolated zeroes, say  $a_1, \ldots, a_N \in \Omega$ , with local Brouwer indices having modulus 1, then as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ the corresponding solution  $u^{\varepsilon}(\cdot, t)$  has zeroes  $z_1^{\varepsilon}(t), \ldots, z_N^{\varepsilon}(t)$  following the solution of (1.3) with initial data  $z_j^{\varepsilon}(0) = a_j, j = 1, \ldots, N$ . So the zeroes of the solution of (1.4) behave in the limit like point vortices. The corresponding vorticities  $\Gamma_j$  are here given by the local Brouwer degrees deg  $(u_0^{\varepsilon}, B_{\rho}(a_j)) \in \{\pm 1\}, \rho > 0$  sufficiently small. Details concerning this motivation for point vortex dynamics can be found in [22, 45] and the references therein. Another equation giving rise to point vortex like dynamics is the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation, for which we just like to refer to [51].

### **1.2** Central question and related results

The N-vortex problem (1.3) is a first order Hamiltonian system with Hamilton function

$$H_{\Omega}(z_1,\ldots,z_N) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{\substack{k,j=1\\k\neq j}}^N \Gamma_j \Gamma_k \log |z_j - z_k| - \sum_{\substack{k,j=1\\k\neq j}}^N \Gamma_j \Gamma_k g_{\Omega}(z_j,z_k).$$

Since the first term, which models direct vortex-vortex interactions, becomes singular when  $z_j = z_k, j \neq k, H_{\Omega}$  is only defined on

$$\mathcal{F}_N(\Omega) = \left\{ z = (z_1, \dots, z_N) \in \Omega^N : z_j \neq z_k, \ j \neq k \right\}.$$

Besides these logarithmic singularities, a second main difficulty of the Hamiltonian lies in the fact that the function  $g_{\Omega} : \Omega \times \Omega \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$  contained in the seond term and modelling vortex-boundary interactions is, except for a few special cases, not explicitly known. More



FIGURE 1.1: Relative equilibria solutions on  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$ : Vortices with  $\Gamma_j < 0$  are blue, vortices with  $\Gamma_j > 0$  are red, all configurations rotate in counterclockwise direction.

precisely  $g_{\Omega}(\cdot, y)$  satisfies for every  $y \in \Omega$  the boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_x g_{\Omega}(x, y) = 0, & x \in \Omega\\ g_{\Omega}(x, y) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |x - y|, & x \in \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

such that

$$G_{\Omega}(x,y) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |x-y| - g_{\Omega}(x,y)$$

is the Green's function of the Dirichlet-Laplace operator. Contrary to the singular part of  $G_{\Omega}$  the evaluation of  $g_{\Omega}$  at the same point is allowed. The function defined by this evaluation  $h_{\Omega}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$h_{\Omega}(x) = g_{\Omega}(x, x)$$

is called Robin function and determines the motion of a single vortex inside the domain  $\Omega$ . Due to  $h_{\Omega}(x) \to \infty$  as  $x \to \partial \Omega$  singularities of  $H_{\Omega}$  not only occur when different vortices collide, but also when vortices approach the boundary of  $\Omega$ . A summary concerning further properties of the Green's function and the Robin function can be found in Appendix B. In particular Section B.4 treats so called hydrodynamic Green's functions, which appear naturally in point vortex dynamics as a generalization of the Dirichlet Green's function.

In this thesis we will investigate the *N*-vortex problem in general domains with respect to a classic aspect of Hamiltonian dynamics: Periodic solutions. We will mainly focus on the question of existence of periodics, but also elaborate a little on their structure as a set of solutions. The discussion of natural related questions like stability is currently work in progress and not included in the thesis. The periodic solutions investigated here are all nontrivial, i.e. have a positive minimal period, nonetheless an overview about stationary solutions can be found in section 3.1.1.

There is a vast amount of literature concerning periodic solutions of the *N*-vortex problem, dating back to the 19th century when Thomson investigated in [75] regular polygon configurations of identical vortices. Nevertheless, almost all of those publications treat special cases, in which the Green's function and hence the Hamiltonian  $H_{\Omega}$  is explicitly known. This is for example the case for  $\Omega$  being the whole plane  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , the upper half-plane  $\mathbb{R}^2_+$  or the unit disc  $B_1(0)$ . Most of these solutions form relative equilibrium solutions, also called vortex crystals, which are vortex configurations that rigidly rotate around a central point. Examples on the whole plane include vortex pairs, equilateral triangles, Thomson's regular *N*-Gons and straight line configurations, see figure 1.1 for now and more detailed section 3.1.2. Even more complicated nested configurations can be found on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  or  $B_1(0)$  due to the fact that the Green's function is explicit and invariant with respect to rotations. We refer to [4, 5, 64] for the illustrated examples and a general overview.

Contrary to these cases both advantages are lost when one is interested in the dynamics

in an arbitrary domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ . Moreover, in general the Hamiltonian  $H_\Omega$  is unbounded from both sides, not integrable and has non compact, not metrically complete energy surfaces which makes the search for periodic solutions difficult. An exception is given by the two following cases, in which the definite asymptotic behaviour  $H_\Omega(z) \to -\infty$  as  $z \to \partial \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega)$ implies the compactness of energy levels:

- Ω bounded, N = 1, Γ<sub>1</sub> ≠ 0: Almost all solutions of the 1-vortex system are periodic, see section 15.5 in [34],
- Ω bounded, N = 2, Γ<sub>1</sub>Γ<sub>2</sub> < 0: Almost all non empty level sets H<sub>Ω</sub><sup>-1</sup>(c) contain a periodic solution, [74].

The first result going beyond these two cases is due to Bartsch and Dai [11] and treats the case of arbitrarily many identical vortices located near a topological stable critical point of the Robin function  $h_{\Omega}$ . A critical point of  $h_{\Omega}$ , which is nothing but an equilibrium of the 1-vortex system, can be found in every bounded domain. Moreover, at least after an arbitrarily small deformation of the domain it is nondegenerate and hence topological stable, see [15]. The theorem in a formulation not including all details then reads:

**Theorem 1.1** (Bartsch, Dai [11]). Let  $\Gamma_1 = \ldots = \Gamma_N \neq 0$ ,  $a \in \Omega$  be a topological stable critical point of  $h_{\Omega}$ . Then there exists a family  $(z^{(r)})$ ,  $0 < r < r_0$  of periodic solutions of (1.3) with the following properties: For any  $r \in (0, r_0)$  all N vortices  $z_1^{(r)}(t), \ldots, z_N^{(r)}(t)$  follow the same curve, i.e. the solutions form a choreography. In the limit  $r \to 0$  the minimal period  $T_r$  tends to 0 and all vortices converge towards the critical point a, whereas the geometrical shape of the configuration approaches a scaled version of Thomson's N-Gon configuration.

This result can be interpreted as the superposition of a stationary solution of the 1-vortex system on  $\Omega$  and the *N*-Gon solution on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . A natural question arises if similar solutions can be found when the stationary solution *a* is replaced by a nontrivial periodic trajectory a(t) of the 1-vortex system. For two vortices Bartsch and Sacchet could prove the following result, which we will here again formulate only in a rough way:

**Theorem 1.2** (Bartsch, Sacchet [18]). Let N = 2,  $\Gamma_1$ ,  $\Gamma_2 \neq 0$  with  $\Gamma_1 + \Gamma_2 = 0$  and a(t) be a *T*-periodic solution of the 1-vortex system on  $\Omega$ . Under a geometric condition on a(t) and nearby periodic trajectories of the 1-vortex system, the 2-vortex system on  $\Omega$  has infinitely many *T*-periodic solutions, in which the two vortices rotate around their center of vorticity while the center itself approximately follows the trajectory a(t).

Contrary to the methods used in [11] and the methods that will be used in this thesis, Theorem 1.2 requires a somewhat different approach due to the time-dependent trajectory a(t). In fact it relies on a generalized Poincaré-Birkhoff theorem [36].

### **1.3** Outline of the thesis

In chapter 3 we continue the search for periodic solutions via a superposition of two kinds of solutions. In particular, we generalize Theorem 1.1 in three aspects. First of all, we show that the Thomson *N*-Gons are not the only relative equilibrium solutions of the whole plane system that give rise to a family of periodic solutions  $(z^{(r)})_{r \in (0, r_0)}$  near a critical point of the Robin function  $h_{\Omega}$ . This way also configurations with different vorticities are shown to induce periodic solutions of (1.3). Next using an appropriate equivariant degree theory, which is based on the degree by Rybicki [69] and which represents in chapter 2 besides the periodic solutions the second main part of this thesis, we show that these families of solutions are not only local families but also part of a global connected set of periodic solutions. Moreover,



FIGURE 1.2: The 2-vortex problem in the unit disc admits a stationary solution with  $\Gamma_1 = -\Gamma_2$ , cf. Example 3.2. Combining this solution with rigidly rotating vortex pairs we obtain a periodic solution of the 4-vortex system in the disc, where each pair of vortices moves along a deformed circle. The shown trajectory is the actual numerically computed trajectory of the 4-vortex problem in the unit disc.



FIGURE 1.3: Four identical vortices in a Neumann oval domain following the red curve in a counterclockwise orientation. The numerical computation is based on code by Tom Ashbee [6].

by replacing the stationary solution  $a \in \Omega$  of the 1-vortex system by a stationary solution of a system of  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  vortices and placing a rigidly rotating configuration of the whole plane system near each of the *m* point vortices, we obtain periodic solutions consisting of *m* clusters. Figure 1.2 shows this idea in the easiest case of m = 2 clusters, each consisting of two identical vortices and  $\Omega$  being the unit disc. This way we obtain periodic solutions in the unit disc, in which the vortices are not rotating rigidly around the center of the disc. The precise statement of the described results is given in Theorems 3.1, 3.8 and 3.9.

The existence of the presented solutions so far is based on the fact that vortex-vortex interactions dominate the dynamics when vortices come close together. Contrary to that we will exploit vortex-boundary interactions in Chapter 4 in order to obtain periodic solutions for an arbitrary number of identical vortices in a simply connected domain. Here the vortices move separated by time shifts along the same curve close to the domain boundary, i.e. the solutions are also choreographies. As an illustration, the trajectory of 4 identical vortices close to the boundary of a Neumann oval domain is presented in figure 1.3. The rigorous result can be found in Theorem 4.3.

Both types of results are obtained by continuation of existing periodic solutions. Let

$$M_{\Gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_1 \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2} & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & \Gamma_N \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N \times 2N}, \quad J_N = \begin{pmatrix} J & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & J \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N \times 2N},$$

such that the N-vortex system (1.3) can be written in the more compact way

$$M_{\Gamma}\dot{z} = J_N \nabla H_{\Omega}(z), \tag{1.5}$$

where  $z = (z_1(t), ..., z_N(t)) \in \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega)$ . Depending on the situation a suitable rescaling shows that (1.5) is equivalent to

$$M_{\Gamma}\dot{u} = J_N \nabla H_r(u) \tag{1.6}$$

with a parameter dependent family  $(H_r)_{r \in (0, r_0)}$  of Hamiltonians. In particular a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution of (1.6) corresponds to a periodic solution of (1.5) with period T = T(r) depending on the introduced parameter r. So the here presented existence results rely on the investigation of the limiting problem  $r \rightarrow 0$ , for which  $2\pi$ -periodic solutions are known or shown to exist, as well as appropriate continuation methods. More precisely we will find for r > 0 critical points of the associated action functional

$$\Phi_r(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{2\pi} \langle M_{\Gamma} \dot{u}, J_N u \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt - \int_0^{2\pi} H_r(u) dt$$

emanating from a critical manifold of  $\Phi_0$  by applying implicit-function-like theorems, e.g. Theorem 2.7 and/or degree arguments, see Theorem 2.3 and Corollary 2.9, to the gradient  $\nabla \Phi_r$ . Although we do not use variational methods based for example on Morse-theory or a Linking structure, which seem quite hard to apply due to the indefinite behaviour of  $H_{\Omega}(z)$  when  $z \to \partial \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega)$ , the proofs rely on the existence of a variational structure associated to (1.6). The functional  $\Phi_r$  will be defined on an open subset of the Sobolev space  $H^1(\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$  consisting of  $2\pi$ -periodic functions having a square-integrable weak derivative. Since the natural domain of the quadratic form

$$u\mapsto rac{1}{2}\int_0^{2\pi}\langle M_\Gamma\dot{u},J_Nu
angle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}}\,dt$$

is the space of  $2\pi$ -periodic  $H^{1/2}$  functions, the choice of  $H^1$  as underlying function space will cause some technical difficulties, in particular when it comes to the task of finding an applicable degree theory for the gradient  $\nabla \Phi_r$ , cf. the discussion in Section 2.3. But on the other hand the Hamiltonian  $H_r$  is only defined for functions u(t) satisfying among other conditions  $u_j(t) \neq u_k(t)$  for all  $j \neq k$ . These conditions do not define an open subset of  $H^{1/2}$  due to the fact that  $H^{1/2}$  does not embed into the space of continuous,  $2\pi$ -periodic functions. So it is unclear how to work with  $\Phi_r$  on  $H^{1/2}$ . Contrary to that, the space  $H^1$ embeds continuously into the space of continuous functions. More details on the variational structure of Hamiltonian systems and the needed Sobolev spaces are given in section 2.2 and appendix A.

### **1.4 Further comments**

This is a declaration about which parts of the thesis have been published with whom before and which parts are new:

- Chapter 2: The construction of the  $S^1$ -equivariant degree for the action functional of Hamiltonian systems and the proof of the abstract global continuation theorem (Thm. 2.3) is done as in the joint paper with T. Bartsch, [13]. For the construction a little more details have been added. The formula for the computation of the degree for a nondegenerate solution (Thm. 2.24) is new. In [13] we only needed and used that the degree is nonzero, provided the solution is contained in one of the finite-dimensional subspaces  $X_n$ . As a consequence now Corollary 2.9 is available for a general nondegenerate periodic solution of a Hamiltonian system like the ones obtained in Theorem 4.3.
- Chapter 3: This chapter has so far not been published. Up to minor changes it can be found in the preprint [38].
- Chapter 4: The local part of the result itself (Thm. 4.3 except (4)) is joint work with T. Bartsch and Q. Dai, [12]. The here presented proof however, differs from the original one in the sense that a symplectic transformation onto the unit disc is used. Due to this transformation the result here is formulated for a  $C^4$  boundary component contrary to a  $C^3$  component in the original formulation, cf. Remark 4.4 d). The global aspect, i.e. property (4) of Thm. 4.3, is new and possible due to Theorem 2.24.
- Chapter 5: This chapter contains a discussion of the obtained results with the aid of known solutions in the unit disc, as well as some open questions. In [12] the regular *N*-Gon in the unit disc has already served as an illustration of the choreographic solutions near the boundary.
- Appendix A: This is just a collection of known facts about Hamiltonian systems and the associated action functional.
- Appendix B: Corollary B.2, Lemma B.3 and Lemma B.4 concerning the boundary behaviour of Green's and Robin function have been taken from [12]. For the remaining facts references are given.
- Appendix C: References are given as well.

# Chapter 2

# An S<sup>1</sup>-equivariant degree for Hamiltonian systems

This chapter provides an  $S^1$ -equivariant degree theory for the  $H^1$ -gradient of the action functional of a first order Hamiltonian system. The first section 2.1 introduces the notation and summarizes the properties of the degree in an abstract setting of potential operators on a Hilbert space, while section 2.2 with Corollary 2.9 as the central statement addresses the application of it to Hamiltonian systems. After that we discuss in section 2.3 other existing equivariant degree theories. In particular we introduce the degrees by Dylawerski, Gęba, Jodel, Marzantowicz (=DGJM) [29] and by Rybicki [69], on which our modification, carried out in section 2.4, is based. Finally section 2.5 is devoted to the proof of the global continuation theorem and section 2.6 to the calculation of the degree in a nondegenerate case.

# 2.1 Summary of results

#### 2.1.1 Notation

Let  $(X, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$  be a Hilbert space and  $\rho : S^1 \to \mathcal{L}(X)$  be an orthogonal  $S^1$ -action, i.e.  $\rho$  is a continuous homomorphism between  $S^1$  and the group of bounded linear operators  $\mathcal{L}(X)$ , such that every  $\rho(e^{i\theta})$  preserves the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ . Instead of  $\rho(e^{i\theta})u$ ,  $e^{i\theta} \in S^1$ ,  $u \in X$  we just write  $\theta * u$  and  $\theta \in S^1$  using the identification  $S^1 = \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ . For the orthogonality of the action this means  $\langle \theta * u_1, \theta * u_2 \rangle = \langle u_1, u_2 \rangle$  for every  $u_1, u_2 \in X$ ,  $\theta \in S^1$ .

A  $S^1$ -invariant subset of X is a set, that whenever it contains a point u, it also contains the whole orbit  $S^1 * u$ . A map  $f : X_1 \to X_2$  between two  $S^1$ -representations is called  $S^1$ equivariant provided  $f(\theta * u) = \theta * f(u)$  for all  $\theta \in S^1$ ,  $u \in X_1$ . Furthermore, f is called invariant, if f is constant along each orbit.

An example of an orthogonal  $S^1$ -action or in other words a  $S^1$ -representation is given by  $X = \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $\rho^m : S^1 \to SO(2)$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

$$\rho^{m}(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(m\theta) & -\sin(m\theta) \\ \sin(m\theta) & \cos(m\theta) \end{pmatrix}.$$

We denote by R[k, m],  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$  the direct sum of k copies of the representation  $(\mathbb{R}^2, \rho^m)$ .

Two representations  $X_1$ ,  $X_2$  are said to be equivalent, if there exists an equivariant isomorphism  $T : X_1 \rightarrow X_2$ . In this situation we write  $X_1 \cong X_2$ . For finite-dimensional representations the following classification theorem is available:

**Theorem 2.1** (see [1]). If V is a finite-dimensional representation of  $S^1$ , then

$$V \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^r R[k_i, m_i]$$

with unique numbers  $r \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $k_i \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $m_i \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , i = 1, ..., r satisfying  $m_1 < m_2 < ... < m_r$ .

Given a subset  $U \subset X$  and a closed subgroup  $K \leq S^1$ , i.e.  $K \in \{S^1, \mathbb{Z}_1, \mathbb{Z}_2, ...\}$  with  $\mathbb{Z}_k$  being the group of the *k*th roots of unity, the set of fixed points under *K* is denoted by

$$U^{K} = \{ u \in U : \theta * u = u \text{ for all } \theta \in K \}.$$

For the isotropy group of  $u \in X$  we write

$$I_u = \left\{ \theta \in S^1 : \theta * u = u \right\}.$$

Whenever the following limit exists the tangent vector to the orbit  $S^1 * u$  at  $u \in X$  is defined by

$$E(u) = \lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{1}{\theta} (\theta * u - u) = \frac{d}{d\theta}_{|\theta=0} (\theta * u).$$

If *X* is infinite-dimensional, then E(u) might not exist for all  $u \in X$ , cf. *X* being the Sobolev space  $H^1$  in Section 2.2.1, but in the finite-dimensional case the classification Theorem 2.1 guarantees that E(u) is well-defined for all  $u \in X$ . Moreover, the definition shows that in that case the vector field  $E : X \to X$  is linear and  $S^1$ -equivariant, i.e.  $E(\theta * u) = \theta * E(u)$  for all  $\theta \in S^1$  and  $u \in X$ .

The degree theories we are looking at have values in  $\bigoplus_{i=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$ . For  $\alpha, \beta \in \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$  we define a multiplication by

$$\alpha \star \beta = (\alpha_0 \beta_0, \alpha_0 \beta_1 + \beta_0 \alpha_1, \alpha_0 \beta_2 + \beta_0 \alpha_2, \alpha_0 \beta_3 + \beta_0 \alpha_3, \ldots)$$
$$= \alpha_0 \cdot \beta + \beta_0 \cdot \alpha - (\alpha_0 \beta_0, 0, 0, \ldots).$$

#### 2.1.2 Degree setting

Now let X be infinite-dimensional, but admitting a Hilbert space decomposition

$$X = \operatorname{clos}\left(\bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0} E_k\right), \quad E_j \perp E_k \text{ for } j \neq k.$$

consisting of finite-dimensional subspaces. For  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  we set  $X_n := \bigoplus_{k=0}^n E_k$  and write  $P_n : X \to X_n$  for the orthogonal projection, so that  $P_n u \to u$  as  $n \to \infty$  for every  $u \in X$ . We consider  $S^1$ -equivariant maps

$$L-\Psi:\Lambda\to X$$

defined on an open and  $S^1$ -invariant subset  $\Lambda \subset X$ , such that the decomposition of X and the maps L and  $\Psi$  satisfy

- (A1)  $E_k$  is a finite-dimensional,  $S^1$ -invariant linear subspace of X, and the isotropy group of  $u \in E_k \setminus \{0\}$  is  $\mathbb{Z}_k$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .
- (A2)  $L \in \mathcal{L}(X)$  is a bounded, self-adjoint, equivariant operator with Kern $(L) = E_0$  and  $L(E_k) = E_k$  for  $k \neq 0$ .
- (A3) The map  $L + P_0$  defines an isomorphism  $X \to Y$  onto a Banach space Y that embeds continuously into X.

- (A4)  $\Psi : \Lambda \to X$  is the gradient of an  $S^1$ -invariant  $C^1$ -function  $\Re : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$ .
- (A5) The image of  $\Psi$  is contained in *Y* and for any bounded, invariant set O with  $\overline{O} \subset \Lambda$  the restriction  $\Psi : \overline{O} \to Y$  is a compact map.

Note that in (A1) there is no restriction on the isotropy groups of the elements in  $E_0$ , but  $X^{S^1} \subset E_0$ . The condition says that  $E_k$  is the isotypical component of  $E_0^{\perp}$  corresponding to the representation ( $\mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $\rho^k$ ).

Given *X* together with a decomposition into subspaces  $E_k$  satisfying condition (A1), we write  $f \in C^0_{\nabla}(O)$ , if  $f = L - \Psi : \Lambda \to X$  satisfies (A2)–(A5), *O* is an open, bounded, invariant set with closure contained in  $\Lambda$  and  $f(\partial O) \subset X \setminus \{0\}$ .

**Theorem 2.2.** For  $f \in C^0_{\nabla}(O)$  there exists a degree

$$S^{1}\operatorname{-deg}^{\nabla}(f,O) = \left(\mathrm{d}_{k}^{\nabla}(f,O)\right)_{k \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \in \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$$

with the following properties:

- (D1) (Existence) If  $d_k^{\nabla}(f, O) \neq 0$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , then there exists  $u \in O^K$  with f(u) = 0 where  $K = S^1$  if k = 0, resp.  $K = \mathbb{Z}_k$  if  $k \ge 1$ .
- (D2) (Excision and additivity) If  $f^{-1}(0) \cap O \subset O_1 \cup O_2$  for two disjoint open  $S^1$ -invariant subsets  $O_1, O_2 \subset O$  then

$$S^{1}\operatorname{-deg}^{\nabla}(f, O) = S^{1}\operatorname{-deg}^{\nabla}(f, O_{1}) + S^{1}\operatorname{-deg}^{\nabla}(f, O_{2}).$$

- (D3) (Homotopy) Let  $\mathcal{U} \subset [0, 1] \times X$  be open and bounded, and let  $h : (\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \partial \mathcal{U}) \to (X, X \setminus \{0\})$ be continuous. If  $h_t = h(t, \cdot) : \mathcal{U}_t = \{ u \in X : (t, u) \in \mathcal{U} \} \to X, t \in [0, 1]$  lies in  $C^0_{\nabla}(\mathcal{U}_t)$ for each  $t \in [0, 1]$ , then  $S^1$ -deg<sup> $\nabla$ </sup>( $h_t, \mathcal{U}_t$ ) is independent of  $t \in [0, 1]$ .
- (D4) (Multiplicativity) If  $f_i : (\overline{O_i}, \partial O_i) \to (X_i, X_i \setminus \{0\}), i = 1, 2, are in C^0_{\nabla}(O_i)$ , then so is  $f_1 \times f_2 \in C^0_{\nabla}(O_1 \times O_2)$  and

$$S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(f_{1}\times f_{2}, O_{1}\times O_{2}) = S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(f_{1}, O_{1}) \star S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(f_{2}, O_{2}).$$

The proof will be delayed until section 2.4.

#### 2.1.3 Global continuation

Having a degree theory with the typical properties at hand one can prove the existence of connected sets of solutions for parameter dependent equations, see for example the classic continuation theorems by Leray and Schauder [52] or Rabinowitz [66]. We will formulate now a version that will suit the continuation of periodic solutions in our application. Consider a family of equations of the form

$$Lu - \Psi(r, u) = 0, \quad (r, u) \in \mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times X.$$
(2.1)

Here  $S^1$  acts trivially on  $\mathbb{R}$  and X, L satisfy (A1)–(A3). Concerning the nonlinear map  $\Psi$  we replace (A4),(A5) by corresponding parameter dependent assumptions:

(A6)  $\Psi : \mathcal{D} \to X$  is defined on an open and invariant subset  $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times X$ , it is continuous, equivariant, and  $\Psi(r, \cdot)$  is the gradient of  $\Re(r, \cdot)$ , where  $\Re : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{R}$  is  $S^1$ -invariant, continuous and differentiable with respect to the *u* component. (A7) The image of  $\Psi$  is contained in *Y*. If  $B \subset \mathbb{R} \times X$  is bounded, closed, and  $B \subset \mathcal{D}$ , then the set  $\Psi(B)$  is relatively compact in *Y*.

The set of solutions of (2.1) will be denoted by  $S = \{(r, u) \in \mathcal{D} : Lu - \Psi(r, u) = 0\}$ . Observe that if  $B \subset \mathbb{R} \times X$  is  $S^1$ -invariant, closed, bounded and satisfies  $B \subset \mathcal{D}$  then  $S \cap B$  is compact. This follows easily from (A7). For  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times X$  and  $r \in \mathbb{R}^+$  we use the notation  $M_r = \{u \in X : (r, u) \in M\}$ .

**Theorem 2.3.** Suppose (A1)-(A3), (A6), (A7) hold, and suppose there exist  $r_0 > 0$  and a relatively open,  $S^1$ -invariant subset  $\mathcal{U} \subset (0, r_0] \times X$  such that:

- (i) For every  $r \in (0, r_0]$ :  $\mathcal{U}_r \neq \emptyset$ , bounded,  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_r \subset \mathcal{D}_r$ .
- (ii)  $S \cap \partial \mathcal{U} = \emptyset$  where  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  is the relative boundary of  $\mathcal{U}$  in  $(0, r_0] \times X$ .

If  $S^1$ -deg $^{\nabla}(L - \Psi(r_0, \cdot), \mathcal{U}_{r_0}) \neq 0$  then there exists a connected component  $C \subset S$  with the following properties:

- a)  $(C \cap \mathcal{U})_r \neq \emptyset$  for every  $r \in (0, r_0]$ ,
- b)  $C \setminus \mathcal{U}$  is not contained in a compact subset of  $\mathcal{D}$ .

Of course, if needed, we can here replace the interval  $(0, r_0]$  by an interval  $(r_1, r_0]$  with  $0 < r_1 < r_0$ .

#### 2.1.4 Nontrivial degree for nondegenerate solutions

Theorem 2.3 clearly relies on a nontrivial degree  $S^1$ -deg<sup> $\nabla$ </sup>( $L - \Psi(r_0, \cdot), \mathcal{U}_{r_0}$ ) for some parameter value  $r_0$ . As for the classical Brouwer degree we will obtain in 2.6 a formula for the degree in the nondegenerate case. Admittedly this formula will be not very handy for the actual computation, but it allows us to conclude  $S^1$ -deg<sup> $\nabla$ </sup>( $L - \Psi(r_0, \cdot), \mathcal{U}_{r_0}$ )  $\neq 0$ .

So consider again a map  $L - \Psi : \Lambda \rightarrow X$  satisfying (A1)–(A5) and additionally the following two assumptions:

- (A8)  $\Psi : \Lambda \to Y$  is  $C^1$ .
- (A9) For any  $u \in Y$  the tangent vector  $E(u) \in X$  is defined and  $E : Y \to X$  is a bounded linear operator.

Assumption (A8) implies  $\Re$  is  $C^2$  with  $\langle D\Psi(u)v, w \rangle = D^2 \Re(u)[v, w] = \langle v, D\Psi(u)w \rangle$ . The notion of a nondegenerate solution  $u_0 \in \Lambda$  of  $L - \Psi = 0$  has to be adapted to the equivariant setting, since every element of the orbit  $S^1 * u_0$  is a solution as well.

**Definition 2.4.** A solution  $u_0 \in \Lambda$  of  $Lu - \Psi(u) = 0$  is called nondegenerate provided  $u_0 \in Y$  and  $\text{Kern}(L - D\Psi(u_0)) = \mathbb{R}E(u_0)$ , *i.e.* the kernel of the derivative at  $u_0$  is as small as possible.

**Theorem 2.5.** Let  $u_0 \in \Lambda$  be a nondegenerate solution of  $L - \Psi = 0$  with  $I_{u_0} = \mathbb{Z}_k$ . Then there exists an invariant neighborhood O of  $S^1 * u_0$  such that  $(L - \Psi)^{-1}(0) \cap \overline{O} = S^1 * u_0$  and

$$\mathbf{d}_k^{\mathsf{V}}(L-\Psi, O) \in \{\pm 1\}.$$

Similar if  $I_{u_0} = S^1$ , then  $d_0^{\nabla}(L - \Psi, O) \in \{\pm 1\}$ .

The detailed formula can be found in Theorem 2.24.

# 2.2 Application to Hamiltonian systems

Here we will check that first order Hamiltonian systems give rise to the setting presented in section 2.1 via the associated action functional. In order to not get lost in all the details we have moved parts of the elaboration that are considered to be well known into appendix A.

#### 2.2.1 The basic degree setting

Let  $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$  be equipped with a symplectic form  $\omega : \mathbb{R}^{2N} \times \mathbb{R}^{2N} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  open and  $H : U \to \mathbb{R}$  be a  $C^2$  Hamilton function. Imagine that we are interested in a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution of the Hamiltonian system

$$\dot{z} = X_H(z). \tag{2.2}$$

Here  $X_H$  is the associated Hamiltonian vector field, i.e.  $\omega(X_H(z), \cdot) = DH(z)$ . By Lemma A.1 there exists a skew-symmetric, regular matrix A that allows us to rewrite (2.2) in the equivalent way:

$$A\dot{z} = \nabla H(z).$$

For example we have for the *N*-vortex system (1.5)  $H = H_{\Omega}$ ,  $U = \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega)$ ,  $A = -J_N M_{\Gamma}$  and  $\omega(v, w) = \langle v, M_{\Gamma} J_N w \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}}$ .

Next we turn to the functional setting. A square-integrable function  $u : \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  can be written (with respect to  $L^2$ -norm) in terms of its Fourier series

$$u(t) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-J_N k t} \alpha_k, \quad \alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}.$$

We abbreviate  $B_k(t) = e^{-J_N kt} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N \times 2N}$  and define for  $s \in [0, \infty)$  the Sobolev spaces

$$H^{s} = \left\{ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} B_{k} \alpha_{k} \in L^{2} : \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |k|^{2s} |\alpha_{k}|^{2} < \infty \right\}.$$

In particular we need  $X = H^1$ , which is equipped with the usual scalar product

$$\langle u, v \rangle_X = \int_0^{2\pi} \langle u, v \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} + \langle \dot{u}, \dot{v} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt = 2\pi \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (1+k^2) \langle \alpha_k, \beta_k \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}}$$

for  $u = \sum B_k \alpha_k$ ,  $v = \sum B_k \beta_k$ . The group  $S^1$  acts on X via time shifts, i.e.

$$\theta * u = u(\cdot + \theta) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} B_k B_k(\theta) \alpha_k, \quad \theta \in S^1, \ u = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} B_k \alpha_k.$$

For  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  let

$$E_k = \left\{ B_k \alpha_k + B_{-k} \alpha_{-k} : \alpha_k, \alpha_{-k} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N} \right\}.$$

Then  $E_j \perp E_k$  for  $j \neq k$  and  $X = \operatorname{clos}\left(\bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0} E_k\right)$ . Moreover, each  $E_k$  is a finite-dimensional,  $S^1$ -invariant subspace with elements having isotropy group  $\mathbb{Z}_k$  for  $k \ge 1$  as desired by (A1). Furthermore, we need

$$X_n = \bigoplus_{k=0}^n E_k = \left\{ \sum_{|k| \le n} B_k \alpha_k : \alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}^{2N} \right\}$$

and the orthogonal projections  $P_n : X \to X_n$ .

The linear map  $L : X \to X$  is defined by  $Lu = (id - \Delta)^{-1}A\dot{u}$ , where  $(id - \Delta) : H^{s+2} \to H^s$  is the isomorphism

$$u = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} B_k \alpha_k \mapsto u - \ddot{u} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (1 + k^2) B_k \alpha_k,$$

such that for  $u \in H^1 = X$ ,  $v \in H^0 = L^2$  the relation

$$\langle u, (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} v \rangle_X = \int_0^{2\pi} \langle u, v \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt = \langle u, v \rangle_{L^2}$$

holds true. Then clearly *L* is a bounded,  $S^1$ -equivariant operator with Kern(*L*) =  $E_0$  and  $L(E_k) = E_k$  for  $k \neq 0$ . Moreover, the skew-symmetry of *A* implies

$$\langle Lu, v \rangle_X = \langle A\dot{u}, v \rangle_{L^2} = \langle u, A\dot{v} \rangle_{L^2} = \langle u, Lv \rangle_X,$$

so *L* is self-adjoint and thus assumption (A2) holds.

For (A3) observe that  $L + P_0$  is an isomorphism between X and the Banach space  $Y = H^2$ , which is equipped with the usual  $H^2$ -norm, and clearly  $H^2 \hookrightarrow H^1$  in a continuous way.

So we can turn to the nonlinear part. Since  $H^1$  contrary to  $H^{1/2}$  embeds into the space of continuous  $2\pi$ -periodic functions, the set  $\Lambda = \{ u \in X : u(t) \in U \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{R} \}$  defines an open subset of *X*. Let  $\Re : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\Re(u) = \int_0^{2\pi} H(u(t)) \, dt.$$

Then  $H \in C^2(U, \mathbb{R})$  implies that  $\mathfrak{R}$  is of class  $C^2$  as well. Additionally both  $\Lambda$  and  $\mathfrak{R}$  are invariant with respect to the  $S^1$ -action on X. So the gradient  $\Psi : \Lambda \to X$ ,

$$\Psi(u) = \nabla \Re(u) = (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} \nabla H(u)$$

is  $S^1$ -equivariant and satisfies (A4).

In order to see that (A5) is valid observe that  $\Psi$  splits

$$X \supset \Lambda \xrightarrow{\nabla H} X = H^1 \xrightarrow{(\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1}} H^3 \hookrightarrow H^2 = Y.$$

where  $\nabla H : \Lambda \to X$  maps bounded subsets with closure contained in  $\Lambda$  into bounded subsets, since *H* is  $C^2$ . Therefore the compactness of the embedding  $H^3 \hookrightarrow H^2$  shows that (A5) holds. We'd like to recall that – if needed – more details and references are given in appendix A.

So far we can conclude that the equivariant degree of section 2.1 can be applied to the  $H^1$ -gradient of the action functional  $\Phi : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\Phi(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{2\pi} \langle A\dot{u}, u \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt - \int_0^{2\pi} H(u) dt = \frac{1}{2} \langle Lu, u \rangle_X - \Re(u).$$

#### 2.2.2 Nondegenerate solutions and nontrivial degree

Critical points of  $\Phi$ , i.e. solutions of  $\nabla \Phi = L - \Psi = 0$ , are  $2\pi$ -periodic solutions of (2.2) in the classical sense. Hence  $Lu_0 - \Psi(u_0) = 0$  automatically implies  $u_0 \in Y$ . In order to be able to obtain by Theorem 2.5 a nontrivial degree for a solution  $u_0$  we need to convince ourselves that (A8) and (A9) are satisfied. Indeed  $\nabla H \in C^1(\Lambda, L^2)$  clearly gives  $\Psi \in C^1(\Lambda, Y)$ as required in (A8) and the tangent vector field  $E: Y \to X$  is just given by  $u \mapsto \dot{u}$ . Thus (A9) holds.

Let now  $u_0 \in Y$  be a solution of  $L - \Psi = 0$ . By Definition 2.4 in the abstract setting,  $u_0$  is called nondegenerate, if  $Lv - D\Psi(u_0)v = 0$  implies  $v \in \mathbb{R}E(u_0)$ . Translated to the Hamiltonian setting this means that  $\dot{u}_0$  is up to scalar multiples the only  $2\pi$ -periodic solution of the linearization of (2.2) along  $u_0(t)$ , i.e. of

$$A\dot{\upsilon} = \nabla^2 H(u_0(t))\upsilon. \tag{2.3}$$

So for Hamiltonian systems we do not have to verify the nondegenerateness condition of Theorem 2.5 by investigating Kern $(L - D\Psi(u_0))$  in the Hilbert space setting, rather we can use equation (2.3) and especially spectral properties of the associated monodromy operator. The monodromy operator is the matrix  $M(2\pi)$ , where  $M : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N \times 2N}$  solves

$$\begin{cases} A\dot{M} = \nabla^2 H(u_0(t))M \\ M(0) = \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} . \end{cases}$$

Its eigenvalues are called Floquet multipliers of the solution  $u_0$ . Of course 1 is always a multiplier, but note also that, since we are dealing with Hamiltonian systems, the algebraic multiplicity of 1 is at least 2, see for example [61].

By Theorem 2.5 and our discussion we can summarize:

**Proposition 2.6.** Whenever  $u_0$  is a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution of (2.2), such that the Floquet multiplier 1 has geometric multiplicity one, then the associated local degree  $S^1$ -deg $^{\nabla}(L - \Psi, B_{\varepsilon}(u_0))$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$  sufficiently small is nontrivial.

The considerations above of course remain valid, if the period  $2\pi$  is replaced by T > 0 and spaces and maps are adapted to this period.

### 2.2.3 Continuation of periodic solutions

Consider now on  $(\mathbb{R}^{2N}, \omega)$  a family of Hamiltonian systems

$$\dot{z} = X_{H_r}(z),\tag{2.4}$$

where  $H : D \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(r, z) \mapsto H_r(z)$  is defined on an open subset D of  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ , twice differentiable with respect to z and H itself is continuous as well as the derivatives  $D_z H$ ,  $D_z^2 H$  are. We will obtain such families by a suitable rescaling of the N-vortex Hamiltonian  $H_{\Omega}$ . Suppose we know that (2.4) has a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution  $u_{r^*}$  for some parameter value  $r^*$ . It is then natural to ask if there are periodic solutions for other parameter values  $r \neq r^*$ emanating from  $u_{r^*}$ ?

This question can be answered be means of the global continuation theorem 2.3. Let X, Y and L be defined as before and set

$$\mathcal{D} = \left\{ (r, u) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times X : (r, u(t)) \in D \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$

Then one can see as in the discussion before that  $\Psi : \mathcal{D} \to X$  defined as the gradient  $\nabla_u \Re$  of  $\Re : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\Re(r,u) = \int_0^{2\pi} H_r(u) \, dt$$

satisfies (A6) and (A7). So the equations  $L - \Psi(r, \cdot) = 0$  are accessible for Theorem 2.3.

Before we investigate the global aspect we first prove a local continuation Theorem.

**Theorem 2.7.** Let H, D and D be as just described and suppose that  $u_{r^*}$  is a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution of (2.4) with  $r = r^*$ , such that the Floquet multiplier 1 has geometric multiplicity one. Then there exists a continuous map  $I \ni r \mapsto u^{(r)} \in X$  with  $I \subset \mathbb{R}^+$  being an interval around  $r^*$ ,  $u^{(r^*)} = u_{r^*}, \langle u^{(r)}, \dot{u}_{r^*} \rangle_X = 0, \dot{u}^{(r)} = X_{H_r} (u^{(r)})$  and the Floquet multiplier 1 of  $u^{(r)}$  has geometric

multiplicity one. Moreover, if  $(r, z) \mapsto DH_r(z)$  is of class  $C^1$ , then the maps  $I \ni r \mapsto u^{(r)} \in X$ and  $I \times \mathbb{R} \ni (r, t) \mapsto u^{(r)}(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  are  $C^1$  as well. Also the second order derivatives  $\partial_r \partial_t u^{(r)}(t)$ ,  $\partial_t \partial_r u^{(r)}(t)$  exist, are equal and continuous.

*Proof.* Clearly *u* is a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution of (2.4), if and only if (r, u) is a zero of the map  $L - \Psi : \mathcal{D} \to X$ , i.e. iff  $Lu - \Psi(r, u) = (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} (A\dot{u} - \nabla H_r(u)) = 0$ . Recall also that  $u_{r^*}$  is contained in *Y* as a solution of (2.4).

By our assumption we now that Kern  $(L - D_u \Psi(r^*, u_{r^*})) = \mathbb{R}\dot{u}_{r^*}$ . Hence if we consider  $f : \{ (r, u) \in \mathcal{D} : \langle u, \dot{u}_{r^*} \rangle_X = 0 \} \rightarrow \{ u \in Y : \langle u, \dot{u}_{r^*} \rangle_X = 0 \},$ 

$$f(r, u) = Lu - \Psi(r, u) - \frac{\langle Lu - \Psi(r, u), \dot{u}_{r^*} \rangle_X}{\|\dot{u}_{r^*}\|_{L^2}^2} (\operatorname{id} - \Delta)^{-1} \dot{u}_{r^*},$$

where the domain is equipped with  $\|\cdot\|_X$  and the range with  $\|\cdot\|_Y$ , then  $u_{r^*}$  is indeed orthogonal to  $\dot{u}_{r^*}$ ,  $f(r^*, u_{r^*}) = 0$  and Kern  $D_u f(r^*, u_{r^*}) = \{0\}$ . The latter uses that  $L - D_u \Psi(r^*, u_{r^*})$ is as a second derivative selfadjoint and therefore  $D_u f(r^*, u_{r^*})[v] = Lv - D_u \Psi(r^*, u_{r^*})[v]$ . But  $D_u f(r^*, u_{r^*})$  is also onto, since by (A5)  $L - D_u \Psi(r^*, u_{r^*}) : X \to Y$  is an index 0 Fredholm operator. Thus the derivative  $D_u f(r^*, u_{r^*})$  is an isomorphism.

The implicit function theorem implies the existence of a continuous local family  $(u^{(r)})_{r \in I}$ contained in the *X*-orthogonal complement of  $\dot{u}_{r^*}$  satisfying  $u^{(r^*)} = u_{r^*}$  and the equation  $Lu^{(r)} = \Psi(r, u^{(r)}) + \lambda_r (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} \dot{u}_{r^*} \in H^3$  for some  $\lambda_r \in \mathbb{R}$ . Hence  $u^{(r)} \in Y$ .

By shrinking *I* if necessary we can assume that  $\langle \dot{u}_{r^*}, \dot{u}^{(r)} \rangle_{L^2} \neq 0$  for  $r \in I$ . The invariance of the action functional under time translations then implies

$$0 = \frac{\left\langle Lu^{(r)} - \Psi\left(r, u^{(r)}\right), \dot{u}^{(r)}\right\rangle_X}{\left\langle \dot{u}_{r^*}, \dot{u}^{(r)}\right\rangle_{L^2}} = \lambda_r$$

and therefore  $Lu^{(r)} - \Psi(r, u^{(r)}) = 0$  as desired.

By continuity we have Kern  $D_u f(r, u^{(r)}) = \{0\}$  for r close to  $r^*$ . So if we suppose that w is linear independent to  $\dot{u}^{(r)}$  and satisfies  $Lw - D_u \Psi(r, u^{(r)}) w = 0$ , then a suitable linear combination  $w^{\perp} = \alpha w + \beta \dot{u}^{(r)}$  is orthogonal to  $\dot{u}_{r^*}$  and satisfies  $D_u f(r, u^{(r)}) w^{\perp} = 0$ . It follows  $w^{\perp} = 0$ , which contradicts the linear independence of w and  $\dot{u}^{(r)}$ . Therefore Kern  $(L - D_u \Psi(r, u^{(r)})) = \mathbb{R} \dot{u}^{(r)}$ , which is equivalent to saying that 1 is a geometrically simple Floquet multiplier of  $u^{(r)}$ .

The regularity of the map  $I \times \mathbb{R} \ni (r, t) \mapsto u^{(r)}(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  follows from the regularity of  $I \ni r \mapsto u^{(r)} \in X$ , which implies the same regularity for  $I \ni r \mapsto u^{(r)}(0) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ , and the smooth parameter dependence of the flow associated to (2.4), see Thm. 9.2 of [3].

In general the question of continuation of a periodic solution arises also for a fixed, parameter independent Hamiltonian system as in (2.2) and of course also for arbitrary ODEs. In the Hamiltonian setting we can apply Theorem 2.7 to give an answer to this question. Indeed if  $H \in C^2(U, \mathbb{R})$  is a fixed Hamiltonian, we introduce the period as a parameter via  $\hat{H} : \mathbb{R}^+ \times U \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\hat{H}(r, z) = rH(z)$ . Clearly  $\hat{H}$  is  $C^2$  and if u is a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution of the system  $\dot{u} = X_{\hat{H}_r}(u)$ , then  $u(\cdot/r)$  is a  $2\pi r$ -periodic solution of the original equation (2.2). This relation also holds in the other direction. So Theorem 2.7 applies if  $z^*(t) = u_0(t/r_0)$  is a  $2\pi r_0$ -periodic solution of (2.2) with geometrically simple Floquet multiplier 1.

Of course local continuation results for parameter dependent and independent systems can be found in the literature. With the flow  $\varphi(t, z)$  of the fixed system  $\dot{z} = X_H(z)$ , such a Theorem for example reads:

**Theorem 2.8** (Prop. 9.1.1 of [61] or Thm. 2.4 of [63]). Let  $u_0(t) = \varphi(t, z_0)$  be a  $T_0$ -periodic solution of (2.2), such that the Floquet multiplier 1 has algebraic multiplicity 2. Then there

exist  $C^1$  maps  $T : (-\varepsilon_0, \varepsilon_0) \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $z : (-\varepsilon_0, \varepsilon_0) \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  with  $T(0) = T_0$  and  $z(0) = z_0$ , such that  $u_{\varepsilon}(t) = \varphi(t, z(\varepsilon))$  is a  $T(\varepsilon)$ -periodic solution of (2.2) contained in the same energy surface as  $u_0$ .

Recall that  $\varphi$  is  $C^1$ , since H is  $C^2$ . The proof relies on the application of the implicit function theorem to a symplectic Poincaré section associated to  $u_0$ , see section 2.1 of [63] for a sophisticated discussion of these type of continuation theorems. The advantage of the access via a Poincaré section is that it not only applies to Hamiltonian systems, but also to ODEs, and that if first integrals like the Hamiltonian exist, the continuation happens to be in the same level sets of the integrals.

On the other hand in the more abstract point of view we have additionally the degree theory with Theorem 2.3 at hand allowing us to obtain even global continua of periodic solutions. Recall that  $\Lambda = \{ u \in X : u(t) \in U \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{R} \}.$ 

**Corollary 2.9.** Let  $0 \le r_1 < r_2$  and  $(r_1, r_2) \ni r \mapsto u^{(r)} \in \Lambda$  be  $C^1$  and such that every  $u^{(r)}(\cdot/r)$  is a  $2\pi r$ -periodic solution of (2.2) with Floquet multiplier 1 having geometric multiplicity 1. Define  $C_l = \{(r, \theta * u^{(r)}) : r \in (r_1, r_2), \theta \in S^1\}$ . Then there exists an equivariant, connected set  $C \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Lambda$  with

- (i)  $C_l \subset C$ ,
- (ii)  $(r, u) \in C \Rightarrow u(\cdot/r)$  is a  $2\pi r$ -periodic solution of (2.2),
- (iii)  $C_g = (C \setminus C_l) \cap ((r_1, \infty) \times X)$  satisfies at least one of the following properties:
  - a)  $C_q$  is unbounded,
  - b) dist( $C_q, \partial \Lambda$ ) = 0,
  - c)  $\inf \{r: (r, u) \in C_g\} = r_1.$

*Proof.* Let  $f : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Lambda \to X$ ,  $f(r, u) = Lu - r\Psi(u)$  with L,  $\Psi$  as in section 2.2.1 and  $S = f^{-1}(0)$ . We know that  $C_l \subset S$ . Let  $C \subset S$  denote the connected component of  $C_l$ . Then (i) and (ii) are trivially satisfied. Define  $C_g = (C \setminus C_l) \cap ((r_1, \infty) \times X)$  and assume that the three options a), b) and c) of (iii) are wrong. Thus we can choose  $r_1 < r_0 < \inf \{r : (r, u) \in C_g\}$ . The implicit function theorem, cf. proof of Theorem 2.7, provides  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\delta > 0$  such that the closure of  $\mathcal{U} = (r_0 - \delta, r_0] \times (S^1 * B_{\varepsilon}(u^{(r_0)}))$  is contained in  $(r_1, \infty) \times \Lambda$  and

$$f^{-1}(0) \cap \overline{\mathcal{U}} = \left\{ \theta * u^{(r)} : r \in [r_0 - \delta, r_0], \ \theta \in S^1 \right\}.$$

By Proposition 2.6 we also have  $S^1$ -deg $^{\nabla}(L - r_0 \Psi, \mathcal{U}_{r_0}) \neq 0$ . Thus  $C_g$  is not contained in a compact subset of  $\mathcal{D} = (r_0 - \delta, \infty) \times \Lambda$  by Theorem 2.3. But since (A5) is satisfied by  $\Psi$  this contradicts our assumption that a), b) and c) are wrong.

Typically this Corollary will be applied to a local family of periodic solutions having arbitrarily small periods, i.e.  $r_1 = 0$ .

**Remark 2.10.** In the situation of Corollary 2.9 let  $\mathcal{E}_g = \{ u(\cdot/r) : (r, u) \in C_g \}$  denote the set of the actual solutions of (2.2). The options a - c) say that at least one of the following properties is true:

a) The periods of the solutions are unbounded,  $\sup \{ \text{period of } z : z \in \mathcal{E}_g \} = \infty$ , for example the solutions might merge into a heteroclinic orbit or a stationary solution, which is nothing but a periodic solution having any period. Another option here is that the solutions are unbounded in space, i.e.  $\sup \{ |z(t)| : z \in \mathcal{E}_g, t \in \mathbb{R} \} = \infty$ , or in terms of their velocity,  $\sup \{ |\dot{z}(t)| : z \in \mathcal{E}, t \in \mathbb{R} \} = \infty$ .

- b) The solutions approach the boundary  $\partial U$  of the domain of the Hamiltonian H, that is  $\inf \left\{ \operatorname{dist}(z(\mathbb{R}), \partial U) : z \in \mathcal{E}_q \right\} = 0.$
- c) For every  $r \in (r_1, r_2)$  there exists a  $2\pi r$ -periodic solution  $z \in \mathcal{E}_g$  of (2.2). Together with the solutions induced by the local graph  $\mathcal{E}_l = \{ u(\cdot/r) : (r, u) \in C_g \}$  we then have at least two distinct periodic orbits for every period in  $(2\pi r_1, 2\pi r_2)$ .

An illustration of a part of such a global set of solutions can be seen in Figures 5.2, 5.3.

**Definition 2.11.** We say that a family of periodic solutions  $(z^{(s)})_{s \in (s_1, s_2)}$  of (2.2) having periods  $(T(s))_{s \in (s_1, s_2)}$  gives rise to a global continuum of periodic solutions, if there exists a connected set  $C \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Lambda$  as in Corollary 2.9 containing the set

$$C_l = \left\{ \left( \frac{T(s)}{2\pi}, \theta * z^{(s)} \left( \frac{T(s)}{2\pi} \right) \right) : s \in (s_1, s_2), \ \theta \in S^1 \right\} \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Lambda.$$

Note that by the combination of Theorem 2.7 and Corollary 2.9 already a single periodic solution with geometrically simple Floquet multiplier 1 gives rise to a global continuum.

#### 2.2.4 Choreographic setting

Here we will discuss the application of our degree to periodic solutions with a special symmetry – so called choreographic solutions. Of course this requires a certain symmetry of the Hamiltonian  $H: D \subset \mathbb{R}^{2N} \to \mathbb{R}$  and the symplectic form. Let N = dl with  $d, l \ge 1$  and consider  $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$  as the product  $\mathbb{R}^{2N} = (\mathbb{R}^{2d})^l$ . For the *N*-vortex case we have d = 1, l = N. As another example  $d = 3, l \in \mathbb{N}$  can be used for the classical *l*-body problem of celestial mechanics.

The permutation group  $\Sigma_l$  of l symbols acts orthogonally on  $(\mathbb{R}^{2d})^l$  via

$$\sigma * z = \left( z_{\sigma^{-1}(1)}, \dots, z_{\sigma^{-1}(l)} \right), \quad z = (z_1, \dots, z_l) \in (\mathbb{R}^{2d})^l, \ \sigma \in \Sigma_l.$$

We assume that *H* and the skew-symmetric matrix *A* associated to  $\omega$  are equivariant with respect to a certain permutation  $\sigma_0 \in \Sigma_l$ , i.e. we assume  $\sigma_0 * D \subset D$ ,  $H(\sigma_0 * z) = H(z)$  and  $A(\sigma_0 * z) = \sigma_0 * (Az)$  for any  $z \in D$ .

**Definition 2.12.** A *T*-periodic solution  $z(t) \in D$  of  $A\dot{z} = \nabla H(z)$  is called  $\sigma_0$ -choreographic or just choreographic, if there exists  $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\sigma_0 * z(t+\theta_0) = z(t)$  for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Moreover, z(t) is called  $\sigma_0$ -nondegenerate provided  $\mathbb{R}\dot{z}$  are the only *T*-periodic,  $\sigma_0$ -choreographic solutions of the linearization  $A\dot{v} = \nabla^2 H(z)v$ .

If  $\operatorname{ord}(\sigma_0)$  denotes the order of the permutation of  $\sigma_0$ , then  $\operatorname{ord}(\sigma_0)\theta_0$  is necessarily a multiple of the minimal period of *z*. Note also that the notion of  $\sigma_0$ -nondegenerateness of a solution will be adapted, if additional symmetries are present, see Definition 3.6 and Example 3.7.

Let us assume that we are again interested in  $2\pi$ -periodic solutions. By our symmetry assumption the action functional  $\Phi : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\Phi(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{2\pi} \langle A\dot{u}, u \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt - \int_0^{2\pi} H(u) dt$$

is invariant under the action of  $\sigma_0$  induced on  $X = H^1$ , i.e.  $(\sigma_0 * u)(t) := \sigma_0 * (u(t)), \sigma_0 * \Lambda \subset \Lambda$ and  $\Phi(\sigma_0 * u) = \Phi(u)$  for any  $u \in \Lambda$ . Combining this with the invariance with respect to time translations, we get  $\Phi((\sigma_0 * u)(\cdot + \theta_0)) = \Phi(u)$  for any  $u \in \Lambda$ . Differentiation therefore implies the equivariance

$$(\sigma_0 * \nabla \Phi(u))(\cdot + \theta_0) = \nabla \Phi((\sigma_0 * u)(\cdot + \theta_0)).$$

Hence, if we define

$$X_{\text{chor}} = \left\{ u \in H^1 : (\sigma_0 * u)(\cdot + \theta_0) = u \right\}, \quad \Lambda_{\text{chor}} = \Lambda \cap X_{\text{chor}},$$

then  $\nabla \Phi(\Lambda_{chor}) \subset X_{chor}$ . This shows that every critical point of the restriction  $\Phi_{|\Lambda_{chor}}$  is also a critical point of  $\Phi$  and therefore a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution of  $A\dot{z} = \nabla H(z)$  which in addition is  $\sigma_0$ -choreographic.

The requirements of the abstract degree setting are induced in a canonical way: The space  $X_{chor}$  is a complete subspace of X, decomposition into finite-dimensional subspaces is given by  $E_k^{chor} = E_k \cap X_{chor}$  and instead of  $Y = H^2$  we of course have to take the space  $Y_{chor} := \{ u \in H^2 : (\sigma_0 * u)(\cdot + \theta_0) = u \}$ . By the equivariance of A,  $L_{chor} := L_{|X_{chor}|}$  maps  $X_{chor}$  into  $Y_{chor}$ . So the gradient  $\nabla \Phi^{chor}$  of the restriction  $\Phi^{chor} = \Phi_{|\Lambda_{chor}|}$  satisfies conditions (A1)–(A5) and (A8),(A9).

In analogy to Proposition 2.6 we have

**Proposition 2.13.** Whenever  $u_0$  is a  $2\pi$ -periodic,  $\sigma_0$ -nondegenerate solution of  $A\dot{z} = \nabla H(z)$ , then the associated local degree  $S^1$ -deg $^{\nabla}(\nabla \Phi^{\text{chor}}, B_{\varepsilon}(u_0)), \varepsilon > 0$  sufficiently small is nontrivial.

Moreover, conditions (A6) and (A7) for the global continuation remain true if we consider a continuous family  $H : D \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{2N} \to \mathbb{R}$  of Hamiltonians with the same regularity assumptions as in 2.2.3 and additionally  $H_r(\sigma_0 * z) = H_r(z)$  for any  $(r, z) \in D$ .

**Remark 2.14.** The local and global continuation theorems 2.7, 2.9 and Definition 2.11 have to be adapted to the choreographic context in the following way:

•  $A 2\pi$ -periodic,  $\sigma_0$ -nondegenerate solution of  $A\dot{z} = \nabla H_{r^*}(z)$  gives rise to a continuous local family  $I \ni r \mapsto u^{(r)} \in X_{\text{chor}}$  consisting of  $\sigma_0$ -nondegenerate solutions of  $A\dot{z} = \nabla H_r(z)$  and satisfying the remaining properties of Theorem 2.7.

Now we consider a fixed Hamiltonian system  $A\dot{z} = \nabla H(z)$ :

- Let  $(r_1, r_2) \ni r \mapsto u^{(r)} \in \Lambda_{chor}$  be  $C^1$  and such that every  $u^{(r)}(\cdot/r)$  is a  $2\pi r$ -periodic,  $\sigma_0$ nondegenerate solution. Then there exists an equivariant, connected set  $C \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Lambda_{chor}$ of solutions satisfying the properties of Corollary 2.9.
- A family  $(z^{(r)})_{r \in (r_1, r_2)}$  of choreographic solutions is said to give rise to a global continuum of choreographic solutions, if there exists a connected set  $C \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Lambda_{chor}$  satisfying the properties of Corollary 2.9.

Summarizing we can say that a choreographic solution, which is nondegenerate in the choreographic sense, gives rise to a local graph and a global continuum of periodic solutions sharing the same choreographic pattern.

### 2.3 Equivariant degree theories and their application to ODEs

There exists a vast amount of equivariant degree theories that have been used to study differential equations. In this section we briefly introduce some of them. In particular we provide in 2.3.1, 2.3.2 the degree theories needed for our modification. For a better overview we refer to the books [7, 44].

First of all we would like to demonstrate that the usual Leray-Schauder degree is of limited help in the equivariant setting. Consider  $L - \Psi : \Lambda \rightarrow X$  as in Section 2.1.4, let  $u_0 \in \Lambda$  be a nondegenerate solution of  $L - \Psi = 0$  with  $E(u_0) \neq 0$  and suppose that  $U \subset \Lambda$ is a bounded, open and  $S^1$ -invariant neighborhood of  $u_0$ , such that  $\partial U$  contains no solution of  $L - \Psi = 0$  and such that the fixed point set  $U^{S^1}$  is empty. By assumption (A5) the map  $\mathrm{id}_X - K := (L + P_0)^{-1} \circ (L - \Psi) : \Lambda \to X$  is a compact perturbation of identity and thus accessible for the Leray-Schauder degree. But since  $\mathrm{id}_X - K$  is equivariant, Thm. 2 of [14] implies

$$\deg(\mathrm{id}_X - K, U) = \deg(\mathrm{id}_{X^{S^1}} - K^{S^1}, U^{S^1}) = \deg(\mathrm{id}_{X^{S^1}} - K^{S^1}, \emptyset) = 0.$$

where  $K^{S^1} = K_{|X^{S^1}} : \Lambda^{S^1} \to X^{S^1}$ . Thus the Leray-Schauder degree only detects solutions with isotropy group  $S^1$ , i.e. solutions that correspond in the Hamiltonian setting to stationary solutions.

So one has to use a degree theory that takes the  $S^1$ -symmetry into account. Doing this in the case of Hamiltonian systems one possibility is the application of such an equivariant degree after a finite-dimensional reduction – the so called Amann-Zehnder saddle point reduction. This has been done for example by Dancer [27] with the degree theory developed in the same paper or by Rybicki [71] with the degree presented below. But this reduction relies on the boundedness of the second derivative of the Hamiltonian and thus in general can not be done globally. An example with a global finite-dimensional reduction can be found in [37]. In this paper García-Azpeitia and Ize actually study the *N*-vortex problem on the whole plane in a rotating coordinate frame. In particular they prove the existence of global continua of periodic solutions bifurcating from the N + 1-Gon configuration.

In order to avoid finite-dimensional reductions Rybicki develops in [70] a degree for  $S^1$ -equivariant strongly indefinite functionals. This degree applies to the gradient of a  $S^1$ -invariant functional

$$\nabla F: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}, \quad \nabla F(u) = Au + K(u),$$

where  $\mathcal{H}$  is a Hilbert space equipped with a suitable approximation scheme, A a self-adjoint equivariant Fredholm operator and K a compact map. The situation above arises when looking at the action functional of a Hamiltonian system defined on the space  $H^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , i.e. the gradient of  $F : H^{\frac{1}{2}} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$F(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{2\pi} \langle \dot{u}, J_N u \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt - \int_0^{2\pi} H(u) dt$$

with a suitable Hamiltonian  $H \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^{2N}, \mathbb{R})$ . But as already mentioned before in the case of the *N*-vortex Hamiltonian  $H_{\Omega}$ , which is defined on the open subset  $\mathcal{F}_N(\Omega)$  it is not clear how to work on  $H^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , since  $H^{\frac{1}{2}}$  does not embed into the space of continuous functions. While working in the space  $H^1$ , where this problem does not occur, we have seen that the gradient of the action functional  $\Phi$  has the form  $\nabla \Phi = L - \Psi$ . But the linear map *L* is no longer Fredholm, because *L* maps  $H^1$  into  $H^2$ . Hence we can not use the degree from [70].

Neither we can use the infinite-dimensional version of the  $S^1$ -orthogonal degree, cf. Section 2.3.2, which requires  $\nabla \Phi$  to be a compact perturbation of identity. On the other hand if we instead pass to  $(L + P_0)^{-1} \circ (L - \Psi) = \text{id} - K$ , we loose the orthogonality condition stated in (2.5) below.

Also the degree theory introduced by Dylawerski et al., cf. Section 2.3.1, has been applied to periodic solutions of ordinary differential equations, but the notion of an "elementary periodic point" in Thm. 7.3 of [29] is never satisfied in the case of Hamiltonian systems.

The modification of the degree for  $S^1$ -orthogonal maps (Theorem 2.2) allows us to handle the action functional of a first order Hamiltonian system on the space  $H^1$ .

#### 2.3.1 The degree of Dylawerski et al.

Let  $V = (\mathbb{R}^n, \rho)$  be a finite dimensional, orthogonal representation of  $S^1$ , i.e.  $\rho : S^1 \to SO(n)$ is a continuous homomorphism. We usually do not distinguish between V and  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and write as before  $\theta * v$  instead of  $\rho(e^{i\theta})v$ . Add to *V* a trivial representation of  $S^1$ , i.e. we consider  $(\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{R}, \rho \oplus id_{\mathbb{R}})$ , and denote for any closed subgroup  $K \leq S^1$  and any subset  $U \subset V \oplus \mathbb{R}$  the corresponding fixed point set by  $U^K = \{ x \in U : K * x = x \}$ . Note again that  $K \leq S^1$  closed implies  $K = S^1$  or  $K \cong \mathbb{Z}_k$ .

**Theorem 2.15** (Thm. 1.2 of [29]). Let  $\Omega$  run through the family of all open, bounded, invariant subsets of  $V \oplus \mathbb{R}$ ,  $f : \overline{\Omega} \to V$  through  $S^1$ -equivariant, continuous maps with  $f(\partial \Omega) \subset V \setminus \{0\}$ . Then there exists a function

$$S^{1}$$
-deg $(f, \Omega) = (d_{0}(f, \Omega), (d_{k}(f, \Omega))_{k-1}^{\infty}) \in \mathbb{Z}_{2} \times \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}},$ 

called the S<sup>1</sup>-degree, satisfying the following conditions:

- (a) If  $d_k(f, \Omega) \neq 0$  then  $f^{-1}(0) \cap \Omega^K \neq \emptyset$  with  $K = S^1$  if  $k = 0, K = \mathbb{Z}_k$  if k > 0.
- (b) If  $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \subset \Omega$  are open, invariant with  $\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2 = \emptyset$  and  $f^{-1}(0) \subset \Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2$  then  $S^1$ -deg $(f, \Omega) = S^1$ -deg $(f, \Omega_1) + S^1$ -deg $(f, \Omega_2)$ .
- (c) If  $h : ([0,1] \times \overline{\Omega}, [0,1] \times \partial \Omega) \to (V, V \setminus \{0\})$  is a S<sup>1</sup>-equivariant homotopy then  $S^{1}$ -deg $(h_{0}, \Omega) = S^{1}$ -deg $(h_{1}, \Omega)$ .
- (d) Suppose W is another representation of  $S^1$  and let U be an open, bounded, invariant subset of W such that  $0 \in U$ . Define  $F : \overline{U} \times \overline{\Omega} \to W \oplus V$  by F(w, x) = (w, f(x)). Then  $S^1$ -deg $(F, U \times \Omega) = S^1$ -deg $(f, \Omega)$ .

The next theorem tells us how to calculate the  $S^1$ -degree in a special case. Let  $\Omega \subset V \oplus \mathbb{R}$  be as in Theorem 2.15. Suppose  $f : (\overline{\Omega}, \partial \Omega) \to (V, V \setminus \{0\})$  is  $S^1$ -equivariant and continuously differentiable, such that 0 is a regular value with  $f^{-1}(0) = S^1 * x_0$ . Suppose further that the isotropy group K of  $x_0$  is finite, i.e.  $K = \mathbb{Z}_k$  for a  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . As in the infinite-dimensional case let  $E(x_0) = \frac{d}{d\theta}_{|\theta=0}(\theta * x_0)$ , which is a tangent vector to the submanifold  $S^1 * x_0$  at  $x_0$ .

The derivative  $A = Df(x_0) : V \oplus \mathbb{R} \to V$  is *K*-equivariant and splits into

$$A = A^K + A^{\perp} : (V^K \oplus \mathbb{R}) \oplus (V^K)^{\perp} \to V^K \oplus (V^K)^{\perp}.$$

We choose an arbitrary linear functional  $a : V^K \oplus \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfying  $a(E(x_0)) = 1$  and define  $\mathcal{A} : V^K \oplus \mathbb{R} \to V^K \oplus \mathbb{R}, x \mapsto (A^K(x), a(x))$ . The map  $\mathcal{A}$  is an isomorphism, since  $E(x_0) \in \operatorname{Kern} A^K$  and 0 is a regular value of f.

**Theorem 2.16** (Thm. 4.1 of [29]). (i) If det  $A^{\perp} > 0$  then

$$d_j(f,\Omega) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign} \det \mathcal{A} & if j = k \\ 0 & else. \end{cases}$$

(*ii*) If det  $A^{\perp} < 0$  then k is even and

$$d_{j}(f, \Omega) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sgn} \det \mathcal{A} & \text{if } j = k \\ -\operatorname{sgn} \det \mathcal{A} & \text{if } j = k/2 \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

#### 2.3.2 The degree of Rybicki

Let *V* still be a finite dimensional orthogonal  $S^1$ -representation. Rybicki uses in [69] the degree of DGJM to construct a degree theory for  $S^1$ -orthogonal maps. These are continuous equivariant maps  $f : V \to V$  satisfying

$$\langle f(v), E(v) \rangle_V = 0 \tag{2.5}$$

for every  $v \in V$ , where  $E(v) = \frac{d}{d\theta}|_{\theta=0}(\theta * v)$  as before. A subclass of  $S^1$ -orthogonal maps form gradients of  $S^1$ -invariant functionals on V. For the definition of Rybicki's degree assume that  $f : (\overline{\Omega}, \partial\Omega) \to (V, V \setminus \{0\})$  is  $S^1$ -orthogonal and that there exists v > 0 such that  $v = v_0 + v_{\perp} \in (V^{S^1} \oplus (V^{S^1})^{\perp}) \cap \overline{\Omega}, |v_{\perp}| \le v$  implies  $f(v) - v \in V^{S^1}$ . A map satisfying this condition is called  $S^1$ -normal. Now let  $U_v := \{v = v_0 + v_{\perp} \in \Omega : |v_{\perp}| > v\} \times (-1, 1)$ ,  $\hat{f} : U_v \to V, \hat{f}(v, \lambda) = f(v) + \lambda E(v)$  and define

$$S^1$$
-deg <sup>$\perp$</sup>  $(f, \Omega) = (d_k^{\perp}(f, \Omega))_{k=0}^{\infty} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ 

via

$$\mathbf{d}_{k}^{\perp}(f,\Omega) = \begin{cases} \deg\left(f_{|\Omega^{S^{1}}},\Omega^{S^{1}}\right) & \text{if } k = 0, \\ \mathbf{d}_{k}(\hat{f},U_{\nu}) & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Here deg denotes the classical Brouwer degree. Note that  $\hat{f}$  is indeed admissible for  $U_{\nu}$  due to the  $S^1$ -normality of f. For a general  $S^1$ -orthogonal map g, Rybicki shows the existence of an admissible homotopy connecting g with a  $S^1$ -normal map f.

The definition  $S^1$ -deg<sup> $\perp$ </sup> $(g, \Omega) := S^1$ -deg<sup> $\perp$ </sup> $(f, \Omega)$  turns out to be indeed well-defined and the degree defined in that way has the usual properties:

**Theorem 2.17** (Thm. 3.9 of [69]). Let  $\Omega \subset V$  be an open, bounded and  $S^1$ -invariant subset and  $f : (\overline{\Omega}, \partial\Omega) \to (V, V \setminus \{0\})$  be  $S^1$ -orthogonal. The degree  $S^1$ -deg<sup> $\perp$ </sup> has the following properties:

- a) if  $d_k^{\perp}(f, \Omega) \neq 0$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , then there exists  $v \in \Omega^K$  with f(v) = 0 where  $K = S^1$ if k = 0, resp.  $K = \mathbb{Z}_k$  if  $k \ge 1$ .
- b) if  $\Omega_0 \subset \Omega$  is an open,  $S^1$ -invariant subset such that  $f^{-1}(0) \cap \Omega \subset \Omega_0$ , then

$$S^1$$
-deg <sup>$\perp$</sup>  $(f, \Omega) = S^1$ -deg <sup>$\perp$</sup>  $(f, \Omega_0)$ 

c) if  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$  are open  $S^1$ -invariant subsets of  $\Omega$  such that  $\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2 = \emptyset$  and  $f^{-1}(0) \cap \Omega$  is contained in the union  $\Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2$ , then

$$S^1$$
-deg <sup>$\perp$</sup>  $(f, \Omega) = S^1$ -deg <sup>$\perp$</sup>  $(f, \Omega_1) + S^1$ -deg <sup>$\perp$</sup>  $(f, \Omega_2).$ 

d) if  $h: (\overline{\Omega} \times [0,1], \partial \Omega \times [0,1]) \to (V, V \setminus \{0\})$  is a S<sup>1</sup>-orthogonal homotopy, then

$$S^1$$
-deg <sup>$\perp$</sup> ( $h(\cdot, 0), \Omega$ ) =  $S^1$ -deg <sup>$\perp$</sup> ( $h(\cdot, 1), \Omega$ )

e) let W be another representation of the group  $S^1$  and let  $U \subset W$  be an open, bounded and  $S^1$ -invariant subset such that  $0 \in U$ . Define a map  $F : \overline{U \times \Omega} \to W \oplus V$  by the formula F(w, v) = (w, f(v)). Then

$$S^1$$
-deg <sup>$\perp$</sup> ( $F, U \times \Omega$ ) =  $S^1$ -deg <sup>$\perp$</sup> ( $f, \Omega$ ).

Moreover, restricted to the class of gradients he could in Thm. 2.11 of [72] also prove the following multiplication rule.

**Theorem 2.18** (Thm. 2.11 of [72]). Let  $\Omega_i \subset V_i$ , i = 1, 2 be open, invariant and bounded subsets of  $S^1$ -representations  $V_i$ . If  $f_i : (\overline{\Omega}_i, \partial \Omega_i) \to (V_i, V_i \setminus \{0\})$  are gradients of  $S^1$ -invariant functionals, then

$$S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(f_{1}\times f_{2},\Omega_{1}\times \Omega_{2})=S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(f_{1},\Omega_{1})\star S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(f_{2},\Omega_{2}).$$

A formula for the computation of Rybicki's degree can also be found in [69]. We will here state it only in the case of a linear isomorphism, which will be needed for our modification. Suppose that the finite-dimensional representation V is given in terms of the classification Theorem 2.1, i.e.  $V = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{r} V_{m_i}$  with  $V_{m_i} \cong R[k_i, m_i]$ , and consider an equivariant, symmetric isomorphism  $T : V \to V$ . By Schur's Lemma, see 3.22 in [1], each restriction  $T_{m_i} = T_{|V_{m_i}|}$  is an isomorphism  $V_{m_i} \to V_{m_i}$ . Let  $\mu_{m_i}$  denote the Morse index of  $T_{m_i}$ . Due to the equivariance of T, the indices  $\mu_{m_i}$  are even for  $m_i \neq 0$ . Indeed if v is an eigenvector, so is E(v). It follows that sign det T = 1, if  $m_i \neq 0$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, r$ , and otherwise sign det T = sign det  $T_0$ . For equivariant isomorphisms we let

$$S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(T, V) := S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(T, B_{1}(0))$$

**Proposition 2.19** (Cor. 4.3 of [69]). The orthogonal degree  $S^1$ -deg<sup> $\perp$ </sup>(T, V) of an equivariant, symmetric isomorphism  $T: V \to V$  is given by

$$d_j^{\perp}(T,V) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign} \det T & \text{if } j = 0, \\ \frac{1}{2}\mu_{m_i} \operatorname{sign} \det T & \text{if } j = m_i, \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

# 2.4 Construction of the degree

Here we will extend the finite-dimensional degree of Rybicki to our infinite-dimensional setting. We consider the  $S^1$ -equivariant map  $L - \Psi : \Lambda \to X$  defined on an open, invariant subset  $\Lambda$  of an infinite-dimensional, orthogonal  $S^1$ -representation X as in section 2.1.2. Let  $O \subset X$  be open, invariant, bounded with  $\overline{O} \subset \Lambda$  and such that  $Lu - \Psi(u) = 0$  has no solution on  $\partial O$ . By the assumptions (A1)–(A5) the set of solutions  $S = (L - \Psi)^{-1}(0) \cap O$  is compact.

**Lemma 2.20.** There exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  and an invariant neighborhood  $B_{\varepsilon}(S) \subset O$  such that for every  $m, n \ge n_0$  and every  $t \in [0, 1]$  the following holds true

- a)  $u \in \overline{B_{\varepsilon}(S)}$  implies  $(P_m + t(P_n P_m)) \in O$ ,
- b)  $Lu (P_m + t(P_n P_m)) \Psi (((P_m + t(P_n P_m))u) = 0$  has no solution on  $\partial B_{\varepsilon}(S)$ ,
- c)  $Lu P_n \Psi(u) = 0$  has no solution in  $\overline{O} \setminus B_{\varepsilon}(S)$ .

*Proof.* We prove the properties step-by-step. If the first one is wrong, we can find sequences  $m_k, n_k \ge k, t_k \in [0, 1]$  and  $u_k \in \overline{B_{\frac{1}{k}}(S)}$  satisfying  $p_k := (P_{m_k} + t_k(P_{n_k} - P_{m_k})) u_k \notin O$ . It follows the existence of a solution  $w_k \in S$  satisfying  $||u_k - w_k||_X \le \frac{1}{k}$ . By the compactness of S we can assume  $w_k \to w$ , as well as  $t_k \to t$ , for some  $w \in S$ ,  $t \in [0, 1]$ . It follows  $u_k \to w$  and then  $X \setminus O \ni p_k \to w \in S$ , which contradicts dist $(\partial O, S) > 0$ .

Now we fix  $B_{\varepsilon}(S)$  and an index  $n_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ , such that a) is true for any  $m, n \ge n_1$  and  $t \in [0, 1]$ . As a consequence  $\Psi((P_m + t(P_n - P_m))u)$  is well-defined for such m, n, t and  $u \in \overline{B_{\varepsilon}(S)}$ . Next we assume b) to be wrong and find sequences  $m_k, n_k \ge k \ge n_1, t_k \in [0, 1], u_k \in \partial B_{\varepsilon}(S)$  such that

$$Lu_{k} - Q_{k}(u_{k}) := Lu_{k} - (P_{m_{k}} + t_{k}(P_{n_{k}} - P_{m_{k}})) \Psi ((P_{m_{k}} + t_{k}(P_{n_{k}} - P_{m_{k}})) u_{k}) = 0$$

for all  $k \ge n_1$ . By (A3) this equation can be rewritten as

$$u_k - (L + P_0)^{-1} \left[ P_0 u_k + Q_k(u_k) \right] = 0.$$

Since  $X_0 = E_0$  is finite-dimensional and since  $(L + P_0)^{-1}$  commutes with the projections  $P_{m_k}$ ,  $P_{n_k}$ , we may by (A5) assume that  $t_k \to t \in [0, 1]$ ,  $P_0 u_k \to v$  and  $(L + P_0)^{-1}[Q_k(u_k)] \to w$ . Thus  $u_k \in \partial B_{\varepsilon}(S)$  converges to  $u := v + w \in \partial B_{\varepsilon}(S)$  with  $Lu - \Psi(u) = 0$ , a contradiction.

Property c) follows with a similar, easier indirect argument, because  $L - \Psi = 0$  has no solution in the closed set  $\overline{O} \setminus B_{\varepsilon}(S)$ .

We abbreviate the Brouwer degree of  $L - \Psi$  restricted to the fixed point set  $O^{S^1}$  by

$$d_0 = \deg(L - \Psi, O^{S^1}) = d_0^{\perp}(L - \Psi, O).$$

Note that  $P_n \Psi : \Lambda \cap X_n \to X_n$  is the gradient of  $\Re_{|\Lambda \cap X_n}$  and hence a  $S^1$ -orthogonal map.

**Lemma 2.21.** Let O and  $n_0$  be as in Lemma 2.20. Then the difference

$$S^1$$
-deg <sup>$\perp$</sup>  $(L - P_n \Psi, O \cap X_n) - d_0 \cdot S^1$ -deg <sup>$\perp$</sup>  $(L + P_0, X_n)$ 

is independent of  $n \ge n_0$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 2.20 b) and c) we can make an excision, followed by the use of the homo-topy invariance and another excision to get

$$S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L-P_{n}\Psi, O\cap X_{n}) = S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L-P_{n}\Psi, B_{\varepsilon}(S)\cap X_{n})$$
$$= S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L-P_{n_{0}}\Psi(P_{n_{0}}\cdot), B_{\varepsilon}(S)\cap X_{n}).$$

Note here that the homotopy  $h_t : \overline{B_{\varepsilon}(S)} \cap X_n \to X_n$ ,  $h_t = L - \nabla (\Re_{|\Lambda \cap X_n} \circ (P_n + t(P_{n_0} - P_n)))$  is indeed well-defined by 2.20 a), *S*<sup>1</sup>-orthogonal and admissible by 2.20 b).

Next observe that  $S_0 = (L - P_{n_0} \circ \Psi \circ P_{n_0})^{-1}(0) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(S)$  is contained in  $X_{n_0}$  and compact by 2.20 b). We therefore split  $X_n$  into  $X_n = X_{n_0} \oplus (X_n \cap X_{n_0}^{\perp})$  and find open and invariant neighborhoods  $U_1 \subset X_n$  of  $S_0$  and  $U_2 \subset X_n \cap X_{n_0}^{\perp}$  of 0, such that the product  $U_1 \times U_2$  is contained in  $B_{\varepsilon}(S) \cap X_n$ . Several excisions and the multiplication formula 2.18 show

$$S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L-P_{n_{0}}\Psi(P_{n_{0}}\cdot),B_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{S})\cap X_{n}) = S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L-P_{n_{0}}\Psi(P_{n_{0}}\cdot),U_{1}\times U_{2})$$
  
$$= S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L-P_{n_{0}}\Psi,\mathcal{O}\cap X_{n_{0}})\star S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L,X_{n}\cap X_{n_{0}}^{\perp}).$$

Now  $d_0^{\perp}(L, X_n \cap X_{n_0}^{\perp}) = 1$  by 2.19 and  $d_0^{\perp}(L - P_{n_0}\Psi, O \cap X_{n_0}) = d_0$  yield

$$S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L-P_{n}\Psi, O\cap X_{n}) + (d_{0}, 0, 0, ...) =$$
  
$$S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L-P_{n_{0}}\Psi, O\cap X_{n_{0}}) + d_{0} \cdot S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L, X_{n}\cap X_{n_{0}}^{\perp}).$$

Combining this equation with

$$S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L+P_{0},X_{n}) = S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L+P_{0},X_{n_{0}}) \star S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L,X_{n}\cap X_{n_{0}}^{\perp})$$
  
=  $S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L+P_{0},X_{n_{0}}) + S^{1}-\deg^{\perp}(L,X_{n}\cap X_{n_{0}}^{\perp}) - (1,0,0,\ldots)$ 

finally shows that

$$S^1$$
-deg <sup>$\perp$</sup>  $(L - P_n \Psi, O \cap X_n) - d_0 \cdot S^1$ -deg <sup>$\perp$</sup>  $(L + P_0, X_n)$ 

does not depend on  $n \ge n_0$ .

Having Lemma 2.21 at hand we are ready to define the degree for  $S^1$ -equivariant gradient maps.

**Definition 2.22.** For  $L-\Psi : \Lambda \to X$  satisfying (A1)–(A5) and bounded, invariant, open subsets  $O \subset X$  with  $\overline{O} \subset \Lambda$  and  $(L - \Psi)^{-1}(0) \cap \partial O = \emptyset$  we define

$$S^1$$
-deg $^{\nabla}(L - \Psi, O) = \left( \mathrm{d}_k^{\nabla}(L - \Psi, O) \right)_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0} \in \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$ 

where  $d_0^{\nabla}(L - \Psi, O) = \deg(L - \Psi, O^{S^1})$  and for  $k \neq 0$ :

$$\mathbf{d}_{k}^{\nabla}(L-\Psi, \boldsymbol{O}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left( \mathbf{d}_{k}^{\perp}(L-P_{n}\Psi, \boldsymbol{O} \cap X_{n}) - \operatorname{deg}(L-\Psi, \boldsymbol{O}^{S^{1}}) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{k}^{\perp}(L+P_{0}, X_{n}) \right).$$

It remains to prove that the degree has the stated properties (D1)–(D4).

*Proof of Thm. 2.2.* (D1) (Existence): Let  $d_k^{\nabla}(L - \Psi, O) \neq 0$ . If k = 0, we find a solution  $u \in O^{S^1}$  of  $L - \Psi = 0$  by the corresponding property of the Brouwer degree. If  $k \neq 0$ , by our definition we can find  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for all  $n \ge n_0$  there holds  $d_k^{\perp}(L - P_n \Psi, O \cap X_n) \neq 0$  or  $\deg(L - \Psi, O^{S^1}) \neq 0$ . In the latter case we are done, since  $O^{S^1} \subset O^{\mathbb{Z}_k}$ . Otherwise we find for any  $n \ge n_0$  an element  $u_n \in O^{\mathbb{Z}_k} \cap X_n$  solving  $L - P_n \Psi = 0$ . By our compactness condition (A5) we can conclude that along a subsequence  $u_n \to u^* \in O^{\mathbb{Z}_k}$  with  $Lu^* - \Psi(u^*) = 0$ .

(D2) (Excision and additivity): Replacing  $\partial O$  by  $\overline{O} \setminus (O_1 \cup O_2)$  in the proof of Lemma 2.20 and using t = 1 shows that  $L - P_n \Psi = 0$  does not have a solution in  $\overline{O} \setminus (O_1 \cup O_2)$  for all n large enough. Therefore (D2) follows from the corresponding properties of the Brouwer degree and Theorem 2.17 b),c).

(D4) (Multiplicativity): This is a straightforward calculation based on the multiplication properties of the degree theories of Brouwer and Rybicki 2.18.

(D3) (Homotopy): First of all we can extend the homotopy invariance stated in Theorem 2.17 d), i.e. we consider a continuous family of  $S^1$ -gradient maps  $L_t - \Psi_t : \Lambda \to X, t \in [0, 1]$  and a fixed open, invariant and bounded set  $O \subset X$  with  $\overline{O} \subset \Lambda$  and  $(L_t - \Psi_t)(\partial O) \subset X \setminus \{0\}$  for all  $t \in [0, 1]$ . As in Lemma 2.20 one can see that there exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that the finite-dimensional equation  $L_t - P_n \Psi_t = 0$  has no solution on  $\partial O \cap X_n$  for all  $n \ge n_0, t \in [0, 1]$ . Thus by Theorem 2.17 d), the homotopy invariance of the Brouwer degree and since every  $L_t + P_0 : X_n \to X_n$  is an isomorphism we obtain that  $S^1$ -deg $^{\nabla}(L_t - \Psi_t, O)$  is independent of  $t \in [0, 1]$ .

It remains to prove the generalized homotopy invariance. So let  $L_t - \Psi_t : \Lambda \to X$ be as before and consider  $\mathcal{U} \subset [0,1] \times X$  (rel.) open, bounded, such that every section  $\mathcal{U}_t = \{ u \in X : (t,u) \in \mathcal{U} \}$  is invariant and  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_t \subset \Lambda$ ,  $(L_t - \Psi_t)^{-1}(0) \cap \partial \mathcal{U}_t = \emptyset$ . We extend  $L_t - \Psi_t$  by  $L_0 - \Psi_0$  for t < 0 and by  $L_1 - \Psi_1$  for t > 1. Furthermore, let  $t_0 \in [0,1], \tilde{X} = \mathbb{R} \oplus X$ with trivial  $S^1$ -action on  $\mathbb{R}, \tilde{\Lambda} = \mathbb{R} \times \Lambda \subset \tilde{X}$  and define  $\tilde{L} \in \mathcal{L}(\tilde{X}), \tilde{\Psi} : \tilde{\Lambda} \to \tilde{X}$  by

$$\hat{L}(t, u) = (0, L_t u), \quad \Psi(t, u) = (t_0 - t, \Psi_t(u)).$$

With canonical modifications like  $\tilde{E}_0 = \mathbb{R} \oplus E_0$  it is easy to see that  $\tilde{X}, \tilde{L}$  and  $\tilde{\Psi}$  satisfy (A1)–(A5). Next we extend  $\mathcal{U}$  to an open subset of  $\tilde{X}$  via

$$\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U} \cup (-1, 0] \times \mathcal{U}_0 \cup [1, 2) \times \mathcal{U}_1.$$

Then  $\tilde{\mathcal{U}}$  is also invariant, bounded and its closure is contained in  $\tilde{\Lambda}$ . Clearly the homotopy  $\tilde{h}: [0, 1] \times \tilde{\Lambda} \to \tilde{X}$ ,

$$\tilde{h}_{\lambda}(t, u) = (t - t_0, \lambda(L_{t_0} - \Psi_{t_0})(u) + (1 - \lambda)(L_t - \Psi_t)(u))$$

is admissible with respect to  $\mathcal{U}$ . So we can use the homotopy invariance just shown together with a suitable excision around  $\{t_0\} \times ((L_{t_0} - \Psi_{t_0})^{-1}(0) \cap \mathcal{U}_{t_0})$  and the multiplicativity (D4)

to conclude

$$S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(\tilde{L}-\tilde{\Psi},\tilde{\mathcal{U}}) = S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(\tilde{h}_{0},\mathcal{U}) = S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(\tilde{h}_{1},\mathcal{U})$$
  
$$= S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(\cdot-t_{0},(t_{0}-\varepsilon,t_{0}+\varepsilon)) \star S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(L_{t_{0}}-\Psi_{t_{0}},\mathcal{U}_{t_{0}})$$
  
$$= S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(L_{t_{0}}-\Psi_{t_{0}},\mathcal{U}_{t_{0}}).$$

Now if we do the same construction with another parameter value  $t_1 \in [0, 1]$ , say we define  $\tilde{\Phi}(t, u) = (t_1 - t, \Psi_t(u))$ , then we can clearly connect  $\tilde{L} - \tilde{\Psi}$  and  $\tilde{L} - \tilde{\Phi}$  with an  $\tilde{U}$ -admissible homotopy. Therefore

$$S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(L_{t_{0}}-\Psi_{t_{0}},\mathcal{U}_{t_{0}})=S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(\tilde{L}-\tilde{\Psi},\tilde{\mathcal{U}})=S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(\tilde{L}-\tilde{\Phi},\tilde{\mathcal{U}})=S^{1}-\deg^{\nabla}(L_{t_{1}}-\Psi_{t_{1}},\mathcal{U}_{t_{1}}).$$

# 2.5 The global continuation theorem

The proof of Theorem 2.3 uses a refinement of Whyburn's lemma. Recall that a topological space *S* is normal provided every two disjoint closed subsets of *S* have disjoint open neighborhoods. Two subsets  $A, B \subset S$  are separated in *S*, if there exist  $U, V \subset S$  disjoint, open, nonempty satisfying  $S = U \cup V$  and  $A \subset U, B \subset V$ .

**Proposition 2.23** (Prop. 5 of [2]). Let *S* be a compact, normal topological space. If  $A \subset S$  and  $B \subset S$  are closed and not separated, then there exists a connected set  $C \subset S \setminus (A \cup B)$  such that  $\overline{C} \cap A \neq \emptyset, \overline{C} \cap B \neq \emptyset$ .

We consider now the family of equations

$$Lu - \Psi(r, u) = 0, \quad (r, u) \in \mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times X,$$

where *X*, *L* satisfy (A1)–(A3) and  $\Psi$  satisfies (A6),(A7). Recall that we defined *S* as the set of solutions

$$\mathcal{S} = \{ (r, u) \in \mathcal{D} : Lu - \Psi(r, u) = 0 \}$$

and that we write  $M_r = \{ u \in X : (r, u) \in M \}$  for  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times X, r \in \mathbb{R}^+$ .

*Proof of Theorem 2.3.* We first add two points at infinity to the set  $\mathcal{D} \setminus \partial \mathcal{U}$ :

$$\mathcal{D}^* = (\mathcal{D} \setminus \partial \mathcal{U}) \cup \{\infty_1, \infty_2\}.$$

In order to define the topology of  $\mathcal{D}^*$  we set for  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ :

$$\mathcal{D}(\varepsilon) = \left\{ (r, u) \in \mathcal{D} : r \in [\varepsilon, \varepsilon^{-1}], \operatorname{dist}(u, \partial \mathcal{D}_r) \ge \varepsilon, \|u\|_X \le \varepsilon^{-1} \right\}.$$

A neighborhood basis of  $\infty_1$  is given by the family  $(\{\infty_1\} \cup \mathcal{U}) \setminus \mathcal{D}(1/n), n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and a neighborhood basis of  $\infty_2$  is given by  $(\{\infty_2\} \cup (\mathcal{D} \setminus \overline{\mathcal{U}})) \setminus \mathcal{D}(1/n), n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\mathcal{D}^*$  is a normal topological space and  $S^* := S \cup \{\infty_1, \infty_2\}$  is a compact subspace of  $\mathcal{D}^*$ . We need to prove that there exists a connected set  $C \subset S$  such that  $\infty_1, \infty_2 \in \overline{C} \subset \mathcal{D}^*$ . According to Proposition 2.23 it is sufficient to show that  $\infty_1$  and  $\infty_2$  are not separated in  $S^*$ . Arguing by contradiction suppose that there exist two open subsets  $V_1, V_2 \subset \mathcal{D}^*$  such that  $V_1 \cap V_2 = \emptyset$ ,  $\infty_1 \in V_1, \infty_2 \in V_2$ , and  $S^* \subset V_1 \cup V_2$ . Then

$$V_1 \subset \{\infty_1\} \cup \mathcal{U} \cup \mathcal{D}(\varepsilon)^\circ \quad ext{and} \quad V_2 \subset \{\infty_2\} \cup \mathcal{D} \setminus \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{D}(\varepsilon)$$

for some  $0 < \varepsilon < \min\{1, r_0\}$ . Since S and  $\mathcal{U}$  are  $S^1$ -invariant, we can without restriction also assume that  $V_j \setminus \{\infty_j\} \subset \mathcal{D}, j = 1, 2$  are invariant. By (D2),(D3) it follows that

$$S^{1}-\deg(L - \Psi(r_{0}, \cdot), (V_{1} \cap \mathcal{U})_{r_{0}}) + S^{1}-\deg(L - \Psi(r_{0}, \cdot), (V_{1} \setminus \mathcal{U})_{r_{0}})$$
  
=  $S^{1}-\deg(L - \Psi(r_{0}, \cdot), (V_{1})_{r_{0}}) = S^{1}-\deg(L - \Psi(1/\varepsilon, \cdot), (V_{1})_{1/\varepsilon}) = 0$ 

and

$$S^{1}-\deg(L-\Psi(r_{0},\cdot),(V_{1}\setminus\overline{\mathcal{U}})_{r_{0}})=S^{1}-\deg(L-\Psi(\varepsilon,\cdot),(V_{1}\setminus\overline{\mathcal{U}})_{\varepsilon})=0,$$

hence

$$S^{1}-\deg(L-\Psi(r_{0},\cdot),(V_{1}\cap\mathcal{U})_{r_{0}})=0$$

Moreover, we have

$$S^{1}-\deg(L-\Psi(r_{0},\cdot),(V_{2}\cap\mathcal{U})_{r_{0}})=S^{1}-\deg(L-\Psi(\varepsilon,\cdot),(V_{2}\cap\mathcal{U})_{\varepsilon})=0.$$

This leads to the contradiction

$$0 \neq S^{1} \operatorname{-deg}(L - \Psi(r_{0}, \cdot), \mathcal{U}_{r_{0}})$$
  
=  $S^{1} \operatorname{-deg}(L - \Psi(r_{0}, \cdot), (V_{1} \cap \mathcal{U})_{r_{0}}) + S^{1} \operatorname{-deg}(L - \Psi(r_{0}, \cdot), (V_{2} \cap \mathcal{U})_{r_{0}}) = 0.$ 

-	-	
	_	

# 2.6 Calculation of the degree

The degree of a nondegenerate solution will be expressed in terms of signs of compact linear perturbations of identity. Let  $\tilde{X}$  be an arbitrary Banachspace and  $Q : \tilde{X} \to \tilde{X}$  compact linear with spectrum  $\sigma(Q)$ . For  $\lambda \in \sigma(Q) \setminus \{0\}$  denote by  $G_{\lambda} = \bigcup_{k} \operatorname{Kern}(Q - \lambda \operatorname{id})^{k}$  the generalized eigenspace. The sign of id -Q is defined by

sign(id 
$$-Q$$
) =  $(-1)^{m_-}$ , with  $m_- = \dim \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \sigma(K) \cap (1,\infty)} G_{\lambda}$ .

This is of course possible due to the spectral theorem of Riesz-Schauder.

Let now  $L - \Psi : \Lambda \to X$  satisfy (A1)–(A5) and assume that (A8),(A9) hold true as well. In this situation we use the (nonlinear) compact map  $K : \Lambda \to X$ ,

$$K(u) = P_0 u + (L + P_0)^{-1} \Psi(u),$$

such that  $(L + P_0)^{-1} \circ (L - \Psi) = \operatorname{id} -K$ .

We consider a nondegenerate solution  $u_0 \in \Lambda$  of  $L - \Psi = 0$  having finite isotropy group  $I_{u_0} = \mathbb{Z}_k$ . The derivative  $\mathrm{id} - DK(u_0)$  is  $\mathbb{Z}_k$ -equivariant and maps  $X^{\mathbb{Z}_k}$  into itself. The same is true for  $(X^{\mathbb{Z}_k})^{\perp}$ , since  $\mathrm{id} - DK(u_0)$  is up to the isomorphism  $(L + P_0)^{-1}$  the second derivative of a functional.

Recall that by (A9) and the definition of a nondegenerate solution in 2.4  $u_0 \in Y$  and  $E(u_0) \in X$  – in fact  $E(u_0) \in X^{\mathbb{Z}_k}$  – and  $\text{Kern}(\text{id} - DK(u_0)) = \mathbb{R}E(u_0)$ .

In order to formulate our theorem we define the linear map  $Q \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ ,

( **-**( ))

$$Qu = \frac{\langle u, E(u_0) \rangle_X}{\|E(u_0)\|_X \|(L+P_0)E(u_0)\|_X} (L+P_0)E(u_0)$$

and the following two signs:

$$s_{\perp} := \operatorname{sign} \left( \operatorname{id} - DK(u_0) : (X^{\mathbb{Z}_k})^{\perp} \to (X^{\mathbb{Z}_k})^{\perp} \right),$$
  
$$s_0 := \operatorname{sign} \left( \operatorname{id} - DK(u_0) + Q : X^{\mathbb{Z}_k} \to X^{\mathbb{Z}_k} \right).$$

**Theorem 2.24.** Let  $u_0 \in \Lambda$  be a nondegenerate solution of  $Lu - \Psi(u) = 0$  with isotropy group  $I_{u_0} = \mathbb{Z}_k$ . There exists an invariant neighborhood O of  $S^1 * u_0$  such that  $(L - \Psi)^{-1}(0) \cap \overline{O} = S^1 * u_0$  and

(i) if  $s_{\perp} = 1$ , then

$$\mathbf{d}_{j}^{\nabla}(L-\Psi,O) = \begin{cases} -s_{0} & if j = k, \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$$

(*ii*) if  $s_{\perp} = -1$ , then k is even and

$$\mathbf{d}_{j}^{\nabla}(L-\Psi,O) = \begin{cases} -s_{0} & \text{if } j = k \\ s_{0} & \text{if } j = k/2 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

**Remark 2.25.** Theorem 2.5 directly follows from Theorem 2.24 in the case  $I_{u_0} = \mathbb{Z}_k$  and by the analogous property of the Brouwer degree if  $I_{u_0} = S^1$ .

**Lemma 2.26.** In the situation of Theorem 2.24 there exists an invariant neighborhood O of  $S^1 * u_0$  with  $\overline{O} \cap X^{S^1} = \emptyset$ , as well as an index  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  and a sequence  $(u_n)_{n \ge n_0} \subset O$  such that for all  $n \ge n_0$ :

$$(L-\Psi)^{-1}(0)\cap\overline{O} = S^1 * u_0, \quad (L-P_n\Psi)^{-1}(0)\cap\overline{O} = S^1 * u_n, \quad I_{u_n} = \mathbb{Z}_k,$$
  
Kern $(L-P_nD\Psi(u_n)) = \mathbb{R}E(u_n), \quad u_n \to u_0, \quad \frac{E(u_n)}{\|E(u_n)\|_X} \to \frac{E(u_0)}{\|E(u_0)\|_X}.$ 

*Proof.* Let  $N_{u_0} = \{ u \in X : \langle u, E(u_0) \rangle = 0 \}$ ,  $N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon} = N_{u_0} \cap B_{\varepsilon}(u_0)$  and observe that  $E(u_0) \neq 0$ ,  $u_0 \in N_{u_0}$  and  $B_{\varepsilon}(S^1 * u_0) = S^1 * N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon}$  for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ . The orthogonal projection onto  $N_{u_0}$  is denoted by  $P_{N_{u_0}} : X \to N_{u_0}$ . We abbreviate  $E_{\star} := (L + P_0)E(u_0)$  and denote by  $N_{u_0}^{\star}$  its orthogonal complement and by  $P_{N_{u_0}}$  the corresponding projection.

*Claim* 2.26.1. There exists an invariant, bounded neighborhood  $O_1$  of  $S^1 * u_0$  with  $\overline{O}_1 \subset \Lambda$ ,  $\overline{O}_1 \cap X^{S^1} = \emptyset$  and  $(L - \Psi)^{-1}(0) \cap \overline{O}_1 = S^1 * u_0$ .

*Proof.* Clearly  $L - \Psi = 0$  if and only if id - K = 0. The derivative  $id - DK(u_0)$  is a compact perturbation of identity on *X* and therefore an index 0 Fredholm-operator, i.e.

 $\operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Range}(\operatorname{id} - DK(u_0)) = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Kern}(\operatorname{id} - DK(u_0)) = 1.$ 

Moreover, we have, since  $L - D\Psi(u_0)$  is as the second derivative of a functional self-adjoint, the inclusion Range $(id - DK(u_0)) \subset N_{u_0}^{\star}$ . Thus by comparing dimensions equality holds and therefore  $id - DK(u_0) : N_{u_0} \to N_{u_0}^{\star}$  is an isomorphism. Hence the inverse function theorem implies the existence of  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that  $P_{N_{u_0}^{\star}} \circ (id - K) : \overline{N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_0}} \to N_{u_0}^{\star}$  is a diffeomorphism onto its image. We set  $O_1 := S^1 * N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_0}$ . Then  $u \in \overline{O_1}$ ,  $Lu - \Psi(u) = 0$  implies  $\theta * u \in \overline{N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_0}}$  for some  $\theta \in S^1$  and  $P_{N_{u_0}^{\star}}(\theta * u - K(\theta * u)) = 0$ . Therefore  $\theta * u = u_0$ . Due to  $I_{u_0} = \mathbb{Z}_k$  we can without restriction also assume that  $\overline{O_1} \cap X^{S^1} = \emptyset$ . Next we want to show that there exists an invariant subset  $O \subset O_1$  such that for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  big enough  $(L - P_n \Psi)^{-1}(0) \cap O \cap X_n$  contains exactly one nondegenerate orbit. In order to do this we define  $g_n : \overline{N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_0}} \to N_{u_0}^{\star}$ ,

$$g_n(u) = P_{N_{u_0}^{\star}} \left( u - P_n K(u) \right).$$

Claim 2.26.2. There exists  $\varepsilon_1 \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$  and  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for any  $n \ge n_0$  one can find in  $\overline{N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_1}}$  a unique zero  $u_n$  of  $g_n$ . Moreover,  $u_n \to u_0$  as  $n \to \infty$  and the derivative  $Dg_n(u_n)$  has trivial kernel.

*Proof.* Clearly  $u \in N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_0}$  is a zero of  $g_n$  if and only if u is a fixpoint of  $T_n : N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_0} \to N_{u_0}$ ,

$$T_n(u) = u - (\mathrm{id} - DK(u_0))^{-1}[g_n(u)]$$

Let  $c_0 := \left\| (\operatorname{id} - DK(u_0))^{-1} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(N_{u_0}^{\star}, N_{u_0})}$  and choose  $\varepsilon_1 \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$  such that

$$\|DK(u) - DK(u_0)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X)} \le \frac{1}{4c_0} \quad \text{for all } u \in \overline{N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_1}}.$$

Then choose  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  with

$$||u_0 - P_n u_0||_X \le \frac{\varepsilon_1}{2c_0}$$
 and  $||DK(u_0) - P_n DK(u_0)||_{\mathcal{L}(X)} \le \frac{1}{4c_0}$  for all  $n \ge n_0$ .

The latter is possible since  $DK(u_0)$  is compact. With these choices we have for  $u, v \in \overline{N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_1}}$ and  $n \ge n_0$ 

$$\begin{split} \|T_n(u) - T_n(v)\|_X &= \left\| u - v - (\mathrm{id} - DK(u_0))^{-1} \circ P_{N_{u_0}^{\star}} \left[ u - v - P_n(K(u) - K(v)) \right] \right\|_X \\ &\leq c_0 \left\| (\mathrm{id} - DK(u_0))[u - v] - P_{N_{u_0}^{\star}} \left[ u - v - P_n(K(u) - K(v)) \right] \right\|_X \\ &\leq c_0 \left\| P_n(K(u) - K(v)) - DK(u_0)[u - v] \right\|_X \\ &\leq c_0 \left\| K(u) - K(v) - DK(u_0)[u - v] \right\|_X \\ &+ c_0 \left\| (DK(u_0) - P_n DK(u_0))[u - v] \right\|_X \\ &\leq c_0 \int_0^1 \left\| DK(u_0) - DK(su + (1 - s)v) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(X)} ds \ \|u - v\|_X + \frac{1}{4} \|u - v\|_X \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|u - v\|_X \,, \end{split}$$

as well as

$$\|T_n(u) - u_0\|_X \le \|T_n(u_0) - u_0\|_X + \frac{1}{2} \|u - u_0\|_X$$
$$\le c_0 \|u_0 - P_n u_0\|_X + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_1 \le \varepsilon_1.$$

So  $T_n: \overline{N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_1}} \to \overline{N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_1}}$ ,  $n \ge n_0$  is a contraction and thus has a unique fixpoint, which we call  $u_n$ . Next

$$||u_n - u_0||_X = ||T_n(u_n) - u_0||_X \le c_0 ||u_0 - P_n u_0||_X + \frac{1}{2} ||u_n - u_0||_X$$

implies  $u_n \to u_0$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Furthermore, observe that  $v \in \text{Kern } Dg_n(u_n)$  gives  $DT_n(u_n)v = v$ and therefore v = 0, since  $T_n$  is a contraction.
In a next step we need to get rid of the projection  $P_{N_{u_0}^{\star}}$  in  $g_n$ . Claim 2.26.3. There exists  $n_1 \ge n_0$  such that  $u_n - P_n K(u_n) = 0$  for every  $n \ge n_1$ .

*Proof.* Since we already have  $g_n(u_n) = 0$ , it is enough to find a direction  $v_n \in X \setminus N_{u_0}^*$  with  $\langle u_n - P_n K(u_n), v_n \rangle = 0$ . Using  $g_n(u_n) = 0$  we can write  $u_n$  as

$$u_n = P_n K(u_n) + \frac{\langle u_n - P_n K(u_n), E_{\star} \rangle_X}{\|E_{\star}\|_X^2} E_{\star} =: y_n + \lambda_n E_{\star},$$

where  $y_n \in X_n \subset Y$ ,  $\lambda_n \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $E_{\star} = (L + P_0)E(u_0) \in Y$ . So  $u_n \in Y$  and  $E(u_n) \in X$  exists by (A9). We abbreviate  $E_{\star}(u_n) := (L + P_0)E(u_n)$ , use the identity

$$\langle u_n - K(u_n), E_{\star}(u_n) \rangle_X = \langle Lu_n - \Psi(u_n), E(u_n) \rangle_X = 0$$

and obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \langle u_n - P_n K(u_n), E_{\star}(u_n) \rangle_X &= \langle (\mathrm{id} - P_n) K(u_n), E_{\star}(u_n) \rangle_X \\ &= \langle (\mathrm{id} - P_n) K(u_n), (L + P_0) E(y_n) + \lambda_n (L + P_0) E(E_{\star}) \rangle_X \\ &= \lambda_n \langle K(u_n), (\mathrm{id} - P_n) (L + P_0) E(E_{\star}) \rangle_X =: \lambda_n \beta_n. \end{aligned}$$

Thus with  $v_n := ||E_{\star}||_X^2 E_{\star}(u_n) - \beta_n E_{\star}$  there holds

$$\langle u_n - P_n K(u_n), v_n \rangle_X = \|E_\star\|_X^2 \lambda_n \beta_n - \beta_n \lambda_n \|E_\star\|_X^2 = 0.$$

By (A3),(A9)  $E_{\star}(u_n) = (L+P_0)E(u_n) = E((L+P_0)u_n) \to E_{\star}$  as  $n \to \infty$  and  $\beta_n \to 0$ . Therefore we can find  $n_1 \ge n_0$ , such that  $v_n \notin N_{u_0}^{\star}$  for  $n \ge n_1$ .

So far we have found with  $O := S^1 * N_{u_0}^{\varepsilon_1}$  an invariant, bounded neighborhood of  $S^1 * u_0$ satisfying  $(L - P_n \Psi)^{-1}(0) \cap \overline{O} = S^1 * u_n \subset X_n$ . By Claim 2.26.2 and the equivariance of  $L - P_n \Psi$ , Kern $(L - P_n D\Psi(u_n)) = \mathbb{R}E(u_n)$  holds. We also know  $u_n \to u_0$ .

*Claim* 2.26.4. The isotropy group  $I_{u_n}$  of  $u_n$  satisfies  $I_{u_n} = \mathbb{Z}_k$  for all n big enough.

*Proof.* We first show that  $\mathbb{Z}_k = I_{u_0}$  is a subgroup of every  $I_{u_n}$ . Therefore observe that  $\mathbb{Z}_k$  leaves  $\overline{N_{u_0}^{\epsilon_1}}$  invariant. So by the uniqueness of the solution of  $L - P_n \Psi = 0$  in  $\overline{N_{u_0}^{\epsilon_1}}$  it follows  $\theta * u_n = u_n$  for every  $\theta \in \mathbb{Z}_k$ . Thus  $\mathbb{Z}_k \leq I_{u_n}$ .

For the other inclusion recall that  $E_j$  denotes the isotypical component of  $E_0^{\perp}$  corresponding to  $(\mathbb{R}^2, \rho^j)$ . Define  $\tilde{E}_j \leq E_0 \oplus E_j$  to be the full isotypical component of X and  $P_{\tilde{E}_j}$  to be the orthogonal projection  $X \to \tilde{E}_j$ . Note that  $P_{\tilde{E}_j} u_0 \neq 0$  implies  $j \in k \mathbb{N}_0$ , because  $I_{u_0} = \mathbb{Z}_k$ . We define A to be the set of all indices  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  satisfying  $P_{\tilde{E}_{lk}} u_0 \neq 0$ . Then  $I_{u_0} = \mathbb{Z}_k$  implies

$$\bigcap_{l \in A} \left( \frac{1}{l} \mathbb{Z} \cap [0, 1) \right) = \{ 0 \}.$$

We can replace *A* by a finite subset  $\tilde{A} \subset A$  such that the equation above still remains valid. Since  $u_n \to u_0$ , we find an index  $n_2 \ge n_1$  with  $P_{\tilde{E}_{lk}}u_n \ne 0$  for every  $l \in \tilde{A}$ ,  $n \ge n_2$ . This yields

$$I_{u_n} \leq \bigcap_{l \in \tilde{A}} \left( \frac{2\pi}{lk} \mathbb{Z} \cap [0, 2\pi) \right) = \left\{ 0, \frac{2\pi}{k}, \dots, \frac{(k-1)2\pi}{k} \right\} = \mathbb{Z}_k$$

It remains to prove

*Claim* 2.26.5. The normed tangent vectors  $e(u_n) := \frac{E(u_n)}{\|E(u_n)\|_X}$  converge in X towards the normed tangent vector  $e(u_0) := \frac{E(u_0)}{\|E(u_0)\|_X}$ .

*Proof.* This would be clear, if  $u_n \to u_0$  in *Y*, but we only know  $u_n \to u_0$  in *X*. Since  $DK(u_0)$  is compact one has  $\|P_n DK(u_n) - DK(u_0)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X)} \to 0$ . By

$$e(u_n) = P_n DK(u_n) e(u_n) = DK(u_0)e(u_n) + o(1),$$

the convergence (along a subsequence) of  $e(u_n)$  to an element in the kernel of  $id - DK(u_0)$  with length 1 follows. Hence  $e(u_n) \to \pm e(u_0)$ . The correct sign is obtained by using the fact that  $(L + P_0)u_n \to (L + P_0)u_0$  in *Y* and therefore  $(L + P_0)E(u_n) \to (L + P_0)E(u_0)$  in *X*.

With that we have shown all properties of the Lemma.

*Proof of Theorem 2.24.* Take everything as in Lemma 2.26. The fact that  $\overline{O} \cap X^{S^1} = \emptyset$  implies  $d_0^{\nabla}(L - \Psi, O) = 0$  and

$$\mathbf{d}_{j}^{\nabla}(L-\Psi, \mathcal{O}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{d}_{j}^{\perp}(L-P_{n}\Psi, \mathcal{O} \cap X_{n})$$

for  $j \ge 1$ . So we need to calculate the degree  $S^1$ -deg<sup> $\perp$ </sup> $(L - P_n\Psi, O \cap X_n)$  for *n* sufficiently large. Luckily the map  $L - P_n\Psi : O \cap X_n \to X_n$  is already  $S^1$ -normal, since  $\overline{O} \cap X^{S^1} = \emptyset$ , such that the definition of Rybicki's degree (cf. section 2.3.2) directly transfers us to the degree of DGMJ, i.e.

$$\mathbf{d}_{j}^{\nabla}(L-\Psi, O) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{d}_{j}(\hat{f}_{n}, U_{n}),$$

where  $U_n := (O \cap X_n) \times (-1, 1)$ ,  $\hat{f}_n : U_n \to X_n$ ,  $\hat{f}_n(v, \lambda) = Lv - P_n \Psi(v) + \lambda E(v)$ . Due to the orthogonality of  $L - P_n \Psi$  and E, the orbit  $S^1 * (u_n, 0)$  is the only orbit of zeroes of  $\hat{f}_n$ . Moreover, Lemma 2.26 implies

$$\operatorname{Kern} Df_n(u_n, 0) = \mathbb{R}(E(u_n), 0),$$

so we can apply Theorem 2.16. In order to use this Theorem we define the needed linear maps  $A_n^{\perp}: (X_n^{\mathbb{Z}_k})^{\perp} \to (X_n^{\mathbb{Z}_k})^{\perp}, \mathcal{A}_n: X_n^{\mathbb{Z}_k} \oplus \mathbb{R} \to X_n^{\mathbb{Z}_k} \oplus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$A_n^{\perp} \upsilon = D\hat{f}_n(u_n, 0)(\upsilon, 0) = L\upsilon - P_n D\Psi(u_n)\upsilon$$
$$\mathcal{A}_n(\upsilon, \mu) = \left(L\upsilon - P_n D\Psi(u_n)\upsilon + \mu E(u_n), \frac{\langle \upsilon, E(u_n) \rangle_X}{\|E(u_n)\|_X^2}\right).$$

Then according to 2.16 it remains to show sign det  $A_n^{\perp} \to s^{\perp}$  and sign det  $\mathcal{A}_n \to -s_0$ . And indeed due to the equivariance of  $L + P_0$  one has

sign det 
$$A_n^{\perp}$$
 = sign det $(L + P_0)$  · sign det  $\left( \operatorname{id} - P_n DK(u_n) : (X_n^{\mathbb{Z}_k})^{\perp} \to (X_n^{\mathbb{Z}_k})^{\perp} \right)$   
=  $1 \cdot \operatorname{sign} \left( \operatorname{id} - P_n DK(u_n) : (X^{\mathbb{Z}_k})^{\perp} \to (X^{\mathbb{Z}_k})^{\perp} \right) \to s^{\perp}.$ 

For  $\mathcal{A}_n$  we need some auxiliary maps. We abbreviate in a similar way as before the tangent vectors  $E_n = E(u_n)$ ,  $E_{\star n} = (L + P_0)E(u_n)$  and the orthogonal projection  $P_{N_{u_n}^{\star}} : X_n^{\mathbb{Z}_k} \to E_{\star n}^{\perp}$ . Observe that  $\upsilon - DK(u_n)\upsilon \in E_{\star n}^{\perp}$  for every  $\upsilon \in X_n$ . Therefore, if we define the maps

$$\begin{split} I_n, Q_n : X_n^{\mathbb{Z}_k} \oplus \mathbb{R} \to X_n^{\mathbb{Z}_k} \oplus \mathbb{R}, \\ I_n(\upsilon, \mu) &= \left( P_{N_{u_n}^{\star}} \upsilon + \mu \frac{\|E_{\star n}\|_X}{\|E_n\|_X} (L + P_0)^{-1} E_n, \frac{\langle \upsilon, E_{\star n} \rangle_X}{\|E_n\|_X \|E_{\star n}\|_X} \right), \\ Q_n(\upsilon, \mu) &= \left( \upsilon - P_n D K(u_n) \upsilon + \left\langle \upsilon, \frac{E_n}{\|E_n\|_X} \right\rangle_X \frac{E_{\star n}}{\|E_{\star n}\|_X}, \mu \frac{\|E_n\|_X}{\|E_{\star n}\|_X} \right), \end{split}$$

there holds

$$(L + P_0, \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}}) \circ I_n \circ Q_n(\upsilon, \mu) = \left( (L + P_0) \left( \upsilon - P_n DK(u_n)\upsilon \right) + \mu E_n, \frac{\langle \upsilon, E_n \rangle_X}{\|E_n\|_X^2} \right)$$
$$= \mathcal{A}_n(\upsilon, \mu).$$

Again by the equivariance of  $L + P_0$  we have sign  $\det(L + P_0, \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}}) = 1$  and by Lemma 2.26 there holds sign  $\det Q_n \to s_0$ . So it remains to show that  $I_n$  is not orientation preserving. To see this decompose  $X_n^{\mathbb{Z}_k}$  into  $E_{\star n}^{\perp} \oplus \mathbb{R}E_{\star n}$  and write according to this decomposition  $v = v^{\perp} + \alpha \frac{E_{\star n}}{\|E_{\star n}\|_X}$ , such that in blockmatrix form

$$I_{n}(\upsilon^{\perp}, \alpha, \mu) = \begin{pmatrix} & & 0 & * \\ & & & \vdots & \vdots \\ & & & 0 & * \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \|E_{n}\|_{X} \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \frac{1}{\|E_{n}\|_{X}} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \upsilon^{\perp} \\ \alpha \\ \mu \end{pmatrix}$$

Therefore det  $I_n = -1$  and the proof of theorem 2.24 is finished.

## Chapter 3

# Periodic solutions consisting of clusters

In this chapter we will establish the existence of periodic solutions for the *N*-vortex system consisting of several vortex clusters located at the points of an equilibrium solution of an *m*-vortex system, m < N. Each of the clusters is in its shape close to a rigidly rotating configuration of the whole-plane system.

We would like to mention that the general idea of grouping vortices into different clusters plays a role in establishing the existence of quasi-periodic solutions via KAM theory, see [46, 58].

## 3.1 Statement of results

Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a domain and fix a symmetric  $C^2$  function  $g : \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ , for example the regular part of the Dirichlet (or more generally a hydrodynamic) Green's function of  $\Omega$ . We will investigate a point vortex like system similar to (1.3), which is induced by the generalized Green's and Robin functions

$$G(x,y) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |x-y| - g(x,y), \qquad h(x) = g(x,x).$$

At first we consider on the domain  $\Omega$  a system of  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  vortices with vorticities  $\Gamma^1, \ldots, \Gamma^m \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  and Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}(a) = \sum_{\substack{k,k'=1\\k\neq k'}}^{m} \Gamma^k \Gamma^{k'} G(a^k, a^{k'}) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} \Gamma^k \Gamma^k h(a^k)$$

defined on  $\mathcal{F}_m(\Omega) = \{a = (a^1, \dots, a^m) \in \Omega^m : a^k \neq a^{k'} \text{ for all } k \neq k' \}$ . We require that the corresponding *m*-vortex system admits a stationary solution, cf. section 3.1.1. To be more precise we assume

(A1)  $\mathcal{H}$  has a nondegenerate critical point  $\alpha \in \mathcal{F}_m(\Omega)$ .

Next we fix a number  $l \in \{1, ..., m\}$ , which will be the number of vortices that are splitted into configurations consisting of more than a single vortex. Without restriction we take the first l vortices. I.e. for k = 1, ..., l choose  $N_k \ge 2$  vorticities  $\Gamma_1^k, \ldots, \Gamma_{N_k}^k \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , such that

(A2) 
$$\sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \Gamma_j^k = \Gamma^k$$
.

We then define the Hamiltonian  $H^k_{\mathbb{R}^2} : \mathcal{F}_{N_k}(\mathbb{R}^2) \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$H_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}^{k}(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{\substack{j,j'=1\\j\neq j'}}^{N_{k}} \Gamma_{j}^{k} \Gamma_{j'}^{k} \log |z_{j} - z_{j'}|$$

inducing the  $N_k$ -vortex system

$$\Gamma_j^k \dot{z}_j = J \nabla_{z_j} H_{\mathbb{R}^2}^k(z), \quad j = 1, \dots, N_k$$
(3.1)

on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

As mentioned in the introduction a  $\tilde{N}$ -vortex system on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  allows rigidly rotating solutions, also called relative equilibria, of the form  $Z(t) = e^{\omega J_{\tilde{N}}t}z$ ,  $\omega \neq 0$ , cf. section 3.1.2 for examples. Here  $J_{\tilde{N}} = \text{diag}(J, J, \dots, J) \in \mathbb{R}^{2\tilde{N} \times 2\tilde{N}}$ . Due to scaling  $Z(t) \rightarrow \lambda Z(t/\lambda^2)$ ,  $\lambda > 0$ , we can assume  $\omega = \pm 1$ . The corresponding  $2\pi$ -periodic relative equilibrium is called nondegenerate, if the linearized equation

$$\Gamma_j \dot{w}_j = J(\nabla^2 H_{\mathbb{R}^2}(Z(t))w)_j, \quad j = 1, \dots, \tilde{N}$$
(3.2)

has only 3 linear independent  $2\pi$ -periodic solutions. This is the minimal possible number due to the invariance under rotations and translations. Our third requirement is:

(A3) For  $k \in \{1, ..., l\}$  there exists a  $2\pi$ -periodic nondegenerate relative equilibrium solution  $Z^k(t) = e^{\pm J_{N_k} t} z^k$  of (3.1).

Note that condition (A2) can always be achieved by a change of time scale provided one has a relative equilibrium solution of (3.1) with  $\sum_{i} \Gamma_{i}^{k} \neq 0$ .

The remaining m-l vortices – which may be none – are not splitted into configurations. I.e. for k = l + 1, ..., m we let  $N_k = 1$ ,  $\Gamma_1^k = \Gamma^k$ ,  $H_{\mathbb{R}^2}^k : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $H_{\mathbb{R}^2}^k \equiv 0$  and  $Z^k : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $Z^k(t) \equiv 0$ .

The system under investigation is the generalized  $N := \sum_{k=1}^{m} N_k$ -vortex system

$$\Gamma_{j}^{k} \dot{z}_{j}^{k} = J \nabla_{z_{j}^{k}} H(z), \quad k = 1, \dots, m, \ j = 1, \dots, N_{k},$$
(3.3)

with Hamiltonian

$$H(z) = \sum_{(k,j) \neq (k',j')} \Gamma_{j}^{k} \Gamma_{j'}^{k'} G(z_{j}^{k}, z_{j'}^{k'}) - \sum_{(k,j)} \Gamma_{j}^{k} \Gamma_{j}^{k} h(z_{j}^{k}).$$

Here  $z = (z_1^1, \ldots, z_{N_1}^1, \ldots, z_1^m, \ldots, z_{N_m}^m) \in \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega)$  and the indices of the sums run through  $\{(k, j) : 1 \le k \le m, 1 \le j \le N_k\}$ . We equivalently write for (3.3)

$$M_{\Gamma}\dot{z} = J_N \nabla H(z)$$

with  $M_{\Gamma} = \text{diag}\left(\Gamma_1^1, \Gamma_1^1, \dots, \Gamma_{N_1}^1, \Gamma_{N_1}^1, \dots, \Gamma_1^m, \Gamma_1^m, \dots, \Gamma_{N_m}^m, \Gamma_{N_m}^m\right) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N \times 2N}$  and the symplectic matrix  $J_N = \text{diag}\left(J, \dots, J\right) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N \times 2N}$ .

As described before we will use the Sobolev spaces  $H_T^1 = H^1(\mathbb{R}/T\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ , T > 0 of continuous *T*-periodic functions with square-integrable derivative, equipped with the scalar product

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{H^1_T} = \int_0^T \langle u, v \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt + \int_0^T \langle \dot{u}, \dot{v} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt$$

and induced norm  $\|\cdot\|_{H^1_T}$ . For  $Z^1, \ldots, Z^m$  as defined before let

$$\mathcal{M} = \left\{ \left( Z^1(\cdot + \theta_1), \dots, Z^m(\cdot + \theta_m) \right) : \theta_1, \dots, \theta_m \in \mathbb{R} \right\} \subset H^1_{2\pi},$$
(3.4)

which is a *l*-dimensional submanifold, since  $Z^{l+1} = \ldots = Z^m = 0$ . And for an element  $a = (a^1, \ldots, a^m) \in \mathbb{R}^{2m}$  we define

$$\hat{a} = (a^1, \dots, a^1, a^2, \dots, a^2, \dots, a^m, \dots, a^m) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N_1} \times \dots \times \mathbb{R}^{2N_m} = \mathbb{R}^{2N}.$$

Now we are ready to formulate a first version of our theorem.

**Theorem 3.1.** Under the assumptions (A1)–(A3) there exists  $T_0 > 0$  such that for every  $T \in (0, T_0)$  the N-vortex type system (3.3) has l distinct T-periodic solutions that are in the following sense close to  $\alpha$  and  $(Z^1, \ldots, Z^m)$ : Let  $(z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence consisting of these periodic solutions with periods  $T_n \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ , then the kth components  $[z_n]_j^k$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, N_k$  converge to  $\alpha^k$  as  $n \to \infty$ ,  $k = 1, \ldots, m$ . Moreover, if we rescale  $z_n$ , such that

$$z_n(t) = r_n u_n \left(\frac{t}{r_n^2}\right) + \hat{\alpha}, \quad r_n = \sqrt{\frac{T_n}{2\pi}}, \quad u_n \in H^1_{2\pi},$$

then dist $(u_n, \mathcal{M}) \to 0$  with respect to  $\|\cdot\|_{H^1_{2\pi}}$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

So roughly speaking we can split vortices of a stationary solution into suitable rigidly rotating configurations and obtain periodic solutions. For fixed  $T \in (0, T_0)$  the multiplicity of the *T*-periodic solutions is based on the relative orientation of the *l* nontrivial configurations to each other.

Note that the conditions (A1), (A3) are only related to each other in the sense that the vorticities need to add up as stated in (A2). Also the specific relative equilibrium solutions can be choosen independently of each other. Under an additional technical assumption, that couples the critical point of  $\mathcal{H}$  and the relative equilibria  $Z^k$ , one could improve the multiplicity from l to  $2^{l-1}$  *T*-periodic solutions, cf. Section 3.4.1. This would also lead to global continua of solutions as in Theorem 3.9 below.

Next we will discuss and improve assumptions (A1), (A3) with respect to their applicability to the classical *N*-vortex system (1.3). Whenever we provide a function with an index  $\Omega$ , like  $\mathcal{H}_{\Omega}$ , we refer to the corresponding function induced by the regular part of the Dirichlet Green's function.

#### **3.1.1** Critical points of $\mathcal{H}_{\Omega}$

The search for stationary solutions in general domains itself is not an easy task. Of course there is one trivial case: If m = 1 the 1-vortex Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{\Omega}$  coincides up to a factor with the Robin function  $h_{\Omega}$ , which always has a minimum in bounded domains.

Concerning more vortices only in the last years some results on the existence of critical points of the *N*-vortex – in our case *m*-vortex – Hamiltonian for bounded domains could be achieved, examples include:

- $m \in \mathbb{N}, \Gamma^1 = \ldots = \Gamma^m \neq 0$  and  $\Omega$  not simply connected [28] or dumbell shaped [31],
- $m \in \{2, 3, 4\}$ , conditions on  $\Gamma^k$ , e.g. m = 2 and  $\Gamma^1 \Gamma^2 < 0$ ,  $\Omega$  arbitrary [16],
- *m* ∈ N, conditions on Γ<sup>k</sup> (different from the ones in [16]) for Ω arbitrary and for Ω not simply connected [49],
- *m* ∈ N, Γ<sup>k</sup> = (-1)<sup>k+1</sup>Γ<sup>1</sup>, Ω symmetric with respect to reflection at a line [17] or the action of a dihedral group [50].

None of the mentioned results addresses the question of nondegeneracy of the critical points, on which our proof relies. Indeed condition (A1) is for these solutions hard to check, since the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{\Omega}$  and the critical point  $\alpha$  are not explicitly known. However, a recent result of Bartsch, Micheletti and Pistoia [15] shows that  $\mathcal{H}_{\Omega}$  has only nondegenerate critical points for a generic bounded domain  $\Omega$ .

So if the vorticities  $\Gamma^1, \ldots, \Gamma^m$  allow the existence of a critical point of  $\mathcal{H}_{\Omega}$ , as for example in one of the listed cases, then condition (A1) is satisfied at least after an arbitrarily small deformation of the domain.

In some cases also explicit stationary configurations are known, for example if  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$ or  $\Omega = B_1(0)$ . But these are all degenerate due to the symmetries of the domain, i.e. if  $\alpha \in \mathcal{F}_m(B_1(0))$  is a critical point of  $\mathcal{H}_{B_1(0)}$ , then every  $e^{\lambda J_m} \alpha$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  is a critical point as well. Thus  $J_m \alpha \in \text{Kern } \nabla^2 \mathcal{H}_{B_1(0)}(\alpha)$  and condition (A1) is violated. But we will see that degeneracy induced by symmetries can still be handled, i.e. we may replace assumption (A1) by

- (A1')  $\mathcal{H}$  has a critical point  $\alpha \in \mathcal{F}_m(\Omega)$  and one of the following properties holds:
  - (i)  $\alpha$  is nondegenerate,
  - (ii)  $\Omega$  and g are radial  $(e^{\lambda J}\Omega = \Omega, g(e^{\lambda J}x, e^{\lambda J}y) = g(x, y)$  for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $x, y \in \Omega$ ) and dim Kern  $\nabla^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha) = 1$ ,
  - (iii)  $\Omega$  and g are in one direction translational invariant (there exists  $\nu \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ with  $\lambda \nu + \Omega = \Omega$ ,  $g(x + \lambda \nu, y + \lambda \nu) = g(x, y)$  for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $x, y \in \Omega$ ) and dim Kern  $\nabla^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha) = 1$ ,
  - (iv)  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $g(x, y) = \tilde{g}(|x y|)$  and dim Kern  $\nabla^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha) = 3$ .

Note that in the classical case  $g = g_{\Omega}$  always inherits the symmetries of the domain.

**Example 3.2.** Let  $\Omega$  be the unit disc  $B_1(0)$  and  $g = g_{B_1(0)}$  be the regular part of the Dirichlet Green's function of  $B_1(0)$ , which is given by

$$g(x,y) = g_{B_1(0)}(x,y) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \log \left( |x|^2 |y|^2 - 2 \langle x,y \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} + 1 \right).$$

The 2-vortex Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{B_1(0)}$  with vorticities  $\Gamma^1 = 1$ ,  $\Gamma^2 = -1$  satisfies (A1') with a degenerate critical point  $\alpha = ((\mu, 0), (-\mu, 0))$ , where  $\mu = \sqrt{\sqrt{5} - 2}$ . This will be shown in section 3.6.

**Remark 3.3.** If  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $g = g_{\mathbb{R}^2} \equiv 0$  then critical points of  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  exist depending on the vorticities  $\Gamma^1, \ldots, \Gamma^m$ . In the easiest case m = 3 vortices with strengths  $\Gamma^1, \Gamma^2, \Gamma^3$  satisfying  $\Gamma^1\Gamma^2 + \Gamma^1\Gamma^3 + \Gamma^2\Gamma^3 = 0$  are stationary when placed at certain distances along a fixed line, see Theorem 2.2.1 in [64]. More on stationary configurations can also be found in [5]. However, for every critical point  $\alpha$  of  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  the inequality dim Kern  $\nabla^2 \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{R}^2}(\alpha) \geq 4$  holds true. Here 3 dimensions of the kernel are induced by translations and rotations of the critical point  $\alpha$ . A fourth dimension by scaling, since differentiation of  $\lambda \mapsto \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{R}^2}(\lambda \alpha)$  at  $\lambda = 1$  shows that  $\sum_{k \neq k'} \Gamma^k \Gamma^{k'} = 0$  is a necessary condition for the existence of critical points. Therefore we have  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{R}^2}(\lambda \alpha) = \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{R}^2}(\alpha)$  and

Kern 
$$\nabla^2 \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{R}^2}(\alpha) \supset \{(a,\ldots,a) \in \mathbb{R}^{2m}\} \oplus \mathbb{R}J_m \alpha \oplus \mathbb{R}\alpha.$$

This means that (A1') never holds for critical points of the classical m-vortex Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$ , cf. Remark 3.14.

**Remark 3.4.** Another idea for the existence of periodic solutions is the Weinstein-Moser Theorem [10, 62, 77] to obtain periodics for the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{\Omega}$  itself via bifurcation from the critical point  $\alpha$ . But here one encounters the difficulties that  $\alpha$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{\Omega}$  are not explicitly known as well.

## 3.1.2 Relative equilibria on $\mathbb{R}^2$

For the *N*-vortex problem on  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$  quite a lot of rigidly rotating vortex configurations are known, see [4, 5] for an overview. Checking the nondegeneracy condition of such a configuration is, after writing (3.2) in a rotating coordinate frame, a matter of calculating the spectrum of a  $2N \times 2N$  matrix. The spectral properties of this matrix are also of interest in the investigation of the linear stability of the configuration as a periodic solution. So in section 3.5 we will use results of Roberts, [67] to verify the nondegeneracy.

**Example 3.5.** The following relative equilibrium solutions are nondegenerate after normalization (scaling and translation):

- N = 2,  $\Gamma_1 + \Gamma_2 \neq 0$ ,  $Z(0) \in \mathcal{F}_2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  arbitrary, cf. Example 3.21,
- N = 3,  $\Gamma_1 + \Gamma_2 + \Gamma_3 \neq 0$ ,  $0 \neq \Gamma_1 \Gamma_2 + \Gamma_1 \Gamma_3 + \Gamma_2 \Gamma_3 \neq \Gamma_1^2 + \Gamma_2^2 + \Gamma_3^2$ ,  $Z_1(0), Z_2(0), Z_3(0)$  forming an equilateral triangle, cf. Example 3.22,
- $N \ge 3$ ,  $\Gamma_1 = \ldots = \Gamma_N$ ,  $Z_j(0) = (x_k, 0)$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, N$  with  $x_1, \ldots, x_N$  being the roots of the Nth Hermitian polynomial, see Example 3.23.

Observe that the condition for the equilateral triangle configuration excludes the special case  $\Gamma_1 = \Gamma_2 = \Gamma_3$ . Nonetheless with a second refinement we can also treat this case leading to solutions for (3.3) in which the vortices of a subgroup may form choreographies.

The permutation group  $\Sigma_N$  of N symbols acts orthogonally on  $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$  via permutation of components, i.e.

$$\sigma * z = \left( z_{\sigma^{-1}(1)}, \ldots, z_{\sigma^{-1}(N)} 
ight), \quad \sigma \in \Sigma_N, \; z \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}.$$

**Definition 3.6.** A relative equilibrium solution Z(t) of the whole plane system is called  $\sigma$ -nondegenerate, provided  $\sigma * Z(\cdot + 2\pi) = Z$  and (3.2) has only three linear independent solutions satisfying  $\sigma * w(\cdot + 2\pi) = w$ .

Note that every nondegenerate relative equilibrium is  $\sigma$ -nondegenerate with  $\sigma = id_{\Sigma_N}$ . As a nontrivial example we have

**Example 3.7.**  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  identical vortices placed at the vertices of a regular N-Gon form a rigidly rotating configuration, called Thomson's N-Gon configuration. It is (after scaling) a  $\sigma$ -nondegenerate relative equilibrium solution with  $\sigma = (1 \ 2 \ \dots \ N) \in \Sigma_N$ , see Lemma 4.1 in [12].

Concerning our situation we weaken assumption (A3) to

(A3') For each  $k \in \{1, ..., l\}$  there exists  $\sigma_k \in \Sigma_{N_k}$  with  $\Gamma_j^k = \Gamma_{\sigma_k^{-1}(j)}^k$ ,  $j = 1, ..., N_k$ , as well as a  $\sigma_k$ -nondegenerate relative equilibrium  $Z^k(t) = \exp\left(\pm J_{N_k}t/\operatorname{ord}(\sigma_k)\right)z^k$  solving (3.1). For consistency in notation let  $Z^k \equiv 0$  and  $\sigma_k = \operatorname{id}_{\Sigma_1}$  in the case  $k \in \{l+1, ..., m\}$ .

#### 3.1.3 Statement of results part 2

For  $(\sigma_k, Z^k)_{k=1}^m$  as in assumption (A3') let  $\tau = 2\pi \operatorname{ord}(\sigma)$ , where  $\operatorname{ord}(\sigma)$  denotes the order of  $\sigma = (\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_m) \in \prod_k \Sigma_{N_k}$ , further on let  $\sigma * z = (\sigma_1 * z^1, \ldots, \sigma_m * z^m)$  for a vector  $z = (z^1, \ldots, z^m) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ . Observe that  $\mathcal{M}$  as defined in (3.4) is now contained in  $H^1_{\tau}$ . We have the following generalization of Theorem 3.1. **Theorem 3.8.** Assume that (A1'), (A2) and (A3') hold. Then there exists  $T_0 > 0$  such that (3.3) has l distinct T-periodic orbits for every  $T \in (0, T_0)$ . Similar to Theorem 3.1 if we rescale a sequence  $(z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  of these solutions with periods  $T_n \to 0$  by

$$z_n(t) = r_n u_n \left(\frac{t}{r_n^2}\right) + \hat{\alpha}, \quad r_n = \sqrt{\frac{T_n}{\tau}}, \quad u_n \in H^1_{\tau},$$

then dist $(u_n, \mathcal{M}) \to 0$  in  $H^1_{\tau}$ . Additionally the kth subgroup,  $k = 1, \ldots, m$  consisting of the  $N_k$ vortices  $z^k(t) = (z_1^k(t), \dots, z_{N_k}^k(t))$  of one of the *T*-periodic solutions z(t) inherits the symmetry of the relative equilibrium  $Z^{k}(t)$ , i.e.

$$\sigma * z(t + T/\operatorname{ord}(\sigma)) = z(t).$$

In the case that only the first vortex is splitted up into a configuration with at least two vortices, i.e. when l = 1, we can slightly improve Theorem 3.8.

**Theorem 3.9.** Let  $l = 1, q \in C^k(\Omega \times \Omega, \mathbb{R})$  with  $k \ge 2$ . If (A1')-(A3') hold, then there exists  $r_1 > 0$  and a  $C^{k-2}$  map  $u : [0, r_1) \to H^1_{\tau}$ ,  $r \mapsto u^{(r)}$  with  $u^{(0)} = Z = (Z^1, 0, \dots, 0) \in H^1_{\tau}$ ,  $\sigma * u^{(r)}(\cdot + 2\pi) = u^{(r)}$  and such that

$$z^{(r)}(t) = ru^{(r)}\left(\frac{t}{r^2}\right) + \hat{\alpha}$$

is a  $\tau r^2$ -periodic solution of (3.3) for every  $r \in (0, r_1)$ . If  $k \ge 3$ , then

$$\partial_r u^{(0)} \in \left\{ \hat{a} : a \in \mathbb{R}^{2m} \right\} \subset H^1_{\tau}$$

Moreover, if in (A1') (i) or (iii) is true, the family  $(z^{(r)})_{r \in (0,r_1)}$  gives rise to a global continuum  $C(\alpha, Z)$  of periodic (choreographic) solutions of (3.3) in the sense of Definition 2.11 (or Remark 2.14).

- a) In the cases (A1') (ii) or (iv) a global continuum of solutions is likely to Remark 3.10. exist as well, but this seems to require a further development of the degree theory, cf. Remark 3.19.
  - b) If m = l = 1 it is possible to obtain a global continuum of periodic solutions also under the weaker assumption that  $\alpha \in \Omega$  is only a topological stable critical point of the Robin function h, i.e. under the condition deg $(\nabla h, B_{\varepsilon}(\alpha)) \neq 0$  instead of det  $\nabla^2 h(\alpha) \neq 0$ . But in that situation the local part is not guaranteed to be a graph, see Thm. 2.1 in [13].
  - c) By our definition the global continuum  $C(\alpha, Z) \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times H^1$  contains the set

$$\left\{\left(\frac{\tau r^2}{2\pi}, r u^{(r)}\left(\frac{\tau}{2\pi}\right) + \hat{\alpha}\right) : r \in (0, r_1)\right\}.$$

#### 3.2 Ansatz and preliminaries

Fix  $\alpha$ ,  $Z^k$ ,  $\sigma_k$ , k = 1, ..., m according to (A1'), (A3') and let  $\sigma = (\sigma_1, ..., \sigma_m)$ . We are looking for a solution  $z : \mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega)$  where each subgroup of vortices  $(z_1^k(t), \ldots, z_{N_k}^k(t))$  is located near  $\alpha^k$  and forms a configuration close to a scaled version of the relative equilibrium  $Z^k(t)$ . In order to reformulate the problem we define

$$F(z) = \sum_{\substack{k,k'=1\\k\neq k'}}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \sum_{j'=1}^{N_{k'}} \Gamma_j^k \Gamma_{j'}^{k'} G(z_j^k + \alpha^k, z_{j'}^{k'} + \alpha^{k'}) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{j,j'=1}^{N_k} \Gamma_j^k \Gamma_{j'}^k g(z_j^k + \alpha^k, z_{j'}^k + \alpha^{k'})$$

together with the following Hamiltonians  $H_0: O_0 := \mathcal{F}_{N_1}(\mathbb{R}^2) \times \ldots \times \mathcal{F}_{N_m}(\mathbb{R}^2) \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$H_0(u) = \sum_{k=1}^m H_{\mathbb{R}^2}^k(u_1^k,\ldots,u_{N_k}^k)$$

and for r > 0,  $H_r : O_r := \left\{ u \in \mathbb{R}^{2N} : ru + \hat{\alpha} \in \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega) \right\} \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$H_r(u) = H_0(u) + F(ru) - \mathcal{H}(\alpha).$$

Observe that *F* is defined on an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$  containing 0.

**Lemma 3.11.** Let *I* be an open intervall and r > 0. Then  $z(t) = ru(t/r^2) + \hat{\alpha}$  solves (3.3) on *I* if and only if *u* solves

$$M_{\Gamma}\dot{u} = J_N \nabla H_r(u) \tag{3.5}$$

on  $r^2I$ .

*Proof.* Clearly z(t) as above is a solution of (3.3) if and only if

$$M_{\Gamma}\dot{u} = rJ_N \nabla H(ru + \hat{\alpha})$$

and

$$H(ru + \hat{\alpha}) = H_0(u) + F(ru) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{k=1}^m \sum_{\substack{j,j'=1\\j\neq j'}}^{N_k} \Gamma_j^k \Gamma_{j'}^k \log r.$$

**Lemma 3.12.** The set  $O := \bigcup_{r\geq 0} \{r\} \times O_r$  is open in  $[0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  and the family of Hamiltonians  $H : O \to \mathbb{R}, (r, u) \mapsto H_r(u)$  defines a  $C^2$  function, especially  $F(0) = \mathcal{H}(\alpha)$ . Furthermore,

$$\Gamma^{k} \nabla_{z_{j}^{k}} F(0) = \Gamma_{j}^{k} \nabla_{a^{k}} \mathcal{H}(\alpha) = 0,$$
  
$$\Gamma^{k} \left( \nabla^{2} F(0) \hat{a} \right)_{j}^{k} = \Gamma_{j}^{k} \left( \nabla^{2} \mathcal{H}(\alpha) a \right)^{k}$$
(3.6)

for any (k, j) and  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{2m}$ .

Proof. Openess and smoothness are easy to check, since by (A2) indeed

$$F(0) = \sum_{\substack{k,k'=1\\k\neq k'}}^{m} \Gamma^k \Gamma^{k'} G(\alpha^k, \alpha^{k'}) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} \Gamma^k \Gamma^k g(\alpha^k, \alpha^k) = \mathcal{H}(\alpha).$$

For the derivative of F with respect to  $z_j^k$  we have

$$\nabla_{z_{j}^{k}}F(z) = 2\sum_{\substack{k'=1\\k'\neq k}}^{m}\sum_{j'=1}^{N_{k'}}\Gamma_{j}^{k}\Gamma_{j'}^{k'}\nabla_{1}G(z_{j}^{k} + \alpha^{k}, z_{j'}^{k'} + \alpha^{k'}) - 2\sum_{j'=1}^{N_{k}}\Gamma_{j}^{k}\Gamma_{j'}^{k}\nabla_{1}g(z_{j}^{k} + \alpha^{k}, z_{j'}^{k} + \alpha^{k})$$

and therefore

$$\Gamma^{k} \nabla_{z_{j}^{k}} F(0) = \Gamma_{j}^{k} \Gamma^{k} \left( 2 \sum_{\substack{k'=1\\k' \neq k}}^{m} \Gamma^{k'} \nabla_{1} G(\alpha^{k}, \alpha^{k'}) - \Gamma^{k} \nabla h(\alpha^{k}) \right) = \Gamma_{j}^{k} \nabla_{a^{k}} \mathcal{H}(\alpha) = 0$$

by (A1'). Now let  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{2m}$ . The (k, j)th component of  $\nabla^2 F(0)\hat{a}$  is given by

$$\begin{split} \left(\nabla^2 F(0)\hat{a}\right)_j^k &= \sum_{k'=1}^m \left(\sum_{j'=1}^{N_{k'}} \nabla_{z_j^{k'}} \nabla_{z_j^k} F(0)\right) a^{k'} \\ &= 2\Gamma_j^k \sum_{\substack{k'=1\\k'\neq k}}^m \Gamma^{k'} \left(\nabla_1^2 G(\alpha^k, \alpha^{k'}) a^k + \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G(\alpha^k, \alpha^{k'}) a^{k'}\right) \\ &- \Gamma_j^k \Gamma^k (\underbrace{2\nabla_1^2 g(\alpha^k, \alpha^k) + 2\nabla_2 \nabla_1 g(\alpha^k, \alpha^k)}_{=\nabla^2 h(\alpha^k)}) a^k \\ &= \frac{\Gamma_j^k}{\Gamma^k} \sum_{k'=1}^m \nabla_{a^{k'}} \nabla_{a^k} \mathcal{H}(\alpha) a^{k'} = \frac{\Gamma_j^k}{\Gamma^k} \left(\nabla^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha) a\right)^k. \end{split}$$

Next we turn to the functional setting. Let  $\tau := 2\pi \operatorname{ord}(\sigma)$ . In order to find *T*-periodic solutions of (3.3) with T > 0 small, we use the variational structure of (3.5) to look for  $\tau$ -periodic solutions of (3.5) with r > 0 small. We work on the Sobolev space  $H_{\tau}^1$  as stated in section 3.1 and will also need the corresponding spaces  $L_{\tau}^2$  and  $H_{\tau}^2$ . The action functional associated to (3.5) is given by

$$\Phi_r(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\tau \langle M_\Gamma \dot{u}, J_N u \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt - \int_0^\tau H_r(u) dt = \Phi_0(u) - \int_0^\tau F(ru) dt + \tau \mathcal{H}(\alpha).$$

Let  $\Phi : \Lambda' \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(r, u) \mapsto \Phi_r(u)$ , where

$$\Lambda' := \left\{ (r, u) \in [0, \infty) \times H^1_\tau : (r, u(t)) \in O \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$

Then  $\Lambda'$  is open in  $[0, \infty) \times H^1_{\tau}$ , since  $H^1_{\tau}$  embeds into  $C^0_{\tau}$ ,  $\Phi \in C^2(\Lambda', \mathbb{R})$  due to Lemma 3.12 and we have to solve  $\nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$  for  $(r, u) \in \Lambda'$  with r > 0.

The action  $\sigma * z = (\sigma_1 * z^1, \dots, \sigma_m * z^m)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$ , induces an action on  $H^1_{\tau}$ . Let

$$X = \left\{ u \in H^1_{\tau} : \sigma * u(\cdot + 2\pi) = u \right\}, \quad \Lambda = \Lambda' \cap (\mathbb{R} \times X), \quad \Lambda_r = \left\{ u : (r, u) \in \Lambda \right\}.$$

Then X is a complete subspace of  $H_t^1$  and (A3') implies  $\nabla \Phi_r(u) \in X$  for  $(r, u) \in \Lambda$ , since indeed  $H_r(\sigma * z) = H_r(z)$ ,  $M_{\Gamma}(\sigma * z) = \sigma * (M_{\Gamma}z)$  yield  $\Phi_r(\sigma * u(\cdot + 2\pi)) = \Phi_r(u)$  for any  $(r, u) \in \Lambda'$ . So it is enough to find a critical point of the restriction  $\Phi_{r|\Lambda_r} : \Lambda_r \to \mathbb{R}$ . We denote the restriction  $\Phi_{|\Lambda}$  again by  $\Phi$ . As stated in 2.2.1 one has

$$\nabla \Phi_r(u) = \nabla \Phi_0(u) - (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} r \nabla F(ru) = (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} \left( -J_N M_\Gamma \dot{u} - \nabla H_0(u) - r \nabla F(ru) \right),$$

where  $\Delta: H^2_{\tau} \to L^2_{\tau}, u \mapsto \ddot{u}$ , such that for  $v \in H^1_{\tau}, w \in L^2_{\tau}$  the relation

$$\langle v, (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} w \rangle_{H^1_\tau} = \int_0^\tau \langle v, w \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt = \langle v, w \rangle_{L^2_\tau}$$

holds true. Note that actually  $\nabla \Phi \in C^1(\Lambda, H^2_{\tau} \cap X)$ , where  $H^2_{\tau} \cap X$  is equipped with the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{H^2_{\tau}}$ .

## 3.3 **Proof of Theorem 3.8**

For  $r \rightarrow 0$  the limiting equation of (3.5) is the decoupled system

$$\Gamma_{j}^{k}\dot{u}_{j}^{k} = J \nabla_{u_{j}^{k}} H_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}^{k}(u_{1}^{k}, \dots, u_{N_{k}}^{k}), \quad j = 1, \dots, N_{k}, \quad k = 1, \dots, m.$$

So by (A3'),  $Z(t) := (Z^1(t), \ldots, Z^m(t)) \in X$  is a critical point of  $\Phi_0$ , which of course is not isolated due to the symmetries of  $H_0$ . Let  $D = \{\hat{a} : a \in \mathbb{R}^{2m}\} \subset X$  and for a tuple  $\theta = (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_m) \in (\mathbb{R}/\tau\mathbb{Z})^m = \mathbb{T}^m, u \in X$  define the shifted version

$$\theta * u \in X$$
 by  $(\theta * u)_j^k = u_j^k (\cdot + \theta_k).$ 

Then  $\Phi_0(u + \hat{a}) = \Phi_0(u) = \Phi_0(\theta * u)$  for any  $u \in \Lambda_0$ ,  $\hat{a} \in D$ ,  $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^m$  indeed implies that

$$\left\{ \theta * Z + \hat{a} : \theta \in \mathbb{T}^m, a \in \mathbb{R}^{2m} \right\}$$

is a (l+2m)-dimensional critical manifold of  $\Phi_0$ . Since every  $Z^k$ , k = 1, ..., l is by assumption (A3') a  $\sigma_k$ -nondegenerate solution of (3.1), we have

$$\operatorname{Kern} \nabla^2 \Phi_0(Z) = \operatorname{span} \left\{ \dot{Z}^1, \dots, \dot{Z}^l \right\} \oplus D.$$
(3.7)

Here  $\dot{Z}^k$  is meant to be the element  $(0, \ldots, 0, \dot{Z}^k, 0, \ldots, 0) \in X$ . Whereas this degeneracy is natural for the limiting case r = 0, the functionals  $\Phi_r$  with r > 0 are in general neither invariant with respect to translations by elements of D nor under the action of  $\mathbb{T}^m$  - except for synchronous time shifts  $\theta = (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_1) \in \mathbb{T}^m$ . We would like to mention here that this loss of symmetry for r > 0 prevents us from simply using continuation theorems like Thm. 2.4 of [63].

To deal with the degeneracy of the limiting problem we modify our equation  $\nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$ . For a subspace  $Y \subset X$  we denote by  $P_Y : X \to Y$  the orthogonal projection onto Y and by  $Y^{\perp}$  the orthogonal complement of Y in X. Let

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{T}^m * Z, \quad Y = \left\{ \hat{a} : a \in \operatorname{Kern} \nabla^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha) \right\}^{\perp} \subset X.$$

Here the space Y is not to be confused with the space  $Y = H_{\tau}^2$  in the degree theoretic setting.

**Lemma 3.13.** There exist constants  $r_0, \rho > 0$  with  $[0, r_0) \times B_{\rho}(\mathcal{M}) \subset \Lambda$ , such that the map  $\psi : \mathcal{U} := [0, r_0) \times (B_{\rho}(\mathcal{M}) \cap Y) \to Y$ ,

$$\psi_r(u) = \begin{cases} (\mathrm{id} - P_D) \nabla \Phi_r(u) + \frac{1}{r^2} P_{D \cap Y} \nabla \Phi_r(u), & r > 0, \\ \nabla \Phi_0(u) - P_{D \cap Y} \nabla^2 F(0)u, & r = 0 \end{cases}$$

is continuous,  $C^1$  on  $\mathcal{U} \cap ((0, r_0) \times X)$  with  $D_u \psi$  continuous up to r = 0 and satisfies for  $(r, u) \in \mathcal{U}, r > 0$ :

$$abla \Phi_r(u) = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \psi_r(u) = 0.$$

Moreover,  $\mathcal{M}$  is a nondegenerate *l*-dimensional manifold of zeroes of  $\psi_0$ . I.e. for any  $v \in \mathcal{M}$  there holds

$$\psi_0(\upsilon) = 0$$
, Kern  $D\psi_0(\upsilon) = T_{\upsilon}\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{span}\left\{\dot{\upsilon}^1, \dots, \dot{\upsilon}^l\right\}$ 

*Proof.* As a first step observe that for positive  $r, \bar{\psi}_r : \Lambda_r \to X$ ,

$$\bar{\psi}_r(u) = (\mathrm{id} - P_D) \nabla \Phi_r(u) + \frac{1}{r^2} P_D \nabla \Phi_r(u)$$

$$= \nabla \Phi_0(u) - (\mathrm{id} - P_D) (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} r \nabla F(ru) - \frac{1}{r} P_D \nabla F(ru)$$
(3.8)

has the same zeroes as  $\nabla \Phi_r$ . In the second equation we used that  $\nabla \Phi_0$  maps into  $D^{\perp}$ , since  $\Phi_0$  is invariant with respect to translations. Clearly  $\bar{\psi}$  is  $C^1$  as long as r > 0. Since F is  $C^2$  and  $\nabla F(0) = 0$ ,  $\bar{\psi}_r$  extends as  $r \to 0$  continuously to  $\bar{\psi}_0 : \Lambda_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\bar{\psi}_0(u) = \nabla \Phi_0(u) - P_D \nabla^2 F(0) u.$$

The partial derivative  $D_u \bar{\psi} : \Lambda \to \mathcal{L}(X)$  is continuous as well and the regularity of  $\bar{\psi}$  will carry over to  $\psi$  once we have defined it.

Now let  $v \in \mathcal{M}$ . Since  $Z^k(t) = \exp(\pm J_{N_k}t/\operatorname{ord}(\sigma_k))z^k$  or  $Z^k(t) \equiv 0$  due to (A3'), we see that  $\nabla^2 F(0)v \in D^{\perp} \subset Y$ . Hence  $\bar{\psi}_0(v) = 0$ . Next

$$\operatorname{Kern} D\bar{\psi}_0(v) = \left(\operatorname{span}\left\{\dot{v}^1, \dots, \dot{v}^l\right\} \oplus D\right) \cap \operatorname{Kern} P_D \nabla^2 F(0)$$

and

$$P_D \nabla^2 F(0) \left[ \sum_k \lambda_k \dot{v}^k + \hat{a} \right] = P_D \nabla^2 F(0) \hat{a}.$$

By Lemma 3.12,  $\nabla^2 F(0)\hat{a} = M_{\Gamma}\hat{b}$  with  $b^k = \frac{1}{\Gamma^k} (\nabla^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha)a)^k$ , which projected onto D gives  $P_D M_{\Gamma}\hat{b} = \hat{c}$  with  $c^k = \frac{\Gamma^k}{N_k} b^k$ . Hence we see that  $\sum_k \lambda_k \dot{v}^k + \hat{a}$  is an element of the kernel of  $D\bar{\psi}_0(v)$  if and only if  $a \in \text{Kern } \nabla^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha)$ , which means  $\hat{a} \in Y^{\perp}$ . So if we restrict  $\bar{\psi}$  to  $\psi$  as stated in the Lemma, especially  $D\psi_0(v) = P_Y D\bar{\psi}_0(v) : Y \to Y$ , we get

Kern 
$$D\psi_0(v) = \operatorname{span}\left\{\dot{v}^1,\ldots,\dot{v}^l\right\} = T_v\mathcal{M}.$$

It remains to prove that  $\psi_r(u) = 0$  for r > 0 small,  $u \in Y$  close to  $\mathcal{M}$  implies  $\nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$ . Note that  $\psi_r(u) = 0$  if and only if  $P_Y \nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$ . If  $\alpha \in \mathcal{F}_m(\Omega)$  is a nondegenerate critical point of  $\mathcal{H}$  as in (A1')(i), we have Y = X and are done. Otherwise by (A1'),  $\Omega$ , g and hence also G and h are invariant with respect to translations and/or rotations.

Assume first that (iii) of (A1') holds, i.e.  $\lambda v + \Omega = \Omega$ ,  $g(x + \lambda v, y + \lambda v) = g(x, y)$  for any  $x, y \in \Omega, \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  and some  $v \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{H}(\alpha + \lambda \check{v}) = \mathcal{H}(\alpha)$ , where  $\check{v} = (v, \ldots, v) \in \mathbb{R}^{2m}$ , and  $\Phi_r(u + \lambda \check{v}) = \Phi_r(u)$  show that  $\dot{\tilde{v}} \in Y^{\perp}$  and  $\langle \nabla \Phi_r(u), \dot{\tilde{v}} \rangle = 0$  for any  $u \in \Lambda_r$ . So if v is the only direction, in which g is invariant, then  $X = Y \oplus \mathbb{R}^{\check{v}}$  by (A1') and  $P_Y \nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$  automatically gives  $\nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$ .

If  $\Omega$  and g are rotational invariant, i.e.  $e^{\lambda J}\Omega = \Omega$ ,  $g(e^{\lambda J}x, e^{\lambda J}y) = g(x, y)$  for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $x, y \in \Omega$ , we obtain  $J_m \alpha \in \text{Kern } \nabla^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha)$ , since  $\mathcal{H}(e^{\lambda J_m}\alpha) = \mathcal{H}(\alpha)$  for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . For  $\Phi_r$  there holds

$$\Phi_r\left(e^{\lambda J_N}\left(u+\frac{1}{r}\hat{\alpha}\right)-\frac{1}{r}\hat{\alpha}\right)=\Phi_r(u)$$

and therefore  $\langle \nabla \Phi_r(u), J_N(ru + \hat{\alpha}) \rangle = 0$  for any  $u \in \Lambda_r$ . Assuming that  $\Omega$ , g have no other symmetry properties leads to the fact that  $P_Y \nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$  implies  $\nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$  as long as  $X = Y \oplus \mathbb{R}J_N(ru + \hat{\alpha})$ . Due to  $J_N \hat{\alpha} \in Y^{\perp}$  we can find a subset  $[0, r_0) \times B_\rho(\mathcal{M}) \subset \Lambda$  on which this condition holds. This settles case (A1')(ii). In the remaining case (A1')(iv), where  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$  we have to choose the neighbourhood of  $\{0\} \times \mathcal{M}$  such that

$$X = Y \oplus \operatorname{span} \left\{ \tilde{e}_1, \tilde{e}_2, J_N(ru + \hat{\alpha}) \right\}.$$

**Remark 3.14.** If  $\alpha$  is a critical point of  $\mathcal{H}$  not satisfying (A1'), then Lemma 3.13 remains true with the exception that  $\psi_r(u) = 0$  only implies  $P_V \nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$ .

So far we have reduced the degeneracy of the limiting problem by  $2m = \dim D$  dimensions. To overcome the remaining degeneracy induced by the *l* independent time shifts of  $Z^1, \ldots, Z^l$  we perform a Lyapunov-Schmidt reduction.

For  $v \in \mathcal{M}$  denote by  $P_v : X \to T_v \mathcal{M} \subset Y$  the orthogonal projection onto  $T_v \mathcal{M}$ . Moreover, define  $\tilde{\psi} : \tilde{\mathcal{U}} := [0, r_0) \times \mathcal{M} \times (B_\rho(0) \cap Y) \to Y$ ,

$$\psi(r, \upsilon, w) = (\mathrm{id} - P_{\upsilon})\psi_r(\upsilon + w) + P_{\upsilon}w.$$

Since  $\mathcal{M} \ni v \mapsto P_v \in \mathcal{L}(X)$  is  $C^1$ , we have  $\tilde{\psi} \in C^1$  where r > 0, as well as continuity of  $\tilde{\psi}$ ,  $D_v \tilde{\psi}$ ,  $D_w \tilde{\psi}$  on all of  $\tilde{\mathcal{U}}$ . For  $(r, v, w) \in \tilde{\mathcal{U}}$  there holds

$$\psi_r(\upsilon+w) = 0, \ w \perp T_{\upsilon}\mathcal{M} \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \begin{cases} P_{\upsilon}\psi_r(\upsilon+w) = 0, \\ \tilde{\psi}(r,\upsilon,w) = 0. \end{cases}$$

**Lemma 3.15.** Shrinking both  $r_0 > 0$  and  $\rho > 0$  if necessary, we find a continuous map  $W : [0, r_0) \times \mathcal{M} \to B_{\rho}(0) \cap Y$  satisfying  $W(r, v) \perp T_v \mathcal{M}$  for any  $(r, v) \in [0, r_0) \times \mathcal{M}$  and

$$\psi(r, v, w) = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad w = W(r, v)$$

on  $\tilde{\mathcal{U}}$ . Moreover, each  $W(r, \cdot) : \mathcal{M} \to B_{\rho}(0)$  is equivariant with respect to the orthogonal action of  $\{\theta \in \mathbb{T}^m : \theta_1 = \ldots = \theta_m\} \cong S^1$  on X. Concerning regularity we have  $W \in C^1((0, r_0) \times \mathcal{M})$ , and  $D_v W$  is as W itself continuous up to r = 0.

*Proof.* Let  $v \in \mathcal{M}$ . One has  $\tilde{\psi}(0, v, 0) = 0$  and

$$T := D_{w}\psi(0, v, 0) = (\mathrm{id} - P_{v})D\psi_{0}(v) + P_{v} = D\psi_{0}(v) + P_{v}$$

has trivial kernel by Lemma 3.13. But note that  $\text{Range}(T) \neq Y$ , in fact *T* is an isomorphism between *Y* and  $H^2_{\tau} \cap Y$ , which, similar to the proof of Theorem 2.7, can be seen in the following way:

Let  $P_0 : H^1_{\tau} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  be the orthogonal projection onto the space of constant functions and  $L : H^s_{\tau} \to H^{s+1}_{\tau}$ ,  $u \mapsto (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1}(-J_N M_{\Gamma} \dot{u}) + P_0 u$ . Then L is an isomorphism, also when viewed as a mapping from  $Y \to H^2_{\tau} \cap Y$ . Since v is smooth,  $L^{-1}\tilde{\psi}(0, v, \cdot) - \mathrm{id} : B_{\rho}(0) \cap Y \to Y$ is continuously differentiable and maps bounded subsets onto relatively compact subsets. Hence  $L^{-1}T : Y \to Y$  is an index 0 Fredholm operator with trivial kernel. Therefore also  $T : Y \to LY = H^2_{\tau} \cap Y$  is an isomorphism.

Note also that  $\tilde{\psi}$  viewed as a map into  $H^2_{\tau} \cap Y$  with  $\|\cdot\|_{H^2_{\tau}}$  instead of Y has the same regularity as the original  $\tilde{\psi}$ . So the implicit function theorem yields local maps  $W_v$  solving the stated equation on  $[0, r_v) \times U_v \times B_{\rho_v}(0)$ , where  $U_v \subset \mathcal{M}$  is an open neighbourhood of v.

However, the compactness of  $\mathcal{M}$  and the uniqueness of the solution allow us to construct a global map  $W : [0, r_0) \times \mathcal{M} \to B_{\rho}(0) \cap Y$  as requested by the Lemma. The equivariance of every  $W(r, \cdot)$  with respect to synchronuous time shifts follows from the corresponding equivariance of  $\tilde{\psi}$ , i.e.  $\tilde{\psi}(r, \theta * v, \theta * w) = \theta * \tilde{\psi}(r, v, w)$ . For  $r \in (0, r_0)$ ,  $v \in \mathcal{M}$  it now remains to solve

$$P_{\upsilon}\psi_r(\upsilon+W(r,\upsilon))=0.$$

Therefore let  $\varphi : [0, r_0) \times \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\varphi(r,v) = \varphi_r(v) = \Phi_r(v + W(r,v)). \tag{3.9}$$

**Lemma 3.16.** There exists  $r_1 \in (0, r_0)$  such that  $r \in (0, r_1)$ ,  $v \in \mathcal{M}$  with  $D\varphi_r(v) = 0$  imply  $P_v \psi_r(v + W(r, v)) = 0$ .

*Proof.* Differentiation of  $P_vW(0, v) = 0$  shows that  $P_vD_vW(0, v) = 0$ . We therefore have  $P_vD_vW(r, v) = o(1)$  uniformly in  $v \in \mathcal{M}$  as  $r \to 0$  and thus can choose  $r_1 \in (0, r_0)$  such that  $\|P_vD_vW(r, v)\|_{\mathcal{L}(T_v\mathcal{M})} \leq \frac{1}{2}$  for every  $(r, v) \in (0, r_1) \times \mathcal{M}$ .

Assume  $D\varphi_r(v) = 0$  for some  $0 < r < r_1, v \in \mathcal{M}$ . Using  $P_v \circ P_D = 0$  one sees that  $\tilde{\psi}(r, v, W(r, v)) = 0$  implies

$$(\mathrm{id} - P_{\upsilon})P_{Y}\nabla\Phi_{r}(\upsilon + W(r,\upsilon)) = 0.$$
(3.10)

Thus we obtain for  $v' \in T_v \mathcal{M}$ 

$$0 = D\varphi_r(v)v' = \langle \nabla \Phi_r(v + W(r, v)), (\operatorname{id} + D_v W(r, v))v' \rangle$$
  
=  $\langle P_Y \nabla \Phi_r(v + W(r, v)), P_Y(\operatorname{id} + D_v W(r, v))v' \rangle$   
=  $\langle P_v P_Y \nabla \Phi_r(v + W(r, v)), (\operatorname{id} + P_v D_v W(r, v))v' \rangle$  (3.11)

and conclude  $P_v\psi_r(v+W(r,v)) = P_vP_V\nabla\Phi_r(v+W(r,v)) = 0$ , since by our choice of  $r_1$  the map id  $+P_vD_vW(r,v): T_v\mathcal{M} \to T_v\mathcal{M}$  is an isomorphism.

Now it remains to investigate critical points of  $\varphi_r$  for  $r \in (0, r_1)$ .

Proof of Theorem 3.8. Let  $r \in (0, r_1)$ . The reduced functional  $\varphi_r$  is invariant with respect to the action of  $\{\theta \in \mathbb{T}^m : \theta_1 = \ldots = \theta_m\}$ , which is smooth on  $\mathcal{M}$ . So every critical point of  $\varphi_r$  belongs to a whole orbit of critical points. If l = 1, we are done. Otherwise we can find on each of the critical orbits a point of the form  $(v^1, \ldots, v^{l-1}, Z^l, 0, \ldots, 0) \in \mathcal{M}$ . Therefore the number of critical orbits is given by the number of critical points of  $\mathbb{T}^{l-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\theta \mapsto \varphi_r((\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{l-1}, 0, \ldots, 0) * Z)$ , for which the Lusternik-Schnirelmann category of  $\mathbb{T}^{l-1}$  provides l as a minimal bound, see for example [23].

This way we have found for every  $r \in (0, r_1) l$  critical points of  $\Phi_r$  lying on distinct orbits. Let  $u = v + W(r, v) \in Y$  be one of them. Then  $z(t) = ru(t/r^2) + \hat{\alpha}$  is by construction a  $T(r) = \tau r^2 = 2\pi \operatorname{ord}(\sigma)r^2$ -periodic solution of (3.3), for which the properties of Theorem 3.8 hold.

## **3.4** Additional information and the case l = 1

For now we just continue our investigation with  $l \in \{1, ..., m\}$  arbitrary.

**Lemma 3.17.** Let  $r \in (0, r_1)$ ,  $\bar{v} \in \mathcal{M}$  be a critical point of  $\varphi_r$ , which means  $\nabla \Phi_r(\bar{u}) = 0$  with  $\bar{u} = \bar{v} + W(r, \bar{v})$ . Then

Kern 
$$\nabla^2 \Phi_r(\bar{u}) \cap Y = (\mathrm{id} + D_v W(r, \bar{v}))$$
 Kern  $D^2 \varphi_r(\bar{v})$ .

*Proof.* With the modified function  $\psi$  from 3.13 we have Kern  $D\psi_r(\bar{u}) = \text{Kern } \nabla^2 \Phi_r(\bar{u}) \cap Y$ . Now  $(\text{id} - P_{\bar{v}})D\psi_r(\bar{u}) + P_{\bar{v}} = D_w \tilde{\psi}(r, \bar{v}, W(r, \bar{v})) : Y \to Y \cap H^2_{\tau}$  is an isomorphism for every r > 0 small enough and  $(\text{id} - P_{\bar{v}})D\psi_r(\bar{u}) : Y \to Y \cap H^2_{\tau}$  is a Fredholm operator with index 0, cf. proof of Lemma 3.15. Thus by shrinking  $r_1$  if necessary we get dim Kern(id  $-P_{\bar{v}}$ ) $D\psi_r(\bar{u}) = l$ . On the other hand we know from Lemma 3.15, that  $(id - P_v)\psi_r(v + W(r, v)) = 0$  for every  $v \in \mathcal{M}$ , and hence

$$(\mathrm{id} - P_{\bar{\upsilon}})D\psi_r(\bar{u})(\mathrm{id} + D_{\upsilon}W(r,\bar{\upsilon}))\upsilon' = 0$$

for  $v' \in T_{\bar{v}}\mathcal{M}$ . So

$$\operatorname{Kern} \nabla^2 \Phi_r(\bar{u}) \cap Y = \{ v' + D_v W(r, \bar{v}) v' : v' \in T_{\bar{v}} \mathcal{M} \} \cap \operatorname{Kern} P_{\bar{v}} D \psi_r(\bar{u}) \}$$

Next (3.11) shows that  $v' \in \text{Kern } D^2 \varphi_r(\bar{v})$  iff  $P_{\bar{v}} P_Y \nabla^2 \Phi_r(\bar{u})(\text{id} + D_v W(r, \bar{v}))v' = 0$  and we conclude the statement since  $P_{\bar{v}} P_Y \nabla^2 \Phi_r(\bar{u})|_Y = P_{\bar{v}} D\psi_r(\bar{u})$ .

**Lemma 3.18.** Let  $g \in C^k(\Omega \times \Omega, \mathbb{R})$  with  $k \ge 2$ . The map  $W : [0, r_0) \times \mathcal{M} \to H^1_{\tau}$  is of class  $C^{k-2}$ . Furthermore, if  $k \ge 3$ ,  $\partial_r W(0, v) \in D$  for any  $v \in \mathcal{M}$ .

*Proof.* Since  $\mathcal{M} \ni v \mapsto P_v \in \mathcal{L}(X)$  is  $C^{\infty}$  and since W is implicitly defined, the regularity of W is induced by  $\psi$ . With  $g \in C^k$  we also have  $F \in C^k$  and hence  $\Phi \in C^k$ . Then by the definition of  $\psi$  in 3.13 one sees that  $\psi$  is indeed of class  $C^{k-2}$  provided the map  $\kappa : \mathcal{U} \to L^2(\mathbb{R}/\tau\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ ,

$$\kappa(r, u) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{r} \nabla F(ru), & r > 0, \\ \nabla^2 F(0)u, & r = 0 \end{cases}$$

is  $C^{k-2}$ . In order to proove this observe that  $\kappa$  is  $C^k$  as long as r > 0. The continuity up to r = 0 follows as in the proof of Lemma 3.13 from the fact that F is  $C^2$  and that  $\nabla F(0) = 0$ . Also the partial dervivatives that include at least one differentiation of  $\kappa$  with respect to u are easily seen to extend in a continuous way as  $r \to 0$ . So we have to look at the partial derivative

$$\partial_r^{k-2}\kappa(r,u) = \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} \frac{(k-2)!}{j!} (-1)^{k-j} \frac{1}{r^{k-1-j}} F^{(j+1)}(ru)[u]^j,$$

where  $(r, u) \in \mathcal{U}$  with r > 0. Now a (pointwise) expansion of  $F^{(j+1)}$  gives

$$F^{(j+1)}(ru)[u]^{j} = \sum_{l=0}^{k-2-j} \frac{r^{l}}{l!} F^{(j+1+l)}(0)[u]^{j+l} + \frac{r^{k-1-j}}{(k-1-j)!} F^{(k)}(\xi u)[u]^{k-1}$$

for some  $\xi = \xi(j, u, t) \in (0, r)$ . But as  $r \to 0$  we obtain for the remainder

$$F^{(k)}(\xi u)[u]^{k-1} = F^{(k)}(0)[u]^{k-1} + o(1)$$

with respect to  $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\tau}}$  and uniformly in  $u \in B_{\rho}(\mathcal{M})$ . Thus

$$\begin{split} \partial_r^{k-2} \kappa(r,u) &= \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} \sum_{l=0}^{k-2-j} \frac{(k-2)!(-1)^{k-j}}{j!l!} \frac{1}{r^{k-1-l-j}} F^{(j+1+l)}(0) [u]^{j+l} \\ &+ \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} \frac{(k-2)!(-1)^{k-j}}{j!(k-1-j)!} F^{(k)}(0) [u]^{k-1} + o(1) \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{k-2} \left( \frac{(k-2)!(-1)^k}{n!r^{k-1-n}} F^{(n+1)}(0) [u]^n \sum_{j=0}^n \frac{n!(-1)^j}{j!(n-j)!} \right) \\ &+ F^{(k)}(0) [u]^{k-1} \int_0^1 (1-s)^{k-2} \, ds + o(1) \\ &= \frac{1}{k-1} F^{(k)}(0) [u]^{k-1} + o(1). \end{split}$$

So the partial derivatives  $\partial_r^j \kappa$ , j = 1, ..., k - 2 exist and are continuous on all of  $\mathcal{U}$ .

For the second part assume that  $g \in C^3$ . Now *W* is  $C^1$  on all of  $[0, r_0) \times M$  and we know by Lemma 3.15 that

$$(\mathrm{id} - P_v)P_V \nabla \Phi_r(v + W(r, v)) = 0, \quad P_v W(r, v) = 0$$

for r > 0 small, cf. equation (3.10). Differentiation of both equations with respect to r at r = 0 and the use of  $\partial_r \nabla \Phi_0(v) = 0$  as well as  $(id - P_v)P_V \nabla^2 \Phi_0(v) = \nabla^2 \Phi_0(v)$  shows

$$\partial_r W(0, \upsilon) \in \operatorname{Kern} \nabla^2 \Phi_0(\upsilon) \cap (T_\upsilon \mathcal{M})^\perp = D.$$

Proof of Theorem 3.9. Let now l = 1. In that case the reduced map  $\varphi_r$  is in fact constant. Hence the demanded solutions of  $\nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$  can be parameterized by  $u : [0, r_1) \to H^1_{\tau}$ ,  $r \mapsto u^{(r)} = Z + W(r, Z)$ , where  $r_1 > 0$  is taken from Lemma 3.16 and  $Z = (Z^1, 0 \dots, 0) \in \mathcal{M}$ . By Lemma 3.18 this parametrization is indeed  $C^{k-2}$  provided  $g \in C^k$ ,  $k \ge 2$  and  $\partial_r u^{(0)} \in D$  when  $k \ge 3$ .

It remains to prove the part concerning the global continuum. Assume that (A1') (i) holds. Then X = Y and by Lemma 3.17

$$\operatorname{Kern} \nabla^2 \Phi_r(u^{(r)}) = (\operatorname{id} + D_v W(r, Z)) \operatorname{Kern} D^2 \varphi_r(Z) = (\operatorname{id} + D_v W(r, Z)) \mathbb{R} \dot{Z} = \mathbb{R} \dot{u}^{(r)},$$

where the last equality holds due to the equivariance of *W*. By Theorem 2.5 and Theorem 2.3 the local family  $(u^{(r)})_r$  implies the existence of a global connected set  $\tilde{C} \subset \Lambda$ , such that  $ru(t/r^2) + \hat{\alpha}$  is a  $\tau r^2$ -periodic solution of (3.3) for every  $(r, u) \in \tilde{C}$ . Via the rescaling

$$C = \left\{ \left( \frac{\tau r^2}{2\pi}, ru\left( \frac{\tau}{2\pi} \cdot \right) + \hat{\alpha} \right) : (r, u) \in \tilde{C} \right\},\$$

such that  $(s, v) \in C$  implies  $v(\cdot/s)$  is a  $2\pi s$ -periodic solution of 3.3, we translate this continuum into a continuum  $C \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times H^1_{2\pi}$  satisfying the properties of Corollary 2.9 and/or Remark 2.14.

If (A1') (iii) holds, then the orbits  $S^1 * u^{(r)}$  are not isolated critical orbits of  $\Phi_r$ . But we still can argue in the same way as before with the difference that we now have to work on the space  $Y = \{ u \in X : \langle u, \hat{v} \rangle_X \}$  instead of *X*. For this reasoning it is important that  $\nabla \Phi$  maps  $\Lambda \cap Y$  into *Y*.

**Remark 3.19.** In the cases (A1')(ii) or (iv) the orbits  $S^1 * u^{(r)}$  are also not isolated. Additionally, since the symmetry group of rotations is now nonlinear,  $\Lambda \cap Y$  is not mapped into Y by  $\nabla \Phi$ , which prevents us from using the degree. One could try to factor out the rotational symmetry and establish the degree theory in the quotient manifold setting, but this has not been done.

#### **3.4.1** The case l > 1

For the case l > 1 a corresponding result would be true provided one knows that  $\varphi_r$  for every r > 0 small is a Morse function except for synchronuous time shifts. This would not only imply that the solution set of  $\nabla \Phi_r(u) = 0$  close to  $\{0\} \times \mathcal{M}$  is a union of graphs and that these graphs induce global continua of solutions, but also increase for fixed r > 0 the number of existing solutions to  $2^{l-1}$ , which is the bound given by Morse theory.

However, a verification of the Morse property seems quite difficult. Suppose for simplicity that g is  $C^{\infty}$ , such that  $\varphi : [0, r_1) \times \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\varphi_r(v) = \Phi_r(v + W(r, v))$  is also of class  $C^{\infty}$ . Obviously  $\varphi_0(v) = \Phi_0(v)$  is independent of  $v \in \mathcal{M}$ . So we will expand  $\varphi$  with respect to r. By (3.10) and since  $W(r, v) \in Y \cap (T_v \mathcal{M})^{\perp}$  we have

$$\left\langle \nabla \Phi_r(\upsilon + W(r,\upsilon)), \partial_r^k W(r,\upsilon) \right\rangle_{H^1_\tau} = \left\langle (\mathrm{id} - P_\upsilon) P_Y \nabla \Phi_r(\upsilon + W(r,\upsilon)), \partial_r^k W(r,\upsilon) \right\rangle_{H^1_\tau} = 0.$$
(3.12)

Thus  $\partial_r \varphi_r(v) = \partial_r \Phi_r(v + W(r, v))$  and especially  $\partial_r \varphi_0(v) = 0$ . Differentiation of (3.12) shows that the second derivative can be expressed by

$$\partial_r^2 \varphi_r(\upsilon) = \partial_r^2 \Phi_r(\upsilon + W(r,\upsilon)) - \left\langle \nabla^2 \Phi_r(\upsilon + W(r,\upsilon)) \partial_r W(r,\upsilon), \partial_r W(r,\upsilon) \right\rangle_{H^1_\tau}.$$

In particular, since  $\partial_r W(0, v) \in D$ ,

$$\partial_r^2 \varphi_0(\upsilon) = \partial_r^2 \Phi_0(\upsilon) = -\int_0^\tau \left\langle \nabla^2 F(0)\upsilon, \upsilon \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt.$$

We will show that this function is in fact also independent of  $v \in M$ . Recall that

$$\begin{split} F(z) &= \sum_{\substack{k,k'=1\\k\neq k'}}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \sum_{j'=1}^{N_{k'}} \Gamma_j^k \Gamma_{j'}^{k'} G(z_j^k + \alpha^k, z_{j'}^{k'} + \alpha^{k'}) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{j,j'=1}^{N_k} \Gamma_j^k \Gamma_{j'}^k g(z_j^k + \alpha^k, z_{j'}^k + \alpha^k) \\ &=: F_0(z) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F_k(z). \end{split}$$

For k = 1, ..., m the map  $F_k(z)$  does only depend on the components  $z^k$ . Thus if we write  $v = \theta * Z \in \mathcal{M}, \theta = (\theta_1, ..., \theta_m) \in \mathbb{T}^m$  and substitute  $\tilde{t} = t + \theta_k$ , we see that

$$\int_0^\tau \left\langle \nabla^2 F_k(0)\upsilon, \upsilon \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt = \partial_{\varepsilon|\varepsilon=0}^2 \int_0^\tau F_k(\varepsilon\upsilon) dt$$

does only depend on  $Z^k$  and not on  $\theta$  resp. v. With the same argument we obtain for some constant  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\tau \left\langle \nabla^2 F_0(0)v, v \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt &= c + 2 \sum_{k \neq k'} \sum_j \sum_{j'} \Gamma_j^k \Gamma_{j'}^{k'} \int_0^\tau \left\langle \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G(\alpha^k, \alpha^{k'}) v_{j'}^{k'}, v_j^k \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} dt \\ &= c + 2 \sum_{k \neq k'} \int_0^\tau \left\langle \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G(\alpha^k, \alpha^{k'}) c_{k'}, c_k \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} dt, \end{split}$$

where  $c_k$  denotes the center of vorticity of the whole plane solution  $v^k$ , i.e.

$$c_k = \sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \Gamma_j^k \upsilon_j^k.$$

In general the center of vorticity is preserved along solutions of the whole plane systems, see for example [64]. In our case we have  $c_k = 0$ , since  $v^k(t)$  is a relative equilibrium solution rigidly rotating around the origin. Thus also the second derivative  $\partial_r^2 \varphi_0(v)$  is independent of v.

One step further one can also show that the third derivative

$$\partial_r^3 \varphi_0(v) = \partial_r^3 \Phi_r(v + W(r, v)) = -\int_0^\tau F^{(3)}(0)[v]^3 dt$$

does not depend on  $v \in \mathcal{M}$ . Only the fourth order expansion of  $\varphi_r$  at r = 0 has a chance to be a Morse function, since it involves among other, less explicit terms containing  $\partial_r^2 W(0, v)$  the term  $\int_0^\tau F^{(4)}(0)[v]^4 dt$ . At least the latter seems not to be constant, since we can not recover the center of vorticity in "biquadratic" terms like

$$\sum_{j} \sum_{j'} \Gamma_{j} \Gamma_{j'} D_1^2 D_2^2 G(\alpha^k, \alpha^{k'}) [v_j^k, v_j^k, v_{j'}^{k'}, v_{j'}^{k'}].$$

That the critical points of  $\partial_r^4 \varphi_0(v)$  are indeed nondegenerate (up to synchronuous time shifts) has not been investigated further.

## 3.5 Examples of nondegenerate relative equilibria

Let  $Z(t) = e^{-\omega J_N t} z$ ,  $z \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  fix, be a rigidly rotating solution of the whole plane system

$$M_{\Gamma} \dot{z} = J_N \nabla H_{\mathbb{R}^2}(z). \tag{3.13}$$

We define the so called stability matrix

$$A = J_N(M_{\Gamma}^{-1} \nabla^2 H_{\mathbb{R}^2}(z) + \omega \cdot \mathrm{id}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N \times 2N}.$$

If we rewrite (3.13) in a rotating coordinate frame  $w(t) = e^{-\omega J_N t} z(t)$ , then *Z* is a nondegenerate relative equilibrium if and only if

$$\dot{w} = Aw \tag{3.14}$$

has only 3 linear independent  $\frac{2\pi}{|\omega|}$ -periodic solutions.

In order to check this for concrete examples we shall use results of Roberts [67], who studied the linear stability of relative equilibria and therefore investigated the spectrum of *A*. For the convenience of the reader we recall Lemma 2.4 and some consequences from [67]. For  $v \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  we use the notation  $E_v := \text{span} \{v, J_N v\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ .

**Lemma 3.20.** a) Let  $\hat{e}_1, \hat{e}_2 \in D$  be the standard basis of  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ . The spaces  $E_z$  and D are invariant subspaces of A. The representation of A in the basis  $(z, J_N z, \hat{e}_1, J_N \hat{e}_2)$  of the direct sum  $E_z \oplus D$  is given by

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 2\omega & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\omega \\ 0 & 0 & \omega & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

b) Suppose v is a real eigenvector of  $M_{\Gamma}^{-1} \nabla^2 H_0(z)$  with eigenvalue  $\mu$ . Then  $E_v$  is an invariant subspace of A, on which A is represented by

$$egin{pmatrix} 0 & \mu-\omega\ \mu+\omega & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

c) Suppose  $v = v_1 + iv_2$  is a complex eigenvector of  $M_{\Gamma}^{-1} \nabla^2 H_0(z)$  with eigenvalue  $\mu = \xi + i\eta$ . Then span  $\{v_1, v_2, J_N v_1, J_N v_2\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  is a real invariant subspace of A, on which A is represented by

( 0	0	$\xi - \omega$	$\eta$	
0	0	$-\eta$	$\xi - \omega$	
$\xi + \omega$	η	0	0	•
$(-\eta)$	$\xi + \omega$	0	0 )	

Note that the Hamiltonian in [67] differs by a factor of  $\pi^{-1}$  from  $H_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  but the corresponding stability matrices coincide, when translating the solution of one system to the other.

**Example 3.21.** Let N = 2 and  $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2 \neq 0$  with  $\Gamma := \Gamma_1 + \Gamma_2 \neq 0$ . Any initial position  $z_1, z_2$  of the two point vortices gives a relative equilibrium solution of (3.13) (see e.g. [64]). Via translation we can assume that they rotate rigidly around the origin with frequency  $\omega = \frac{\Gamma}{\pi |z_1 - z_2|^2} \neq 0$ . Due to Lemma 3.20 the stability matrix  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{4\times 4}$  of any such solution is given (in a suitable basis) by

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 2\omega & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\omega \\ 0 & 0 & \omega & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The linear system (3.14) then possesses exactly 3 linearly independent  $\frac{2\pi}{|\omega|}$ -periodic solutions.

**Example 3.22.** Now we consider N = 3 vortices with vortex strengths,  $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2, \Gamma_3 \neq 0$ , and such that  $\Gamma := \Gamma_1 + \Gamma_2 + \Gamma_3 \neq 0$ . Then every equilateral triangle configuration  $z_1, z_2, z_3$  is a relative equilibrium solution of the 3-vortex problem (3.13) (see Section 2.2 in [64]). Let  $Z(t) = e^{-\omega J_3 t} z$  be an equilateral triangle configuration rotating around the origin. The corresponding stability matrix A is a  $6 \times 6$  matrix. In [67] Roberts computed its eigenvalues explicitly in the case when  $\omega = \Gamma/3 - this$  can always be achieved by a suitable scaling. He showed that in addition to the eigenvalues  $0, 0, \pm i\omega$  of the block in 3.20 a) there are two more eigenvalues given by  $\pm \sqrt{-L/3}$ , where  $L = \Gamma_1 \Gamma_2 + \Gamma_1 \Gamma_3 + \Gamma_2 \Gamma_3$  is the total vortex angular momentum. Hence the linear system (3.14) has more than 3 linearly independent  $\frac{2\pi}{|\omega|}$ -periodic solutions if L > 0 and  $\sqrt{L/3} \in \omega \mathbb{Z} = \frac{\Gamma}{3}\mathbb{Z}$ , hence if there exists  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  with

$$3L = k^2 \Gamma^2 = k^2 \left( \Gamma_1^2 + \Gamma_2^2 + \Gamma_3^2 + 2L \right).$$

This is only possible if  $k^2 = 1$  and  $L = \Gamma_1^2 + \Gamma_2^2 + \Gamma_3^2$ . Therefore the equilateral triangle configuration is nondegenerate provided  $\Gamma \neq 0$ ,  $L \neq 0$  and  $L \neq \Gamma_1^2 + \Gamma_2^2 + \Gamma_3^2$ .

**Example 3.23.** Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  be arbitrary and  $\Gamma_1 = \ldots = \Gamma_N \neq 0$ . If one places all point vortices on a line, say  $z_k = (x_k, 0)$  and such that  $x_1, \ldots, x_N$  are the roots of the Nth Hermitian polynomial, then the line of vortices rotates rigidly around the origin, see page 2172 of [4]. From Corollary 3.3 in [67] we can conclude that this configuration is nondegenerate for any  $N \geq 3$ .

So far we have shown all the examples stated in 3.5. We would like to mention that [67] provides with rhombus configurations and the trapezoidal configurations two more specific examples consisting of 4 vortices that could be considered for condition (A3).

### **3.6** An explicit stationary solution

With Examples 3.5 and 3.7 we have already seen some relative equilibrium solutions that are  $\sigma$ -nondegenerate or just nondegenerate and therefore can be choosen in (A3') for theorem 3.8. Independent of the relative equilibrium solutions we also need for (A1') a nondegenerate or not too degenerate critical point of the *m*-vortex Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$ . We will verify this for Example 3.2. I.e. we look at the 2-vortex system in the unit disc  $\Omega = B_1(0)$  with vorticities  $\Gamma^1 = 1$ ,  $\Gamma^2 = -1$ . By combining for example a Thomson  $N_1$ -Gon configuration with vorticities  $\Gamma_j^1 = \frac{1}{N_1}$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, N_1$  and a collinear configuration of  $N_2$  vortices of strengths  $\Gamma_j^2 = -\frac{1}{N_2}$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, N_2$  or another Thomson configuration we obtain therefore periodic solutions of (3.3) in the unit disc for an arbitrary number of  $N = N_1 + N_2 \ge 3$  vortices that are not rigidly rotating around the center of the disc.

The regular part of the Dirichlet Green's function in  $B_1(0)$  is given by

$$g(x, y) = g_{B_1(0)}(x, y) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \log \left( |x|^2 |y|^2 - 2 \langle x, y \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} + 1 \right)$$

and

$$h(x) = h_{B_1(0)}(x) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log(1 - |x|^2),$$

such that the Hamiltonian defined on  $\mathcal{F}_2(B_1(0))$  is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}(a^{1},a^{2}) &= \frac{1}{\pi} \left( \log \left| a^{1} - a^{2} \right| - \frac{1}{2} \log \left( \left| a^{1} \right|^{2} \left| a^{2} \right|^{2} - 2 \left\langle a^{1}, a^{2} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} + 1 \right) \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\pi} \left( \log \left( 1 - \left| a^{1} \right|^{2} \right) + \log \left( 1 - \left| a^{2} \right|^{2} \right) \right). \end{aligned}$$

Let  $R(y) = \frac{y}{|y|^2}$  be the reflection at the unit circle, then

$$\pi \nabla_1 \mathcal{H}(a^1, a^2) = \frac{a^1 - a^2}{|a^1 - a^2|^2} - \frac{a^1 - R(a^2)}{|a^1 - R(a^2)|^2} - \frac{a^1}{1 - |a^1|^2},$$
  
$$\pi \nabla_2 \mathcal{H}(a^1, a^2) = \frac{a^2 - a^1}{|a^2 - a^1|^2} - \frac{a^2 - R(a^1)}{|a^2 - R(a^1)|^2} - \frac{a^2}{1 - |a^2|^2},$$

The ansatz  $\alpha^1 = (\mu, 0)$ ,  $\alpha^2 = (-\mu, 0)$  with  $\mu > 0$  shows that  $\alpha = (\alpha^1, \alpha^2)$  is a critical point of  $\mathcal{H}$  if and only if

$$\mu^4 = 1 - 4\mu^2, \tag{3.15}$$

which means  $\mu = \sqrt{\sqrt{5} - 2}$ . For the second derivatives at the critical point  $\alpha = (\mu, 0, -\mu, 0)$  we get with a repeated use of (3.15)

$$\begin{aligned} \pi \nabla_1^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha) &= \left( \frac{1}{4\mu^2} - \frac{1}{(\mu + \frac{1}{\mu})^2} \right) \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} - \frac{1}{(1-\mu)^2} \begin{pmatrix} 1+\mu^2 & 0\\ 0 & 1-\mu^2 \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{26\mu^2 - 6} \begin{pmatrix} -6\mu^2 + 1 & 0\\ 0 & 4\mu^2 - 1 \end{pmatrix}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\pi \nabla_2 \nabla_1 \mathcal{H}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{4\mu^2} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{(1+\mu^2)^2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \frac{1}{20\mu^2 - 4} \begin{pmatrix} \mu^2 + 1 & 0\\ 0 & 3\mu^2 - 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and  $\nabla_2^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha) = \nabla_1^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha), \nabla_1 \nabla_2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha) = \nabla_2 \nabla_1 \mathcal{H}(\alpha)$ . So the Hessian of  $\mathcal{H}$  is given by

$$\pi \nabla^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{-6\mu^2 + 1}{26\mu^2 - 6} & 0 & \frac{\mu^2 + 1}{20\mu^2 - 4} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{4\mu^2 - 1}{26\mu^2 - 6} & 0 & \frac{3\mu^2 - 1}{20\mu^2 - 4}\\ \frac{\mu^2 + 1}{20\mu^2 - 4} & 0 & \frac{-6\mu^2 + 1}{26\mu^2 - 6} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{3\mu^2 - 1}{20\mu^2 - 4} & 0 & \frac{4\mu^2 - 1}{26\mu^2 - 6} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Using (3.15) one can verify that the second and the fourth column are identical. This corresponds to the degeneracy induced by the rotational invariance, which means that the vector  $J_2\alpha = (0, -\mu, 0, \mu)$  is contained in Kern  $\nabla^2 \mathcal{H}(\alpha)$ . On the other hand one easily sees that the first three columns are linearly independent. This shows that  $\alpha$  is a critical point of the 2 vortex Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  satisfying condition (A2')(ii) as it has been stated in Example 3.2.

## Chapter 4

# **Periodic solutions near** $\partial \Omega$

In the previous chapter we have obtained periodic solutions by viewing the influence of the boundary  $\partial \Omega$  as a perturbation of several whole-plane systems. Contrary to that we will now exploit vortex-boundary interactions in order to prove the existence of periodic solutions close to  $\partial \Omega$ . The proof again relies on a suitable singular limit scaling and the continuation of an existing periodic solution of the limiting problem. This time we will also use a symplectic change of coordinates transferring a neighborhood of a boundary component to the unit disc.

## 4.1 Statement of results

Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a domain with nonempty boundary  $\partial \Omega$ , and let  $C \subset \partial \Omega$  be a compact connected component of the boundary of class  $C^4$ . Clearly *C* is diffeomorphic to  $S^1$ . Let  $\nu : C \to \mathbb{R}^2$  denote the exterior unit normal and  $\kappa : C \to \mathbb{R}$  the curvature of *C* with respect to  $\nu$ . Set d(x) = dist(x, C) and fix  $\delta > 0$  sufficiently small such that the orthogonal projection

$$p: \{ x \in \Omega : d(x) \le \delta \} \to C$$

is well defined.

Instead of an actual Green's function we consider as before a general symmetric  $C^3$  function  $q: \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ , and set

$$G(x,y) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |x-y| - g(x,y) \quad \text{for } x, y \in \Omega, \ x \neq y.$$

We also need the corresponding generalized Robin function  $h : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  defined as usual by h(x) = g(x, x) and the generalized harmonic radius  $\rho : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\rho(x) = \exp(-2\pi h(x)).$$

See appendix B.3 for the definition and some properties of the classical harmonic radius.

Contrary to chapter 3 we consider the case of *N* identical point vortices, i.e. without limitation  $\Gamma_1 = \ldots = \Gamma_N = 1$ , such that the Hamiltonian  $H : \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$  is given by

$$H(z_1,...,z_N) = \sum_{\substack{j,k=1\\j\neq k}}^N G(z_j,z_k) - \sum_{k=1}^N h(z_k).$$

Therefore the system under investigation simply reads

$$\dot{z} = J_N \nabla H(z). \tag{4.1}$$

Assumption 4.1 contains the required asymptotic behavior of the functions induced by g near C. For  $y \in \Omega$  with  $d(y) \leq \delta$  let  $Q_y : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}v(p(y))$  denote the orthogonal projection onto the normalspace  $N_{p(y)}C$ , i.e.  $Q_y v = \langle v(p(y)), v \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} v(p(y))$ .

**Assumption 4.1.**  $\rho$  can be extended to a  $C^3$  function on  $\Omega \cup C$  by setting  $\rho(x) := 0$  for  $x \in C$ , thus from now on  $\rho : \Omega \cup C \to \mathbb{R}$ . Moreover,  $\nabla \rho(x) = -2\nu(x)$ , and  $\nabla^2 \rho(x) = -2\kappa(x) \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  for every  $x \in C$ . For every  $\varepsilon > 0$  the function G satisfies

$$|\nabla_1 G(x,y)| + |\nabla_1^2 G(x,y)| = O(d(y))$$
 and  $\nabla_2 \nabla_1 G(x,y) = O(1)Q_y + O(d(y))$ 

as  $d(y) \to 0$  uniformly on the set  $\Big\{ (x, y) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \Omega_{\delta} : |x - y| \ge \varepsilon \Big\}.$ 

The terms O(1) and  $O(d(y)) = d(y) \cdot O(1)$  in the second equation in 4.1 are matrix valued. It follows from Assumption 4.1 that

$$\rho(x) = 2d(x) - \kappa(p(x))d(x)^2 + o(d(x)^2)$$

as  $d(x) \to 0$ , and  $h(x) \to \infty$  as  $d(x) \to 0$ .

**Proposition 4.2.** Assumption 4.1 holds for  $g = g_{\Omega}$  being the regular part of the Green function of the Dirichlet Laplace operator in the cases when

- a)  $\Omega$  is a simply connected bounded domain with  $C^{3,\alpha}$  boundary.
- b)  $\Omega$  is an annulus  $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : a < |x| < b\}, 0 < a < b.$

Proof. See Corollary B.2, Lemma B.3 and Lemma B.4 in Appendix B.

For more general multiply connected domains it might be possible to prove Assumption 4.1 using analytical formulae for the Green's function based on the Schottky-Klein prime function, see [25].

**Theorem 4.3.** Let *L* denote the length of *C* and suppose that  $g : \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfies Assumption 4.1. Then there exists  $\bar{r} > 0$  and a  $C^1$  map

$$(0, \bar{r}) \times \mathbb{R} \ni (r, t) \mapsto z^{(r)}(t) \in \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega),$$

having also continuous mixed derivatives  $\partial_r \partial_t z^{(r)}(t) = \partial_t \partial_r z^{(r)}(t)$  and such that  $z^{(r)}$  is a periodic solution of (4.1) with minimal period Lr for each  $r \in (0, \bar{r})$ . Moreover, these periodic solutions possess the following properties:

- (1)  $z_k^{(r)}(t) = z_1^{(r)} \left( t + \frac{(k-1)Lr}{N} \right)$  for every  $k = 1, \dots, N$ .
- (2) The rescaled function  $v^{(r)}(t) := z_1^{(r)}(rt)$  converges in the space of L-periodic  $C^1$  functions towards a parametrization  $\gamma$  of C according to arc-length and with  $J\dot{\gamma} = v \circ \gamma$ . More precisely there holds

$$v^{(r)} = \gamma - \frac{r}{2\pi} v \circ \gamma + o(r),$$
$$\dot{v}^{(r)} = \left(1 - \frac{r}{2\pi} \kappa \circ \gamma\right) \dot{\gamma} + o(r)$$

uniformly in t as  $r \rightarrow 0$ .

(3) The distance  $d(v^{(r)}(t))$  satisfies

$$d(v^{(r)}) = \frac{r}{2\pi} + \frac{r^2}{8\pi^2}\kappa \circ \gamma + o(r^2)$$

as  $r \to 0$  uniformly in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

- (4) The family  $(z^{(r)})_r$  induces a global continuum of choreographic solutions in the sense of Definition 2.11 and Remark 2.14.
- **Remark 4.4.** a) The theorem shows that for T > 0 small enough, the system (4.1) has a *T*-periodic solution with all vortices moving on the same trajectory. At first order the trajectory has distance  $r/2\pi = T/2\pi L$  from *C*. The second order term in (3) tells us that the trajectory of the vortices comes closer to *C* in regions where *C* has negative curvature, and the vortices speed up by (2). On the other hand, near positively curved parts of *C* the trajectory increases the distance to *C* and the vortices slow down. In any case the vortices try to use shortcuts near curved parts of the boundary, cf. Figure 1.3.
  - b) The expansions in (2) and (3) are independent of N.
  - c) The boundary component C splits  $\mathbb{R}^2$  into a bounded component  $B_C$  and an unbounded component  $U_C$ , i.e.  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is the disjoint union  $B_C \cup C \cup U_C$ . Let  $\sigma(C) = 1$ , if  $\Omega \cap B_C \neq \emptyset$  and  $\sigma(C) = -1$ , if  $\Omega \cap U_C \neq \emptyset$ . With the use of (2) we obtain the following expansion of the  $H^1_L$ -norm

$$\begin{split} \left\| v^{(r)} \right\|_{H_{L}^{1}}^{2} &= \| \gamma \|_{H_{L}^{1}}^{2} - \frac{r}{\pi} \left( \int_{0}^{L} \langle \gamma, J \dot{\gamma} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \, dt + \int_{0}^{L} \kappa \circ \gamma \, dt \right) + o(r) \\ &= \| \gamma \|_{H_{L}^{1}}^{2} - \frac{2\sigma(C)r}{\pi} \big( vol_{2}(B_{C}) + \pi \big) + o(r). \end{split}$$

d) The theorem holds also for a boundary component of class  $C^3$  instead of  $C^4$ , cf. the paper with Q. Dai and T. Bartsch [12]. However, the proof shown here requires the curvature  $\kappa$ to be of class  $C^2$ . One might recover the original theorem by an approximation procedure with  $C^4$  boundary curves and a careful control of the maximal parameter value  $\bar{r}$ , but this has not been examined closer.

## 4.2 Scaling of the domain

Here we will just prove that it is sufficient to consider the case of a boundary component *C* with length  $2\pi$ .

**Lemma 4.5.** Suppose that Theorem 4.3 holds under the additional condition that  $L = 2\pi$ . Then it in fact holds for any length L of C.

*Proof.* Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a domain, *C* a bounded boundary component of class  $C^4$  with length *L* and let  $g : \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  be such that the induced functions *G* and  $\rho$  satisfy the conditions in Assumption 4.1.

Define  $\lambda = \frac{2\pi}{L}$ , such that the boundary component  $\lambda C$  of  $\lambda \Omega$  has length  $2\pi$ . On  $\lambda \Omega$  consider  $g_{\lambda} : \lambda \Omega \times \lambda \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$g_{\lambda}(x,y) = g(x/\lambda,y/\lambda) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \log \lambda$$

and the induced functions

$$\rho_{\lambda}(z) = e^{-2\pi g_{\lambda}(z,z)} = \lambda \rho(z/\lambda),$$
  
$$G_{\lambda}(x,y) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |x-y| - g_{\lambda}(x,y) = G(x/\lambda, y/\lambda).$$

Since the curvatures  $\kappa_{\lambda}$  of  $\lambda C$  and  $\kappa$  of C are related via  $\kappa_{\lambda}(\lambda p) = \lambda^{-1}\kappa(p), p \in C$ , we can verify that  $\rho_{\lambda}, G_{\lambda}$  satisfy Assumption 4.1.

Thus we obtain a family of  $2\pi \tilde{r}$ -periodic solutions  $\tilde{z}^{(\tilde{r})}$ ,  $\tilde{r} \in (0, \tilde{r}_1)$  of the generalized *N*-vortex system on  $\lambda\Omega$  induced by  $g_{\lambda}$  instead of *g* satisfying the properties of Theorem 4.3. For  $r \in (0, \lambda^{-1}\tilde{r}_1)$  we define

$$z^{(r)}(t) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \tilde{z}^{(\lambda r)}(\lambda^2 t).$$

Then each  $z^{(r)}$  is indeed a *Lr*-periodic solution of the *N*-vortex system on  $\Omega$  induced by g and  $(r, t) \mapsto z^{(r)}(t)$  has the regularity required by Theorem 4.3. Concerning the expansions we write  $\gamma_{\lambda} : [0, 2\pi] \to \lambda C$  for the parametrization of  $\lambda C$  in arclength appearing in Theorem 4.3 and set  $\gamma : [0, L] \to C$ ,  $\gamma(t) = \lambda^{-1} \gamma_{\lambda}(\lambda t)$ , which is a parametrization of C in arclength. We then have

$$\begin{aligned} z_1^{(r)}(rt) &= \frac{1}{\lambda} \tilde{z}_1^{(\lambda r)}(\lambda r \cdot \lambda t) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left( \gamma_\lambda(\lambda t) - \frac{\lambda r}{2\pi} J \dot{\gamma}_\lambda(\lambda t) + o(\lambda r) \right) \\ &= \gamma(t) - \frac{r}{2\pi} J \dot{\gamma}(t) + o(r), \\ \frac{d}{dt} \left( z_1^{(r)}(rt) \right) &= \frac{d}{ds}_{|s=\lambda t} \left( \tilde{z}_1^{(\lambda r)}(\lambda r \cdot s) \right) = \left( 1 - \frac{\lambda r}{2\pi} \kappa_\lambda(\gamma_\lambda(\lambda t)) \right) \dot{\gamma}_\lambda(\lambda t) + o(\lambda r) \\ &= \left( 1 - \frac{r}{2\pi} \kappa(t) \right) \dot{\gamma}(t) + o(r), \\ d \left( z_1^{(r)}(rt) \right) &= \frac{1}{\lambda} \operatorname{dist} \left( \tilde{z}_1^{(\lambda r)}(\lambda r \cdot \lambda t), \lambda C \right) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left( \frac{\lambda r}{2\pi} + \frac{\lambda^2 r^2}{8\pi^2} \kappa_\lambda(\gamma_\lambda(\lambda t)) + o(\lambda^2 r^2) \right) \\ &= \frac{r}{2\pi} + \frac{r^2}{8\pi^2} \kappa(\gamma(t)) + o(r^2). \end{aligned}$$

Of course also the choreographic property of the solutions is not lost:

$$z_k^{(r)}(t) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \tilde{z}_1^{(\lambda r)} \left( \lambda^2 t + \frac{(k-1)2\pi\lambda r}{N} \right) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \tilde{z}_1^{(\lambda r)} \left( \lambda^2 \left( t + \frac{(k-1)2\pi r}{\lambda N} \right) \right) = z_1^{(r)} \left( t + \frac{(k-1)Lr}{N} \right).$$

Concerning the global continuum we translate the induced set of periodic solutions

$$\tilde{C} \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times \left\{ u \in H^1_{\text{chor}} : u(t) \in \lambda \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{R} \right\}$$

containing the local graph  $\left\{ \left(\tilde{r}, \tilde{z}^{(\tilde{r})}(\tilde{r} \cdot)\right) : \tilde{r} \in (0, \tilde{r}_1) \right\}$  via  $C := \left\{ (r/\lambda, u/\lambda) : (r, u) \in \tilde{C} \right\}$ . Then  $C \subset \mathbb{R}^+ \times \left\{ u \in H^1_{chor} : u(t) \in \Omega, \ t \in \mathbb{R} \right\}$  is a global connected set of periodic solutions as in Corollary 2.9 with  $C \supset \left\{ (r, z^{(r)} \left( \frac{Lr}{2\pi} \cdot \right) \right) : r \in (0, \lambda^{-1}\tilde{r}_1) \right\}$ .

## 4.3 Symplectic boundary coordinates and scaling

We will introduce a very useful change of coordinates in a neighbourhood of *C*. By the previous section we can assume that the length of the boundary component *C* is exactly  $2\pi$ . Let  $\gamma : \mathbb{R} \to C$  be a  $C^4 2\pi$ -periodic covering of *C*, such that  $J\dot{\gamma}(s) = \nu(\gamma(s))$  for every  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , in particular  $|\dot{\gamma}| \equiv 1$ . Then the curvature  $\kappa$  depending on the parameter *s* can be expressed by

$$\kappa(s) := \kappa(\gamma(s)) = \langle J \ddot{\gamma}(s), \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} .$$

Furthermore, we define  $U_1 = \{ (s, q) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |\kappa(s)q| < \frac{1}{2} \}, \alpha : U_1 \to \mathbb{R}, \varphi : U_1 \to \mathbb{R}^2,$ 

$$\alpha(s,q) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\kappa(s)} \left( 1 - \sqrt{1 - 2\kappa(s)q} \right), & \kappa(s) \neq 0, \\ q, & \kappa(s) = 0, \end{cases}$$
$$\varphi(s,q) = \gamma(s) - \alpha(s,q) J \dot{\gamma}(s).$$

**Example 4.6.** If  $\Omega$  is the unit disc  $B_1(0)$ , then the transformation is given by

$$\varphi_{B_1(0)}(s,q) = \sqrt{1-2q} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(s) \\ \sin(s) \end{pmatrix}, \quad s \in \mathbb{R}, \ -\frac{1}{2} < q < \frac{1}{2}.$$

In general we have  $d(\varphi(s, q)) = \alpha(s, q)$  as well as  $p(\varphi(s, q)) = \gamma(s)$  for all  $q \ge 0$  small enough, since  $\partial \Omega$  satisfies the double sided ball condition. The reason for defining  $\alpha$  as above is that the harmonic radius composed with  $\varphi$  now satisfies uniformly in  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and as  $0 < q \rightarrow 0$  the expansion

$$\rho(\varphi(s,q)) = 2\alpha(s,q) - \kappa(s)\alpha(s,q)^2 + o(\alpha(s,q)^2) = 2q + o(q^2)$$
  
=  $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(s,q) + o(q^2),$  (4.2)

where  $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(s,q) = 2q$  is the actual harmonic radius of the Green's function in the upper halfplane  $\mathbb{R}^2_+ = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x_2 > 0\}$ , see Section B.2.2. So one could say  $\varphi$  flattens the boundary of  $\Omega$  up to second order.

The standard symplectic form on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is given by  $\omega_{\mathbb{R}^2}(v, w) = \langle v, Jw \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} = v_1 w_2 - v_2 w_1$ .

**Lemma 4.7.**  $\varphi$  is of class  $C^2$  and symplectic, i.e.  $\omega_{\mathbb{R}^2}(D\varphi(u)v, D\varphi(u)w) = \omega_{\mathbb{R}^2}(v, w)$  for all  $u = (s, q) \in U_1, v, w \in \mathbb{R}^2$ .

Proof. The expansion

$$\alpha(s,q) = q + \frac{1}{2}\kappa(s)q^2 + \dots$$
(4.3)

shows that  $\alpha$  is as smooth as  $\kappa$ . Therefore  $\varphi$  is  $C^2$ . In dimension 2 a map is symplectic if and only if its derivative has determinant 1 everywhere. One has

$$D\varphi(s,q) = \left(\dot{\gamma}(s) - \partial_s \alpha(s,q) J \dot{\gamma}(s) - \alpha(s,q) J \ddot{\gamma}(s), -\partial_q \alpha(s,q) J \dot{\gamma}(s)\right) \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}$$

So we calculate

$$\det D\varphi(s,q) = \omega_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left( \dot{\gamma}(s) - \partial_s \alpha(s,q) J \dot{\gamma}(s) - \alpha(s,q) J \ddot{\gamma}(s), -\partial_q \alpha(s,q) J \dot{\gamma}(s) \right)$$
  
=  $\partial_q \alpha(s,q) - \partial_q \alpha(s,q) \alpha(s,q) \langle J \ddot{\gamma}(s), \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2}$   
=  $\partial_q \alpha(s,q) (1 - \kappa(s) \alpha(s,q)) = 1.$ 

		-
L		
L		

By the inverse function theorem and the compactness of *C* we obtain a small number  $r_0 > 0$  such that for any  $r \in (0, r_0)$  the map  $\varphi$  is locally a diffeomorphism between the stripe  $\mathbb{R} \times (0, r) \subset U_1$  and the image  $\Omega_{2r} := \varphi(\mathbb{R} \times (0, r)) \subset \Omega$  with the property  $\varphi(s_1, q_1) = \varphi(s_2, q_2)$  if and only if  $q_1 = q_2$  and  $s_1 - s_2 \in 2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ .

We prefer to avoid working on the quotient manifold  $(\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}) \times (0, r_0)$  and therefore compose  $\varphi$  with a scaled version of the "inverse" of  $\varphi_{B_1(0)}$ . Let  $B_* := B_1(0) \setminus \{0\}$  and for  $r \in [0, r_0)$  define

$$\psi_r: B_* \to \Omega_r, \quad \psi_r(x) = \varphi\left(\iota(x), r \frac{1-|x|^2}{2}\right),$$

where  $\iota : \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\} \to [0, 2\pi)$  is the argument function.

**Lemma 4.8.** For  $r \in (0, r_0)$  the map  $\psi_r$  is a  $C^2$  diffeomorphism and

 $\omega_{\mathbb{R}^2}(D\psi_r(x)\upsilon, D\psi_r(x)w) = r\omega_{\mathbb{R}^2}(\upsilon, w) \quad \text{for all } x \in B_*, \upsilon, w \in \mathbb{R}^2,$ 

*i.e.*  $\psi_r$  is symplectic with multiplier r. Moreover,  $[0, r_0) \times B_* \ni (r, x) \mapsto \psi_r(x) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  is of class  $C^2$ .

*Proof.* Of course  $\iota$  is not continuous, but the composition with  $\gamma$  defines a diffeomorphism between  $S^1$  and  $C \subset \partial \Omega$ . Observe also that the following diagram commutes



where  $A_r : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $(s, q) \mapsto (s, rq)$ . Since  $A_r$  is symplectic with multiplier r, the statement follows.

In order to treat *N*-vortices we define  $\Psi_r : B^N_* \to \Omega^N_r$ ,

$$\Psi_r(x_1,\ldots,x_N)=(\psi_r(x_1),\ldots,\psi_r(x_N)).$$

Recall that the symplectic form associated to the *N*-vortex Hamiltonian system (4.1) is given by  $\omega(v, w) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \omega_{\mathbb{R}^2}(v_j, w_j)$ . Therefore  $\Psi : B_*^N \to \Omega_r^N$  is a  $C^2$  diffeomorphism and symplectic with multiplier *r*. With a look at Lemma A.2, if needed, we can therefore conclude

**Proposition 4.9.** Let  $r \in (0, r_0)$ . A function  $u : I \to \mathcal{F}_N(B_*)$  defined on an interval  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$  solves

$$\dot{u} = J_N \nabla (H \circ \Psi_r)(u), \tag{4.4}$$

if and only if  $z : rI \to \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega_r)$ ,  $z(t) = (\Psi_r \circ u)(t/r)$  is a solution of the N-vortex system (4.1).

## 4.4 A single vortex

We start the investigation of (4.4) in the case of having only a single vortex in the domain, i.e. we consider  $(H \circ \Psi_r)(u) = -h(\psi_r(u)), u \in B_*$ . The single vortex case will already cover a major part of the work to do in the multiple vortex case.

**Lemma 4.10.** Let  $K \subset B_*$  be compact. As  $r \to 0$  the following asymptotics hold in  $C^2(K, \mathbb{R})$ :

$$h(\psi_r(u)) + \frac{1}{2\pi} \log r = h_{B_1(0)}(u) + o(1),$$

where  $h_{B_1(0)}(u) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log(1 - |u|^2)$  is the Robin function of the unit disc, cf. (B.3). Moreover,

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \partial_r \nabla (h \circ \psi_r)(u) = 0 \tag{4.5}$$

uniformly on K.

*Proof.* Recall that  $-2\pi h(z) = \log \rho(z)$ . Since the logarithm and its derivatives are uniformly continuous on compact subsets of  $(0, \infty)$ , it is enough to prove that

$$r^{-1}\rho(\psi_r(u)) \xrightarrow{r \to 0} \rho_{B_1(0)}(u) = 1 - |u|^2$$

in  $C^2(K, \mathbb{R})$ .

By Assumption 4.1 we can expand  $\rho$  and its derivatives uniformly on a neighborhood of C:

$$\begin{split} \rho(z) &= 2d(z) - \kappa(p(z))d(z)^2 + o(d(z)^2), \\ \nabla \rho(z) &= \left(-2 + 2\kappa(p(z))d(z)\right)\nu(p(z)) + \frac{1}{2}d(z)^2\nabla^3\rho(p(z))[\nu(p(z)),\nu(p(z))] + o(d(z)^2), \\ \nabla^2\rho(z) &= -2\kappa(p(z))\operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2} + d(z)\nabla^3\rho(p(z))[-\nu(p(z))] + o(d(z)) \end{split}$$

as  $d(z) \rightarrow 0$ . Evaluating these expansions at  $\psi_r(u)$  shows that

$$\rho(\psi_{r}(u)) = r(1 - |u|^{2}) + o(r^{2}),$$

$$\nabla \rho(\psi_{r}(u)) = \left(-2 + r\kappa(\iota(u))(1 - |u|^{2})\right) J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u))$$

$$+ r^{2} \frac{(1 - |u|^{2})^{2}}{8} \nabla^{3} \rho(\gamma(\iota(u))) [J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)), J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u))] + o(r^{2}),$$

$$\nabla^{2} \rho(\psi_{r}(u)) = -2\kappa(\iota(u)) \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} + r \frac{1 - |u|^{2}}{2} \nabla^{3} \rho(\gamma(\iota(u))) [-J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u))] + o(r)$$
(4.6)

as  $r \to 0$  and uniformly in  $u \in K$ , cf. (4.2), (4.3). Therefore we can directly conclude the convergence of  $r^{-1}\rho(\psi_r(u)) \to \rho_{B_1(0)}(u)$  in  $C^0(K, \mathbb{R})$ .

The derivatives of the stated limit function are given by

$$abla 
ho_{B_1(0)}(u) = -2u, \quad 
abla^2 
ho_{B_1(0)}(u) = -2 \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2} u$$

For the convergence of the derivatives of  $r^{-1}\rho \circ \psi_r$  we will need also some expansions of  $\psi_r(u)$  and its derivatives. By the expression of  $\alpha$  in the power series (4.3) we have

$$\begin{split} f(\varepsilon,\theta) &:= \psi_r \left( (1+\varepsilon) e^{-J\theta} u \right) = \gamma(\iota(u)+\theta) \\ &- J \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)+\theta) \left( r \frac{1-(1+\varepsilon)^2 |u|^2}{2} + r^2 \kappa(\iota(u)+\theta) \frac{(1-(1+\varepsilon)^2 |u|^2)^2}{8} + O(r^3) \right), \end{split}$$

with  $O(r^3)$  being the reminder of the power series. Thus we obtain again uniformly in  $u \in K$  as  $r \to 0$ :

$$\begin{split} D\psi_{r}(u)[u] &= \partial_{\varepsilon}f(0,0) = \left(r |u|^{2} + r^{2}\kappa(\iota(u))\frac{(1 - |u|^{2})}{2} |u|^{2}\right)J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) + o(r^{2}),\\ D\psi_{r}(u)[-Ju] &= \partial_{\theta}f(0,0) = \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) - \left(r\frac{1 - |u|^{2}}{2} + r^{2}\kappa(\iota(u))\frac{(1 - |u|^{2})^{2}}{8}\right)J\ddot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) \\ &- r^{2}\dot{\kappa}(\iota(u))\frac{(1 - |u|^{2})^{2}}{8}J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) + o(r^{2}),\\ D^{2}\psi_{r}(u)[u, u] &= \partial_{\varepsilon}^{2}f(0, 0) = r |u|^{2}J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) + o(r),\\ D^{2}\psi_{r}(u)[u, -Ju] &= \partial_{\theta}\partial_{\varepsilon}f(0, 0) - D\psi_{r}(u)[-Ju] \\ &= -\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) + r\frac{1 + |u|^{2}}{2}J\ddot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) + o(r),\\ D^{2}\psi_{r}(u)[-Ju, -Ju] &= \partial_{\theta}^{2}f(0, 0) + D\psi_{r}(u)[u] \\ &= \ddot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) - r\frac{1 - |u|^{2}}{2}J\gamma^{(3)}(\iota(u)) + r |u|^{2}J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) + o(r), \end{split}$$

with  $\gamma^{(3)}$  being the third derivative of the parametrization  $\gamma$ . Combining now (4.6), (4.7) and  $|\dot{\gamma}| \equiv 1$  shows

$$\begin{split} \langle \nabla(\rho \circ \psi_r)(u), u \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} &= \langle \nabla \rho(\psi_r(u)), D\psi_r(u)[u] \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} = -2r |u|^2 + o(r) \\ &= r \left\langle \nabla \rho_{B_1(0)}(u), u \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} + o(r), \\ \langle \nabla(\rho \circ \psi_r)(u), -Ju \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} &= \langle O(1) J \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) + o(r), \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) + O(1) J \ddot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) + o(r) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} = o(r) \\ &= r \left\langle \nabla \rho_{B_1(0)}(u), -Ju \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} + o(r) \end{split}$$

uniformly. So we can conclude the convergence in  $C^1(K, \mathbb{R})$ .

In the same straightforward way one can check that

$$\nabla^2 (\rho \circ \psi_r)(u)[u, u] = -2r |u|^2 + o(r), \quad \nabla^2 (\rho \circ \psi_r)(u)[u, -Ju] = o(r).$$

Only  $\nabla^2(\rho \circ \psi_r)(u)[-Ju, -Ju]$  is a little trickier. Here we need the first order expansion

$$\begin{split} \nabla^2 \rho(\psi_r(u))[\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)), \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u))] &+ 2\kappa(\iota(u)) \\ &= r \frac{1 - |u|^2}{2} \nabla^3 \rho(\gamma(\iota(u)))[-J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)), \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)), \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u))] + o(r) \\ &= r \frac{1 - |u|^2}{2} \frac{d}{d\varepsilon} |_{\varepsilon = 0} \nabla^2 \rho(\gamma(\iota(u) + \varepsilon))[-J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)), \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u))] + o(r) = o(r). \end{split}$$

This together with

$$\left\langle \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)), \gamma^{(3)}(\iota(u)) \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} = -\left| \ddot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) \right|^2 = -\kappa(\iota(u))^2,$$

which is a consequence of  $|\dot{\gamma}| \equiv 1$ , shows

$$\begin{split} \nabla^{2}(\rho \circ \psi_{r})(u)[-Ju, -Ju] &= \left\langle \nabla^{2} \rho(\psi_{r}(u)) D\psi_{r}(u)[-Ju], D\psi_{r}(u)[-Ju] \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \\ &+ \left\langle \nabla \rho(\psi_{r}(u)), D^{2} \psi_{r}(u)[-Ju, -Ju] \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \\ &= -2\kappa(\iota(u)) \left| \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) - r \frac{1 - |u|^{2}}{2} J \ddot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) \right|^{2} \\ &+ \left\langle \left( -2 + r\kappa(\iota(u))(1 - |u|^{2}) \right) J \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)), \ddot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \\ &+ \left\langle -2 J \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)), -r \frac{1 - |u|^{2}}{2} J \gamma^{(3)}(\iota(u)) + r |u|^{2} J \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)) \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} + o(r) \\ &= -2r |u|^{2} + o(r). \end{split}$$

Therefore  $r^{-1}\rho \circ \psi_r \to \rho_{B_1(0)}$  in  $C^2(K, \mathbb{R})$ .

It remains to prove that  $\partial_r \nabla(h \circ \psi_r) = o(1)$  in  $C^0(K, \mathbb{R}^n)$ . By the expansion in (4.6) and since  $(r, u) \mapsto \rho(\psi_r(u))$  is in  $C^2([0, r_0) \times B_*, \mathbb{R})$ , there holds  $\partial_r (r^{-1}\rho(\psi_r(u))) = o(1)$  in  $C^0(K, \mathbb{R})$ . Suppose for a moment that we also know  $\partial_r (r^{-1}\nabla(\rho \circ \psi_r)) = o(1)$  in  $C^0(K, \mathbb{R}^2)$ , then

$$-2\pi\partial_r \nabla(h \circ \psi_r)(u) = \partial_r \left(\frac{r}{\rho(\psi_r(u))} \frac{\nabla(\rho \circ \psi_r)(u)}{r}\right)$$
$$= -\frac{r^2}{\rho(\psi_r(u))^2} \partial_r \left(\frac{\rho(\psi_r(u))}{r}\right) O(1) + O(1)\partial_r \left(\frac{\nabla(\rho \circ \psi_r)(u)}{r}\right) = o(1).$$

Thus we use the second order expansion of  $D\psi_r(u)[u]$  in (4.7) to improve the previous expansion to  $\langle \nabla(\rho \circ \psi_r)(u), u \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} = -2r |u|^2 + o(r^2)$ . In a similar way the identity

$$\nabla^3 \rho(\gamma(\iota(u)))[J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)), J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u)), \dot{\gamma}(\iota(u))] = -2\dot{\kappa}(\iota(u))$$

shows that  $\langle \nabla(\rho \circ \psi_r)(u), -Ju \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} = o(r^2)$ . Since  $(r, u) \mapsto \nabla(\rho \circ \psi_r)(u)$  is in  $C^2([0, r_0) \times B_*, \mathbb{R}^2)$ we get the desired asymptotics  $\partial_r (r^{-1} \nabla(\rho \circ \psi_r)) = o(1)$  in  $C^0(K, \mathbb{R}^n)$ .

This finishes the proof of the Lemma.

So we have shown that the scaled and transformed 1-vortex system on  $B_*$ 

$$\dot{u} = -J\nabla(h \circ \psi_r)(u) \tag{4.8}$$

is in the limit  $r \rightarrow 0$  a perturbation of the actual 1-vortex system in the unit disc

$$\dot{u} = -J\nabla h_{B_1(0)}(u) = -\frac{Ju}{\pi(1-|u|^2)},\tag{4.9}$$

which for the initial condition  $u_0 \in B_*$  has the solution

$$u(t) = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\pi(1-|u_0|^2)}Jt\right)u_0.$$

From these solutions we pick out one that is  $2\pi$ -periodic, e.g. we fix

$$u^{*}(t) = \sqrt{1 - \pi^{-1}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) \\ \sin(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.10)

**Lemma 4.11.** The space of  $2\pi$ -periodic solutions of the linearization

$$\dot{\upsilon} = -J\nabla^2 h_{B_1(0)}(u^*(t))\upsilon \tag{4.11}$$

is  $\mathbb{R}\dot{u}^*$ .

*Proof.* By the invariance of  $h_{B_1(0)}$  under rotations we can use a rotating coordinate frame  $v(t) = e^{-Jt}w(t)$ , such that equation (4.11) is equivalent to

$$\dot{w} = Jw - J\nabla^2 h_{B_1(0)} \left( \sqrt{1 - \pi^{-1}} e_1 \right) w.$$

The explicit formula of the Hessian

$$abla^2 h_{B_1(0)}(z) = rac{1}{\pi(1-|z|^2)} \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2} + rac{2zz^T}{\pi(1-|z|^2)^2},$$

cf. B.3, therefore gives

$$\dot{w} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 2\pi - 2 & 0 \end{pmatrix} w$$

This system clearly has only the stationary points  $\mathbb{R}e_2$  as  $2\pi$ -periodic solutions and hence any  $2\pi$ -periodic solution v of (4.11) satisfies  $v \in \mathbb{R}\dot{u}^*$ .

Proof of Theorem 4.3 in the case N = 1. Combining Lemma 4.10, Lemma 4.11 and Theorem 2.7 we obtain a  $C^1$ -family  $(u^{(r)})_{r \in [0, r_1)} \subset X = H^1$  of  $2\pi$ -periodic solutions of (4.8) having 1 as geometrically simple Floquet multiplier and with  $u^{(0)} = u^*$ ,  $\langle u^{(r)}, \dot{u}^* \rangle_X = 0$ . By Theorem

2.7 we also are allowed to differentiate

$$\dot{u}^{(r)}(t) = -J\nabla(h \circ \psi_r) \left( u^{(r)}(t) \right)$$

with respect to r at r = 0, which by (4.5) leads to

 $( \cdot )$ 

$$\partial_t \left( \partial_r u^{(0)}(t) \right) = -J \nabla^2 (h \circ \psi_r) (u^*(t)) \left[ \partial_r u^{(0)}(t) \right].$$

So  $\partial_r u^{(0)}$  is a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution of (4.11) and therefore Lemma 4.11 implies  $\partial_r u^{(0)} = \lambda \dot{u}^*$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . On the the other hand differentiation of  $\langle u^{(r)}, \dot{u}^* \rangle_X = 0$  shows  $\lambda = 0$  and thus

$$\partial_r u^{(0)} = 0. \tag{4.12}$$

By Proposition 4.9 we obtain a family  $z^{(r)} = \psi_r (u^{(r)}(\cdot/r)), r \in (0, r_1)$  of  $2\pi r$ -periodic solutions of the original 1-vortex system on  $\Omega$ . Moreover,  $(0, r_1) \times \mathbb{R} \ni (r, t) \mapsto z^{(r)}(t) \in \Omega$  is  $C^1$  and the mixed partial derivatives  $\partial_r \partial_t z^{(r)}(t)$ ,  $\partial_t \partial_r z^{(r)}(t)$  exist, are equal and continuous. If we rescale the solutions to  $z^{(r)}(r \cdot) = \psi_r \circ u^{(r)}$ , the same regularity holds now up to r = 0. So by (4.7),(4.12) and  $u^*(t) = \sqrt{1 - \pi^{-1}}e^{-Jt}e_1$  the following expansions hold uniformly in t as  $r \to 0$ :

$$z^{(r)}(rt) = \psi_0(u^*(t)) + r\partial_r \psi_0(u^*(t)) + o(r)$$
  

$$= \gamma(\iota(u^*(t))) - r \frac{1 - |u^*(t)|^2}{2} J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u^*(t))) + o(r)$$
  

$$= \gamma(t) - \frac{r}{2\pi} J\dot{\gamma}(t) + o(r),$$
  

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left( z^{(r)}(rt) \right) = D\psi_0(u^*(t))[\dot{u}^*(t)] + r\partial_r D\psi_0(u^*(t))[\dot{u}^*(t)] + o(r)$$
  

$$= \dot{\gamma}(t) - \frac{r}{2\pi} J\ddot{\gamma}(t) + o(r)$$
  

$$= \left( 1 - \frac{r}{2\pi} \kappa(t) \right) \dot{\gamma}(t) + o(r).$$
  
(4.13)

For the distance to the boundary component C we have by (4.3)

$$d\left(z^{(r)}(rt)\right) = \alpha\left(\iota\left(u^{(r)}(t)\right), r\frac{1 - |u^{(r)}(t)|^2}{2}\right)$$
  
=  $\frac{r}{2\pi} + \frac{r^2}{8\pi^2}\kappa(t) + o(r^2).$  (4.14)

So far we have proven the local properties of Theorem 4.3 in the case of a single vortex.

For the global part we need to show that the Floquet multiplier 1 of  $z^{(r)}$  is geometrically simple. Let v be a Floquet solution for  $z^{(r)}$  to the multiplier 1, i.e. v is a  $2\pi r$ -periodic solution of the linearization  $\dot{v} = -J\nabla^2 H\left(z^{(r)}(t)\right) v$ . By Lemma A.2 v corresponds to a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution  $w(t) = D\psi_r \left(u^{(r)}(t)\right)^{-1} v(rt)$  of  $\dot{w} = -J\nabla^2 (h \circ \psi_r) \left(u^{(r)}(t)\right) w$ . But since  $u^{(r)}$  has 1 as a geometrically simple multiplier, we have  $w \in \mathbb{R}\dot{u}^{(r)}$ . It follows  $v \in \mathbb{R}\dot{z}^{(r)}$  and Corollary 2.9 implies the existence of a global continuum of periodic solutions of the generalized 1-vortex system on  $\Omega$ .

## 4.5 Choreographic solutions with $N \ge 2$ vortices

We now turn to the case of  $N \ge 2$  vortices. Consider again a boundary component *C* of length  $2\pi$  and recall that by Proposition 4.9 it is our goal to find for r > 0 small  $2\pi$ -periodic

solutions  $u(t) \in \mathcal{F}_N(B_*)$  of

$$\dot{u} = J_N \nabla (H \circ \Psi_r)(u)$$

In order to achieve this we consider as usual the action functional

$$\Phi_r(u)=\frac{1}{2}\int_0^{2\pi}\langle \dot{u},J_Nu\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt-\int_0^{2\pi}H(\Psi_r(u))\,dt.$$

As in the previous chapter we restrict ourselves to the the subspace of choreographic functions. Let  $\sigma = (1 \ 2 \ 3 \ \dots \ N)$  be the cyclic permutation of N symbols and for an element  $z = (z_1, \dots, z_N) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  or a function  $u(t) = (u_1(t), \dots, u_N(t))$  let  $\sigma * z = (z_N, z_1, z_2, \dots, z_{N-1})$ ,  $(\sigma * u)(t) = \sigma * (u(t))$ . Since all the vorticities are equal, the functional  $\Phi$  satisfies

$$\Phi_r((\sigma * u)(\cdot + 2\pi/N)) = \Phi_r(u)$$

for any r > 0 and  $u \in H^1$  with  $u(t) \in \mathcal{F}_N(B_*)$ . This implies

$$\nabla \Phi_r \big( (\sigma * u) (\cdot + 2\pi/N) \big) = \big( \sigma * \nabla \Phi_r(u) \big) (\cdot + 2\pi/N).$$

So especially for  $u \in \tilde{X} = \{ u \in H^1 : (\sigma * u)(\cdot + 2\pi/N) = u \}$  we see that  $\nabla \Phi_r(u) \in \tilde{X}$ . Contrary to Chapter 3 we will not work on  $\tilde{X}$  but prefer to use this time the isomorphism  $j : X = H^1(\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{R}^2) \to \tilde{X}$  given by

$$j(u) = (u, u(\cdot + 2\pi/N), u(\cdot + 4\pi/N), \dots, u(\cdot + (N-1)2\pi/N)).$$

The inverse clearly is  $j^{-1}(u_1, \ldots, u_N) = u_1$ . Let  $\Lambda_* = \{ u \in X : (j(u))(\mathbb{R}) \subset \mathcal{F}_N(B_*) \}$  and observe that our solution  $u^*(t)$  of the 1-vortex problem in  $B_1(0)$ , see (4.10), is contained in  $\Lambda_*$ . We abbreviate  $\theta_k = k2\pi/N$  for  $k = 1, \ldots, N$ .

**Lemma 4.12.** Let  $r_1 \in (0, r_0)$ . There exist  $\varepsilon > 0$ , a compact intervall  $K \subset (0, 1)$  and an open neighborhood  $O \subset \Lambda_*$  of  $u^*$ , such that  $(r, u) \in [0, r_1] \times O$  implies  $|u(t)| \in K$  and

$$|\psi_r(u(t+\theta_k)) - \psi_r(u(t+\theta_l))| \ge \varepsilon$$

for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$  with  $k \neq l$ .

*Proof.* Recall that  $|u^*(t)| = \sqrt{1 - \pi^{-1}} =: b_0$ . Clearly there exists a constant c > 0 depending only on N with  $\inf_{t,k\neq l} |u^*(t + \theta_k) - u^*(t + \theta_l)| \ge 2c$ . Since X continuously embeds into the space of  $2\pi$ -periodic continuous functions, we can find  $\delta > 0$  – without restriction we assume  $2\delta < c$  and  $K := [b_0 - \delta, b_0 + \delta] \subset (0, 1)$  – and an open neighborhood  $O \subset \Lambda_*$  of  $u^*$  such that  $u \in O$  implies  $|u(t)| \in K$  and

$$\inf_{t,k\neq l} |u(t+\theta_k) - u(t+\theta_l)| \ge c.$$

For  $u \in O$ ,  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $j, k \in \{1, ..., N\}$ ,  $k \neq j$  we therefore obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi_r(u(t+\theta_k)) - \psi_r(u(t+\theta_l))| \\ &\ge \inf \left\{ |\psi_r(a) - \psi_r(b)| : r \in [0, r_1], \ a, b \in \mathbb{R}^2, \ |a|, |b| \in K, \ |a-b| \ge c \right\} =: \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

If  $\varepsilon$  would be 0, the continuity of  $(r, x) \mapsto \psi_r(x)$  shows the existence of  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $|a|, |b| \in K$ ,  $|a - b| \ge c$  and  $r \in [0, r_1]$  with  $\psi_r(a) = \psi_r(b)$ . This is impossible for r > 0, since each  $\psi_r$  is a diffeomorphism. So  $\varepsilon = 0$  implies  $\gamma(\iota(a)) = \psi_0(a) = \psi_0(b) = \gamma(\iota(b))$ . But then

$$c \le |a - b| = ||a| - |b|| \le b_0 + \delta - (b_0 - \delta) = 2\delta < c$$

is a contradiction. Hence  $\varepsilon > 0$ .

From now on we fix  $r_1 \in (0, r_0)$  and  $O, K, \varepsilon$  according to Lemma 4.12.

**Lemma 4.13.** The map  $F : [0, r_1] \times O \rightarrow X$ ,

$$F(r, u) = \begin{cases} (j^{-1} \circ \nabla \Phi_r \circ j)(u), & r > 0\\ (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} \left( -J\dot{u} + \nabla h_{B_1(0)}(u) \right), & r = 0 \end{cases}$$

is of class  $C^1$  with derivatives  $\partial_r F(0, u) = 0$  and

$$D_{u}F(0, u)[w] = (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} \left( -J\dot{w} + \nabla^{2}h_{B_{1}(0)}(u)w \right)$$

*Proof.* Since  $\nabla \Phi_r(j(u)) \in \tilde{X}$ , the map *F* is indeed well-defined. For positive *r* we have

$$F(r, u) = (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} (-J\dot{u} - \nabla_1 (H \circ \Psi_r)(j(u)))$$
  
=  $(\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} \left( -J\dot{u} + F_0(r, u) - 2 \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} F_k(r, u) \right),$ 

where  $F_0(r, u) = \nabla(h \circ \psi_r)(u)$  and  $F_k(r, u) = D\psi_r(u)^T \nabla_1 G(\psi_r(u), \psi_r(u(\cdot + \theta_k)))$  for every k = 1, ..., N - 1. We interpret these maps as maps between  $[0, r_1] \times O$  and  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{R}^2)$ . Now if  $u \in O$ ,  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , then u(t) is by Lemma 4.12 contained in the compact annulus  $\{z \in B_* : |z| \in K\}$ . Thus we know by Lemma 4.10

$$F_0(r,u) \to \nabla h_{B_1(0)}(u), \quad D_u F_0(r,u) \to \nabla^2 h_{B_1(0)}(u), \quad \partial_r F_0(r,u) \to 0$$

with respect to  $\|\cdot\|_{L^2}$  and uniformly in  $u \in O$  as  $r \to 0$ . It therefore remains to show that  $F_k(r, \cdot) \to 0$  in  $C^1(O, L^2)$  and  $\partial_r F_k(r, \cdot) \to 0$  in  $C^0(O, L^2)$ ,  $k = 1, \ldots, N - 1$ .

To do this we use that  $u \in O$  not only implies  $|u(t)| \in K$ , but also

$$|\psi_r(u(t)) - \psi_r(u(t+\theta_k))| \ge \varepsilon,$$

such that Assumption 4.1 gives

$$|F_k(r, u)(t)| = O(d(\psi_r(u(t+\theta_k)))) = O(\alpha(\iota(u(t+\theta_k)), r(1-|u(t+\theta_k)|^2)/2)) = O(r)$$

uniformly in  $u \in O$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  as  $r \to 0$ .

For the derivative we similar have

$$D_u F_k(r, u)(t) = O(r) + D\psi_r(u(t))^T \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G(\psi_r(u(t)), \psi_r(u(t+\theta_k))) D\psi_r(u(t+\theta_k)))$$
  
=  $O(r) + O(1)Q_{\psi_r(u(t+\theta_k))} D\psi_r(u(t+\theta_k))$ 

uniformly in  $u \in O$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Now recall that  $Q_y$  is the orthogonal projection onto the normal space  $JT_{p(y)}C$ . In our case  $y = \psi_r(u(t + \theta_k))$  and  $p(y) = \gamma(\iota(u(t + \theta_k)))$ , hence  $Q_{\psi_r(u(t + \theta_k))}$ is the orthogonal projection onto  $\mathbb{R}J\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u(t + \theta_k)))$ . On the other hand by (4.7) we have  $D\psi_r(u(t + \theta_k))[w] = \lambda\dot{\gamma}(\iota(u(t + \theta_k))) + O(r)$  for  $w \in \mathbb{R}^2$  and with some  $\lambda = \lambda(w) \in \mathbb{R}$ . This shows

$$D_u F_k(r, u)(t) = O(r)$$

uniformly in  $u \in O, t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

It remains to look at the partial derivative

$$\partial_r F_k(r, u)(t) = O(r) + D\psi_r(u(t))^T \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G(\psi_r(u(t)), \psi_r(u(t+\theta_k))) \partial_r \psi_r(u(t+\theta_k))$$
  
=  $O(r) + \left[ \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G(\psi_r(u(t+\theta_k)), \psi_r(u(t))) D\psi_r(u(t)) \right]^T \partial_r \psi_r(u(t+\theta_k))$   
=  $O(r),$ 

which holds again uniformly in  $u \in O$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Proof of Theorem 4.3 for  $N \ge 2$ . We still consider a boundary component C of length  $2\pi$ . Since  $u^*$  is a solution of the 1-vortex system on  $B_1(0)$ , we have  $F(0, u^*) = 0$ . Furthermore, Kern  $D_u F(0, u^*) = \mathbb{R}\dot{u}^*$  by Lemma 4.11. As in the proof of Theorem 2.7 we obtain a  $C^1$ -map  $[0, r_2) \ni r \mapsto u^{(r)} \in O$  with  $\langle u^{(r)}, \dot{u}^* \rangle_X = 0$ ,  $F(r, u^{(r)}) = 0$  and Kern  $D_u F(r, u^{(r)}) = \mathbb{R}\dot{u}^{(r)}$ . By the equivariance of  $\nabla \Phi_r$  it follows that  $\nabla \Phi_r(j(u^{(r)})) = 0$  and hence by Proposition 4.9

$$z^{(r)}(t) = \Psi_r\left(j\left(u^{(r)}\right)\left(\frac{t}{r}\right)\right)$$

is a  $2\pi r$ -periodic solution of the generalized *N*-vortex system (4.1). From Theorem 2.7 we also know that  $(0, r_2) \times \mathbb{R} \ni (r, t) \mapsto z^{(r)}(t) \in \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega)$  is of class  $C^1$  and has the continuous mixed derivatives  $\partial_r \partial_t z^{(r)}(t) = \partial_t \partial_r z^{(r)}(t)$ .

The construction of  $z^{(r)}$  shows

$$z_{k}^{(r)}(t) = \psi_{r}\left(u^{(r)}\left(\frac{t}{r} + \theta_{k-1}\right)\right) = \psi_{r}\left(u^{(r)}\left(\frac{t + (k-1)2\pi r/N}{r}\right)\right) = z_{1}^{(r)}\left(t + \frac{(k-1)2\pi r}{N}\right).$$

The expansions of  $v^{(r)}(t) := z_1^{(r)}(rt) = \psi_r(u^{(r)}(t))$  follow in exactly the same way as in the single vortex case, since  $\partial_r F(0, u^*) = 0$  from Lemma 4.13 and  $\langle u^{(r)}, \dot{u}^* \rangle_X = 0$  imply  $\partial_r u^{(0)} = 0$ . Finally by Corollary 2.9 and especially Remark 2.14 for the choreographic version we

Finally by Corollary 2.9 and especially Remark 2.14 for the choreographic version we need to show that  $\mathbb{R}\dot{z}^{(r)}$  are the only  $2\pi r$ -periodic solutions of  $\dot{v} = J_N \nabla^2 H(z^{(r)}(t)) v$ , which satisfy  $(\sigma * v)(t + 2\pi r/N) = v(t)$ . And indeed if v is a  $2\pi r$ -periodic function with these properties, the *r*-symplectic transformation  $\Psi_r$  shows that

$$D\Psi_r(ju^{(r)}(t))^{-1}v(rt) = j\left(D\psi_r(u^{(r)}(t))^{-1}v_1(rt)\right) \in \operatorname{Kern} \nabla^2 \Phi_r(ju^{(r)}).$$

Hence  $D\psi_r(u^{(r)}(t))^{-1}\upsilon_1(rt)$  is an element of the kernel Kern  $D_uF(r, u^{(r)}) = \mathbb{R}\dot{u}^{(r)}$ . It follows  $\upsilon \in \mathbb{R}\dot{z}^{(r)}$  and hence we obtain a global continuum of choreographic solutions.

## Chapter 5

# **Conclusion and open questions**

We have seen that we can combine existing solutions, i.e. stationary solutions of an *m*-vortex problem on a domain  $\Omega$  and relative equilibria of the whole plane system, to get new periodic solutions on  $\Omega$ . The easiest example is given in 3.2 and illustrated in Figure 1.2. We have also seen that choreographic solutions with an arbitrary number of identical vortices can be found near the boundary of the domain, and that both types of solutions (at least if m = 1) give rise to a global connected set of periodic solutions. In this last chapter we investigate the *N*-Gon family in the unit disc as a concrete example for a global set of solutions, and we also discuss some open questions.

## 5.1 The *N*-Gon in the unit disc

Let  $\Omega = B_1(0)$  and  $g(x, y) = g_{B_1(0)}(x, y) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \log (|x|^2 |y|^2 - 2 \langle x, y \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} + 1)$ . The Hamiltonian for *N* identical vortices of unit strength then reads

$$H_{B_{1}(0)}(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{k \neq j} \log |z_{k} - z_{j}| + \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{k,j} \log \left( |z_{k}|^{2} |z_{j}|^{2} - 2 \langle z_{k}, z_{j} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} + 1 \right).$$

It is known that the point vortex system  $\dot{z} = J_N \nabla H_{B_1(0)}(z)$  has a family of choreographic solutions  $z^{N,s}(t) = (z_1(t), \dots, z_N(t))$  given by the points

$$z_k(t) = s \begin{pmatrix} \cos\left(\omega_N(s)t + \frac{2\pi(k-1)}{N}\right) \\ \sin\left(\omega_N(s)t + \frac{2\pi(k-1)}{N}\right) \end{pmatrix}$$



FIGURE 5.1: Rigidly rotating pentagon in the disc
at the radius  $s \in (0, 1)$  and with uniform angular velocity

$$\omega_N(s) = \frac{1}{\pi s^2} \left( \frac{N}{1 - s^{2N}} - \frac{N+1}{2} \right),$$

see Figure 5.1. The detailled calculation can be found for example in the thesis by Qianhui Dai, [26]. Note that the Hamiltonian there differs by a factor 2 with the one used here.

#### 5.1.1 Local aspects

The solutions can be seen in the following two ways: They are emanating from the boundary where s = 1, i.e. they serve as an example of Theorem 4.3, and they are emanating from the critical point of the Robin function  $h_{B_1(0)}$  at the origin where s = 0, which gives an example of Theorem 3.9 with m = 1.

In the first point of view we consider  $s \approx 1$  and observe that  $z^{N,s}$  is  $2\pi r$ -periodic if  $r\omega_N(s) = 1$ , i.e. if

$$r = \frac{2\pi s^2 (1 - s^{2N})}{N - 1 + (N + 1)s^{2N}}.$$

Close to s = 1 and r = 0 this equation can be inverted to write s = s(r), such that the functions  $z^{(r)} := z^{N, s(r)}$  form the local *r*-dependent family of Theorem 4.3. An expansion of the implicitly defined function s(r) shows that

$$d(z_1^{(r)}) = 1 - s(r) = \frac{r}{2\pi} + \frac{r^2}{8\pi^2} + o(r^2),$$

as  $r \rightarrow 0$ . This coincides with property (3) of Theorem 4.3.

Similar we can view the family in the context of Theorem 3.9. Consider  $s \approx 0$  and  $\tau = 2\pi N$ . The solution  $z^{N,s}$  is  $\tau r^2$ -periodic if  $r^2 N \omega_N(s) = 1$ , i.e. if

$$r^{2} = \frac{2\pi s^{2}(1-s^{2N})}{N(N-1+(N+1)s^{2N})}$$

Again we can locally solve this equation to write s = s(r). Then  $z^{(r)} := z^{N,s(r)}$  is the  $\tau r^2$ -periodic solution of Theorem 3.9. In complex notation we get for the rescaled  $\tau$ -periodic function  $u^{(r)} = r^{-1}z^{(r)}(r^2 \cdot)$  the following expansion

$$u_k^{(r)}(t) = \frac{s(r)}{r} e^{i\omega_N(s(r))r^2t} e^{i2\pi(k-1)/N} = \sqrt{\frac{N(N-1)}{2\pi}} e^{i(t+2\pi(k-1))/N} + o(1).$$

One can then check that the limiting function  $u^{(0)}(t)$  is indeed the  $2\pi N$ -periodic Thomson *N*-Gon configuration of the whole plane system.

#### 5.1.2 Global aspects

To discuss the global extension of the solutions we normalize the period of the solutions to  $2\pi$  by introducing an additional parameter as in section 2.2.3, i.e. we consider for r > 0 the family

$$\dot{z} = r J_N \nabla H_{B_1(0)}(z).$$
 (5.1)

If *u* is a  $2\pi$  periodic solution of this equation, then  $u(\cdot/r)$  is a  $2\pi r$ -periodic solution of the original *N*-vortex system on the unit disc. Let  $\Lambda = \{ u \in H^1 : u(t) \in \mathcal{F}_N(B_1(0)) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{R} \}$ 

and  $S = \{ (r, u) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Lambda : u \text{ solves } (5.1) \}$ . We denote by

$$C_{N-\text{Gon}} = \left\{ \left( \frac{1}{\omega_N(s)}, z^{N,s}(\cdot/\omega_N(s)) \right) : s \in (0,1) \right\} \subset S$$

the known regular *N*-Gon family, by  $C_N^{\text{chor}}$  the connected component of  $C_{N\text{-Gon}}$  with respect to choreographic solutions  $S \cap \{ (r, u) : u_k = u_1(\cdot + 2\pi(k-1)/N) \}$  and by  $C_N$  the full connected component of  $C_{N\text{-Gon}}$  in S. In general we have

$$C_{N-\text{Gon}} \subset C_N^{\text{chor}} \subset C_N. \tag{5.2}$$

In the easiest case of a single vortex we know all possible solutions of the system on  $B_1(0)$ . As the radius *s* tends to 0 the periodic solutions  $z^{1,s}$  merge at the parameter value  $\lim_{s\to 0} \omega_1(s)^{-1} = \pi$ , which corresponds to a limiting period of  $2\pi^2$ , into the stationary solution at the origin, see Figure 5.2. We can therefore conclude  $C_1 = C_{1-\text{Gon}} \cup \mathbb{R}^+ \times \{0\}$ .

Figure 5.3 shows the set  $C_{N-\text{Gon}}$  in terms of  $\|\cdot\|_{H^1}$  for some N > 1. In that case a full characterization of  $C_N$  is not available, especially it is not clear if for some N the inclusions in (5.2) can be replaced by equalities. In fact Bolsinov, Borisov and Mamaev show in [19] that bifurcations from the equilateral triangle into other relative equilibrium configurations occur. This means  $C_{3-\text{Gon}} \subset C_3^{\text{chor}} \neq C_3$ . In general it would be interesting to know, if bifurcations from  $C_{N-\text{Gon}}$  into other choreographic solutions can be detected with the help of the equivariant degree  $S^1$ -deg<sup> $\nabla$ </sup>. For this purpose one would need to actually compute the degree with the formula of Theorem 2.24 or by other means. So far we have only used this formula to conclude that a nondegenerate solution has a nontrivial degree.

#### 5.2 The general case

In the case of a general domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  the structure of the set of periodic solutions is of course even less clear. Suppose that  $\Omega$  is bounded, simply connected and has a smooth boundary of length  $2\pi$ . Suppose further that the Robin function  $h_\Omega$  has l nondegenerate critical points  $a_1, \ldots, a_l$  and recall that  $l \ge 1$  for a generic bounded domain. For the vorticities we assume  $\Gamma_1 = \ldots = \Gamma_N = 1$  and denote by Z(t) the Thomson *N*-Gon configuration of the whole plane system. Then for each critical point  $a_i$  Theorem 3.9 provides the existence of a global connected set of choreographies  $C(a_i, Z)$ . Another continuum  $C(\partial \Omega)$  emanates from the boundary by Theorem 4.3.

If we try to illustrate these continua in terms of a *r* vs.  $||u||_{H^1}$  plot as in Figures 5.2, 5.3, we only can say something for the local parts that are given as a graph. For example for the local part of  $C(\partial \Omega)$  corresponding to the solutions close to  $\partial \Omega$  we know by Remark 4.4 c) that

$$||u||_{H^1}^2 = N\left(||\gamma||_{H^1}^2 - \frac{2r}{\pi}(\operatorname{vol}_2(\Omega) + \pi)\right) + o(r).$$

This provides the initial height and the initial slope of the curve in terms of the domain  $\Omega$ . A similar first order expansion can be obtained for the local parts of  $C(a_i, Z)$ . This time in terms of  $a_i$  and Z.

Beyond these local expansions much more is so far not known. For example in the unit disc we have  $C(\partial B_1(0)) = C(0, Z)$ , but even in a different convex domain this is not clear anymore. The general open question is what happens at the "other end(s)" of the continua? When do some of the sets  $C(\partial \Omega)$ ,  $C(a_i, Z)$ , or even  $C(a_i, \tilde{Z})$  for some other relative equilibrium  $\tilde{Z}$ , actually coincide? When do they merge into stationary or heteroclinic solutions?



FIGURE 5.2: This shows the structure of all periodic solutions  $(r, u) \in C_{1-\text{Gon}}$ in terms of r at the x-axis vs. the norm  $||u||_{H^1}$  at the y-axis. The solutions start at the boundary of the disc with arbitrarily small period and  $H^1$ -norm  $2\sqrt{\pi}$ . With shrinking radius they merge at  $r = \omega_1(0)^{-1} = \pi$  into the stationary solution. In terms of Remark 2.10 we see that options a) and c) are valid





FIGURE 5.3: Similar to the N = 1 case we illustrate the set  $C_{N-\text{Gon}}$  via the plot of r vs.  $N^{-1} ||u||_{H^1}$ . One sees that the periodic solutions emanating from the boundary (upper end of the lines) are connected with the solutions emanating from the critical point of the Robin function (lower end of the lines). On both ends the solutions approach  $\partial \mathcal{F}_N(B_1(0))$  with periods going to 0. So for  $C_N \supset C_{N-\text{Gon}}$  at least options b) and c) of Remark 2.10 are valid.

#### 5.3 Further remarks

As already mentioned before, an actual computation of the degree  $S^1$ -deg<sup> $\nabla$ </sup> in the case of a nondegenerate periodic solution has not been carried out. It would also be nice to know, how the degree behaves under a symplectic transformation of the Hamiltonian system.

It seems likely that the solutions of Theorem 3.8 consisting of  $m \ge 2$  clusters also give

3.4.1.

Concerning solutions near the boundary of a domain, one could try to scale more than one vortex towards the same (time dependent) boundary point in order to find more complicated configurations chasing along the boundary.

As explained in section 1.1 the *N*-vortex system arises as some sort of singular limit of more sophisticated models given by partial differential equations. A natural and interesting question is therefore what kind of conclusions one can draw for these PDEs from solutions of the point vortex system.

By constructing appropriate stream functions it is for example possible to desingularize stationary solutions of the *N*-vortex problem to stationary solutions of the 2D Euler equations (1.2), see [20] and references therein. A similar result for the Euler equations and periodic solutions is so far not available. Concerning the Gross-Pitaevskii equation (1.4) Venkatraman has shown in [76] that rigidly rotating solutions of (1.3) in the unit disc  $\Omega = B_1(0)$ give rise to corresponding periodic solutions of (1.4). The same is true for rigidly rotating configurations on the sphere  $S^2$ , see [39]. Apart from that the desingularization of general periodic solutions like the ones discussed in this thesis is also for the Gross-Pitaevskii equation an open problem.

## Appendix A

# Hamiltonian systems and their variational structure

We collect here some facts about first order Hamiltonian systems and the associated action functional. The elaboration is getting only to a point sufficient for this thesis. For further properties we refer to the books [43, 60, 61].

## A.1 Hamiltonian systems on $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$ and symplectic transformations

A symplectic form on the vectorspace  $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$  is a bilinear map  $\omega : \mathbb{R}^{2N} \times \mathbb{R}^{2N} \to \mathbb{R}$ , which is nondegenerate and skew-symmetric, i.e.  $\omega(v, w) = 0$  for every  $w \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  implies v = 0 and  $\omega(v, w) = -\omega(w, v)$  for all  $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ .

Let now  $\omega$  be such a symplectic form,  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  open and  $H : U \to \mathbb{R}$  be a  $C^2$  function. By the nondegenerateness of  $\omega$  there exists a unique  $C^1$  vectorfield  $X_H : U \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  satisfying for all  $z \in U$ ,  $w \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ 

$$\omega(X_H(z), w) = DH(z)w.$$

The Hamiltonian system associated to  $\omega$  and H is then the first order differential equation

$$\dot{z} = X_H(z). \tag{A.1}$$

**Lemma A.1.** There exists a skew-symmetric, regular matrix A depending only on  $\omega$ , such that (A.1) is equivalent to

$$A\dot{z} = \nabla H(z).$$

*Proof.* Let  $e_1, \ldots, e_{2N}$  be the usual basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$  consisting of unit vectors and *S* be the  $2N \times 2N$  matrix with entries  $s_{ij} = \omega(e_i, e_j)$ . Since  $\omega$  is nondegenerate, *S* is regular and the skew-symmetry of  $\omega$  implies  $S^T = -S$ . Moreover, for  $v = \sum_i v_i e_i$ ,  $w = \sum_i w_j e_j$  there holds

$$\omega(v,w) = \sum_{i,j} v_i w_j \omega(e_i, e_j) = \langle v, Sw \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} .$$

Thus with  $A := S^T = -S$  follows

$$\langle AX_H(z), w \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} = \omega(X_H(z), w) = DH(z)w$$

for any  $z \in U$ ,  $w \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  and hence  $AX_H(z) = \nabla H(z)$ .

Let now  $\tilde{U} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  be another open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$  and assume that we have a  $C^2$  diffeomorphism  $\varphi : U \to \tilde{U}$ . It is called symplectic with multiplier  $r \neq 0$  or *r*-symplectic, if

$$\omega(D\varphi(z)\upsilon,D\varphi(z)w)=r\omega(\upsilon,w)$$

for any  $z \in U$ ,  $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ . If r = 1, then  $\varphi$  is just called symplectic.

**Lemma A.2.** Let  $\varphi \in C^2(U, \tilde{U})$  be a r-symplectic diffeomorphism,  $r \neq 0$  and  $H \in C^2(\tilde{U}, \mathbb{R})$ . Then z(t) is a solution of  $\dot{z} = X_H(z)$  on  $\tilde{U}$ , if and only if  $u(t) := \varphi^{-1}(z(rt))$  solves  $\dot{u} = X_{H\circ\varphi}(u)$  on U. Moreover, we have a similar equivalence between the linearizations, i.e. v(t) solves  $\dot{v}(t) = DX_H(z(t))v(t)$ , if and only if  $y(t) := D\varphi(u(t))^{-1}v(rt)$  solves the corresponding equation  $\dot{y}(t) = DX_{H\circ\varphi}(u(t))y(t)$ .

*Proof.* The function  $z(t) = \varphi(u(t/r))$  solves  $\dot{z} = X_H(z)$ , if and only if for every  $w \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ 

$$\frac{1}{r}\omega(D\varphi(u(t))\dot{u}(t),w) = \omega(\dot{z}(rt),w) = DH(z(rt))w = DH(\varphi(u(t)))w$$

Since every  $D\varphi(u(t))$  is an isomorphism, we may replace w in this equation by  $D\varphi(u(t))\tilde{w}$ with  $\tilde{w} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  and obtain this way  $\omega(\dot{u}(t), \tilde{w}) = D(H \circ \varphi)(u(t))\tilde{w}$  for every  $\tilde{w} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ , i.e.  $\dot{u} = X_{H \circ \varphi}(u)$ . This shows the first part.

For the linearized equations we have that  $v(t) = D\varphi(u(t/r))y(t/r)$  solves  $\dot{v} = DX_H(z(t))v$ , if and only if

$$\frac{1}{r}\omega(D^2\varphi(u(t))[\dot{u}(t), y(t)] + D\varphi(u(t))\dot{y}(t), w)$$
$$= \omega(\dot{v}(rt), w) = D^2H(z(rt))[v(rt), w] = D^2H(\varphi(u(t)))[D\varphi(u(t))y(t), w]$$

for every  $w \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ . Replacing again w by  $D\varphi(u(t))\tilde{w}, \tilde{w} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  we see that

$$\omega(\dot{y}(t), \tilde{w}) = D^2(H \circ \varphi)(u(t))[y(t), \tilde{w}]$$

holds true provided

$$\frac{1}{r}\omega(D^2\varphi(u(t))[\dot{u}(t), y(t)], D\varphi(u(t))\tilde{w}) = -DH(\varphi(u(t))D^2\varphi(u(t))[y(t), \tilde{w}],$$

but this identity is a consequence of

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \frac{d}{d\varepsilon} _{|\varepsilon=0} \omega(\dot{u}(t), \tilde{w}) = \frac{1}{r} \frac{d}{d\varepsilon} _{|\varepsilon=0} \omega \left( D\varphi(u(t) + \varepsilon y(t)) \dot{u}(t), D\varphi(u(t) + \varepsilon y(t)) \tilde{w} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{r} \omega \left( D^2 \varphi(u(t)) [\dot{u}(t), y(t)], D\varphi(u(t)) \tilde{w} \right) + \omega \left( \dot{z}(rt), D^2 \varphi(u(t)) [y(t), \tilde{w}] \right). \end{split}$$

#### A.2 The Sobolev spaces H<sup>s</sup>

This summary of facts is taken from Section 3.3 of [43].

Let  $u : \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  be a square-integrable function with  $L^2$ -Fourier-series representation

$$u(t) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-J_N k t} \alpha_k$$

For  $s \in [0, \infty)$  the Sobolev space  $H^s$  is defined by saying that  $u \in H^s$ , if and only if the Fourier-coefficients  $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  satisfy

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}|k|^{2s}|\alpha_k|^2<\infty.$$

The vector space  $H^s$  equipped with the inner product

$$\langle u, v \rangle_s = \langle \alpha_0, \beta_0 \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} + 2\pi \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |k|^{2s} \langle \alpha_k, \beta_k \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}}$$

for  $u = \sum_k e^{-J_N kt} \alpha_k$ ,  $v = \sum_k e^{-J_N kt} \beta_k$  and induced norm  $||u||_s^2 = \langle u, u \rangle_s$  is a Hilbert space. We will especially use the space  $H^1$  and like to point out that we use instead of  $\langle u, v \rangle_1$  the inner product

$$\langle u,v\rangle_{H^1} = \int_0^{2\pi} \langle u(t),v(t)\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} + \langle \dot{u}(t),\dot{v}(t)\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt = 2\pi \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} (1+k^2) \langle \alpha_k,\beta_k\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}},$$

but this causes no problems, since the induced norm  $\|\cdot\|_{H^1}^2 = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{H^1}$  is equivalent to  $\|\cdot\|_1$ . We have the following continuous embeddings (Prop. 3 and 4 of [43]):

- $H^t \hookrightarrow H^s$  compactly for t > s,
- $H^s \hookrightarrow C^k(\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z},\mathbb{R}^{2N})$  for  $s > k + \frac{1}{2}, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ .

In particular for  $H^1$  we can find a constant *c*, such that

$$||u||_{C^0} = \sup_{t \in [0, 2\pi]} |u(t)| \le c ||u||_{H^1}$$

for every  $u \in H^1$ . In fact one can prove that  $H^1$ -functions are  $\frac{1}{2}$ -Hölder continuous and that the embedding  $H^1 \hookrightarrow C^0$  is compact and as a consequence completely continuous, cf. [60].

### **A.3** The action functional on $H^1$

On the space  $H^1$  we will now set up the action functional  $\Phi$  associated to a Hamiltonian system (A.1), prove its regularity and the correspondence between critical points and periodic solutions.

Since we need it in our application, we directly consider a family of Hamiltonian systems on the symplectic space  $(\mathbb{R}^{2N}, \omega)$ . I.e. let  $D \subset \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  open,  $H : D \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(r, z) \mapsto H_r(z)$ with each  $H_r$  being of class  $C^2$  and  $H, D_z H, D_z^2 H$  continuous.

Let  $\mathcal{D} = \{ (r, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times H^1 : (r, u(t)) \in D \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{R} \}$  and  $\mathcal{D}_r = \{ u \in H^1 : (r, u) \in \mathcal{D} \}$ and observe that these sets are open subsets of  $\mathbb{R} \times H^1$  and  $H^1$  by the embedding  $H^1 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}^0$ .

The action functional associated to the family of Hamiltonian systems

$$\dot{z} = X_{H_r}(z) \tag{A.2}$$

is defined by  $\Phi : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\Phi_r(u)=\frac{1}{2}\int_0^{2\pi}\langle A\dot{u},u\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}}\ dt-\int_0^{2\pi}H_r(u)\ dt,$$

where A is the skew-symmetric matrix of Lemma A.1.

Let  $(id - \Delta) : H^{s+2} \to H^s$ ,  $s \ge 0$  denote the isomorphism

$$u = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} B_k \alpha_k \mapsto u - \ddot{u} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (1 + k^2) B_k \alpha_k,$$

such that for  $u \in H^1$ ,  $v \in L^2$  there holds

$$\langle u, (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} v \rangle_{H^1} = \int_0^{2\pi} \langle u, v \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt = \langle u, v \rangle_{L^2}.$$

Thus if we define  $L : H^1 \to H^1$ ,  $Lu = (id - \Delta)^{-1}A\dot{u}$ , then *L* is self-adjoint and we can write the quadratic form of  $\Phi_r$  as

$$Q(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{2\pi} \langle A\dot{u}, u \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt = \frac{1}{2} \langle Lu, u \rangle_{H^1}.$$

Clearly *Q* is defined on all of  $H^1$  and smooth with  $\nabla Q(u) = Lu$ .

We now turn to the nonlinear part. Let  $\Re : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\Re_r(u) = \int_0^{2\pi} H_r(u) \, dt.$$

- **Lemma A.3.** a) The functional  $\Re$  is as smooth as H, i.e. each  $\Re_r \in C^2(\mathcal{D}_r, \mathbb{R})$  with gradient  $\nabla \Re_r(u) = (\mathrm{id} \Delta)^{-1} \nabla H_r(u), \nabla^2 \Re_r(u) = (\mathrm{id} \Delta)^{-1} \nabla^2 H_r(u)$  and the maps  $\Re, \nabla \Re, \nabla^2 \Re$  are continuous.
  - b) For each r we even have  $\nabla \Re_r \in C^1(\mathcal{D}_r, H^2)$  and if  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{D}$  is closed in  $\mathbb{R} \times H^1$  and bounded, then  $\nabla \Re(\mathcal{B})$  is relatively compact in  $H^2$ .
  - c) More generally, if  $H \in C^k(D, \mathbb{R})$  for  $k \ge 1$ , then  $\Re \in C^k(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R})$  and

$$\partial_r^j D_u^l \mathfrak{R}_r(u)[v^1,\ldots,v^l] = \int_0^{2\pi} \partial_r^j D_u^l H_r(u(t))[v^1(t),\ldots,v^l(t)] dt$$

for all  $0 \leq j, l$  with  $j + l \leq k$  and  $v^1, \ldots, v^l \in H^1$ .

*Proof.* a) The proof of these properties will rely mainly on the fact that if a sequence  $u_n \to u$ in  $H^1$ , then  $u_n \to u$  in  $C^0$ . Hence  $u_n(t), t \in \mathbb{R}$  is for *n* large enough in a compact neighborhood of the orbit  $u(\mathbb{R})$ , on which  $H_r$  and its derivatives are bounded and therefore serve as an integrable majorant. Alternatively one can also argue that  $H_r$  restricted to the orbit  $u(\mathbb{R})$  is uniformly continuous and hence  $H_r \circ u_n \to H_r \circ u$  uniformly.

To get started consider  $(r, u) \in \mathcal{D}$  and sequences  $r_n \to r$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $u_n \to u$  in  $H^1$ . Then

$$\left|\Re_{r}(u) - \Re_{r_{n}}(u_{n})\right| \leq \int_{0}^{2\pi} \left|H_{r}(u(t)) - H_{r_{n}}(u_{n}(t))\right| dt = o(1),$$

since the integrand converges pointwise to 0 and *H* is bounded on a compact neighborhood of  $\{r\} \times u(\mathbb{R})$ . Thus  $\Re$  is continuous.

Next we have for  $||v||_{H^1} \rightarrow 0$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \Re_r(u+v) - \Re_r(u) - \int_0^{2\pi} \langle \nabla H_r(u), v \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt \right| \\ &= \left| \int_0^{2\pi} \left\langle \int_0^1 \nabla H_r(u+\lambda v) d\lambda - \nabla H_r(u), v \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt \right| \le o(1) \cdot \|v\|_{L^2} \le o(\|v\|_{H^1}). \end{aligned}$$

Hence each  $\Re_r$  is differentiable with  $\nabla \Re_r(u) = (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} \nabla H_r(u)$ .

Since  $(\operatorname{id} - \Delta)^{-1} : L^2 \to H^2$  is an isomorphism, it is sufficient to prove that the map  $\mathcal{D} \ni (r, u) \mapsto \nabla H_r(u) \in L^2$  is continuous in order to conclude the continuity of  $\nabla \mathfrak{K}$ . But the continuity of this map follows in the same way as shown before for  $\mathfrak{K}$  itself.

In a similar way as above we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \nabla \Re_r(u+v) - \nabla \Re_r(u) - (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} \nabla^2 H_r(u) v \right\|_{H^1} &\leq \left\| \nabla H_r(u+v) - \nabla H_r(u) - \nabla^2 H_r(u) v \right\|_{L^2} \\ &= o(\|v\|_{H^1}), \end{aligned}$$

which shows that each  $\Re_r$  is twice-differentiable. Again as before we get the continuity of  $\mathcal{D} \ni (r, u) \mapsto \nabla^2 \Re_r(u) = (\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} \nabla^2 H_r(u) \in \mathcal{L}(H^1)$ . This shows  $\Re_r \in C^2(\mathcal{D}_r, \mathbb{R})$  for every r and  $\Re$ ,  $\nabla \Re$ ,  $\nabla^2 \Re$  are continuous.

b) That  $\nabla \Re_r \in C^1(\mathcal{D}_r, H^2)$  is a consequence of  $\nabla H_r \in C^1(\mathcal{D}_r, L^2)$  and that the map  $(\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} : L^2 \to H^2$  is an isomorphism. Next we will show that  $\nabla H$  actually maps continuously into  $H^1$  and that the image of a bounded closed subset  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{D}$  under  $\nabla H$  is bounded in  $H^1$ .

Let  $(r, u) \in \mathcal{D}$  and fix a compact neighborhood  $\mathcal{O} \subset D$  of the orbit  $\{(r, u(t)) : t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ , on which  $\nabla H$  and  $\nabla^2 H$  are bounded by a constant c > 0. Then  $\|\nabla^2 H_r(u)[\dot{u}]\|_{L^2} \leq c \|\dot{u}\|_{L^2}$  and by an approximation of u with  $2\pi$ -periodic  $C^1$  functions we can conclude that  $\nabla^2 H_r(u)[\dot{u}]$  is indeed the weak derivative of  $\nabla H_r(u)$ . Thus  $\nabla H_r(u) \in H^1$ .

For the continuity of  $\nabla H : \mathcal{D} \to H^1$  it remains to show that  $\nabla^2 H_{r_n}(u_n)[\dot{u}_n] \to \nabla^2 H_r(u)[\dot{u}]$ in  $L^2$ , when  $u_n \to u$  in  $H^1$ ,  $r_n \to r$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ . Checking this gives us

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \left| \nabla^{2} H_{r_{n}}(u_{n})[\dot{u}_{n}] - \nabla^{2} H_{r}(u)[\dot{u}] \right|^{2} dt \leq \tilde{c} \|\dot{u}_{n} - \dot{u}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{2\pi} \left\| \nabla^{2} H_{r_{n}}(u_{n}) - \nabla^{2} H_{r}(u) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R}^{2N})}^{2} |\dot{u}(t)|^{2} dt \to 0$$

Let now  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{D}$  be bounded and closed in  $\mathbb{R} \times H^1$ . As a consequence of the compact embedding  $H^1 \hookrightarrow C^0$ , the set  $B = \{(r, u(t)) : (r, u) \in \mathcal{B}\}$  is a compact subset of  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ . Therefore

$$\sup_{(r,u)\in\mathcal{B}} \left\|\nabla H_r(u)\right\|_{H^1}^2 \leq 2\pi \sup_B \left|\nabla H\right|^2 + \sup_B \left\|\nabla^2 H\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R}^{2N})}^2 \cdot \sup_{(r,u)\in\mathcal{B}} \left\|\dot{u}\right\|_{L^2}^2 < \infty.$$

So  $\nabla H(\mathcal{B})$  is bounded in  $H^1$ . Applying the isomorphism  $(\mathrm{id} - \Delta)^{-1} : H^1 \to H^3$  and the compact embedding  $H^3 \hookrightarrow H^2$  we finally see that  $\nabla \Re(\mathcal{B})$  is relatively compact in  $H^2$ .

c) For k = 1 we have already seen that  $D_u \Re_r(u)[v] = \int_0^{2\pi} D_u H_r(u(t))[v(t)] dt$  and that  $\nabla \Re$ , hence also  $D_u \Re$ , is continuous. For the partial derivative with respect to r one easily gets

$$\Re_{r_0+r}(u) - \Re_{r_0}(u) - r \int_0^{2\pi} \partial_r H_{r_0}(u) \, dt = o(r),$$

as well as the continuity of  $\partial_r \Re_r(u) = \int_0^{2\pi} \partial_r H_r(u) dt$ .

For k > 1 the statement follows by induction.

**Lemma A.4.** A  $2\pi$ -periodic function u is a solution of (A.2), if and only if  $u \in \mathcal{D}_r$  is a critical point of  $\Phi_r$ . Similar  $v \in \text{Kern } \nabla^2 \Phi_r(u)$ , if and only if v is a  $2\pi$ -periodic solution of the linearization  $\dot{v} = DX_{H_r}(u(t))v$ .

*Proof.* If  $u \in \mathcal{D}_r$  is a critical point of  $\Phi_r$ , then

$$\int_0^{2\pi} \langle A\dot{u} - \nabla H_r(u), v \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} dt = 0$$

for any  $v \in H^1$ . The fundamental lemma of calculus of variations implies  $A\dot{u} - \nabla H_r(u) = 0$  almost everywhere. But since  $\nabla H_r(u) \in H^1$ , this means that  $\dot{u}$  has a continuous representation and hence  $A\dot{u} - \nabla H_r(u) = 0$  holds everywhere.

In a similar way  $v \in \text{Kern } \nabla^2 \Phi_r(u)$  implies  $A\dot{v} - \nabla^2 H_r(u)v = 0$ , which is equivalent to  $\dot{v} = DX_{H_r}(u)v$ .

The other directions are obvious.

### **Appendix B**

## **Green's and Robin function**

The *N*-vortex Hamiltonian arising in fluid dynamics is classically determined by the Dirichlet - or more generally a hydrodynamic - Green's function of the domain. We present here some properties of the Dirichlet Green's function, that are needed for our existence results on periodic solutions. For some words on the more general hydrodynamic version skip to section B.4.

#### **B.1** Basic properties

First we recall some basic facts of the Green's function for the Dirichlet-Laplace operator, which can be found for example in [32, 40]. Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded or unbounded domain with non empty boundary. A Dirichlet Green's function  $G_\Omega$  for  $\Omega$  is a real-valued function, defined on  $(\overline{\Omega} \times \Omega) \setminus \{ (z, z) : z \in \Omega \}$  and satisfying for every  $y \in \Omega$ 

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta G_{\Omega}(\cdot, y) = \delta_{y}, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ G_{\Omega}(\cdot, y) = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$
(B.1)

in the sense that  $\Delta_x G_{\Omega}(x, y) = 0$  for  $x \in \Omega \setminus \{y\}$  and

$$\int_{\Omega} G_{\Omega}(x,y) \Delta \varphi(x) \, dx = -\varphi(y)$$

for every real valued  $C^{\infty}$  function  $\varphi$  compactly supported in  $\Omega$ .

In the case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$  one takes the fundamental solution of  $-\Delta$  as the Green's function

$$G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |x-y|$$

Since  $-\Delta G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(\cdot, y) = \delta_y$  for any  $y \in \mathbb{R}^2$ , the ansatz

$$G_{\Omega}(x,y) = G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) - g_{\Omega}(x,y)$$

shows that a Green's function for  $\Omega$  exists, provided one can solve for every  $y \in \Omega$  the boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta g_{\Omega}(\cdot, y) = 0, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ g_{\Omega}(\cdot, y) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |\cdot - y|, & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Hence Perron's method, section 2.8 in [40], guarantees the existence of a Green's function for a bounded domain, if all way-components of the complement of the domain consist of more than a single point. Moreover, in the case of a bounded domain, the maximum principle implies the uniqueness of  $G_{\Omega}$  and also the positivity  $G_{\Omega}(x, y) > 0$  for any  $x, y \in \Omega$ ,  $x \neq y$ . In general  $G_{\Omega}$  is symmetric, which means  $G_{\Omega}(x, y) = G_{\Omega}(y, x)$ , whenever  $G_{\Omega}(x, y)$  is defined. The function  $g_{\Omega}$  is therefore symmetric as well. It is called the regular part of  $G_{\Omega}$  and smooth on all of  $\Omega \times \Omega$ . The evaluation of  $g_{\Omega}$  at the same point defines the Robin function  $h_{\Omega} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$h_{\Omega}(z) = g_{\Omega}(z, z),$$

and  $\rho_{\Omega} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfying  $h(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log \rho_{\Omega}(z)$  is called harmonic radius.

Before we state some explicit examples, we mention a consequence of the positivity of  $G_{\Omega}$  and Hopf's Lemma, see [32]. Let  $\Omega$  be bounded,  $y \in \Omega$ ,  $p \in \partial \Omega$ , such that the interior ball condition at p is satisfied with some ball B, then

$$\partial_{\nu}G_{\Omega}(p,y) < 0, \tag{B.2}$$

where *v* is the exterior unit normal of *B* at *p*. If  $\partial \Omega \in C^2$ , then the interior ball condition is satisfied at every boundary point and *v* is just the exterior unit normal for  $\partial \Omega$ .

#### **B.2** Explicit cases

This section collects formulas of three important cases, in which the Green's function is explicitly known. These are the whole plane  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , the upper halfplane  $\mathbb{R}^2_+$  and the unit disc  $B_1(0)$ .

#### **B.2.1** The wohle plane

On  $\mathbb{R}^2$  the Green's function is just the fundamental solution of  $-\Delta$ , thus

$$\begin{split} G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) &= -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |x-y| \,, \quad g_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) = 0, \quad h_{\mathbb{R}^2}(z) = 0, \\ \nabla_1 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) &= -\frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{x-y}{|x-y|^2}, \quad \nabla_2 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) = \nabla_1 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(y,x) = -\nabla_1 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y), \\ \nabla_1^2 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) &= -\frac{1}{2\pi} \left( \frac{1}{|x-y|^2} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2} - 2 \frac{(x-y)(x-y)^T}{|x-y|^4} \right), \\ \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) &= -\nabla_1^2 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) = -\nabla_1^2 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(y,x). \end{split}$$

#### **B.2.2** The upper halfplane

For the upper halfplane  $\mathbb{R}^2_+ = \{(z_1, z_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : z_2 > 0\}$  the Green's function can be constructed by the method of images, i.e. with the reflection at the *x*-axis  $\tau : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $z = (z_1, z_2) \mapsto (z_1, -z_2) = \bar{z}$  holds

$$\begin{split} g_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(x,y) &= -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |x-\bar{y}| = G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,\bar{y}), \quad h_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log(2z_2), \\ \nabla_1^k G_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(x,y) &= \nabla_1^k G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) - \nabla_1^k G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,\bar{y}), \quad k = 0, 1, 2 \\ \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(x,y) &= \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) - \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,\bar{y}) \circ \tau \\ &= -\nabla_1^2 G_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(x,y) - \nabla_1^2 G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,\bar{y}) \circ (\operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2} - \tau), \\ \nabla h_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(z) &= -\frac{1}{2\pi z_2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \nabla^2 h_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi z_2^2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}. \end{split}$$

Note that the Green's function for the upper halfplane is not unique. For example  $\tilde{G}(x, y) = G_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(x, y) + x_2 y_2$  satisfies (B.1) as well. But  $G_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}$  induces a velocity field that tends to zero for points far away from the source.

#### **B.2.3** The unit disc

Denote by  $R : \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $R(z) = \frac{z}{|z|^2}$  the reflection at the unit circle. For  $y, z \neq 0$ , the Green's and Robin function of the disc  $B_1(0)$  and their derivatives can then be written as

$$g_{B_{1}(0)}(x,y) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \log \left( |x|^{2} |y|^{2} - 2 \langle x, y \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} + 1 \right) = G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(x, R(y)) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \log |y|,$$

$$G_{B_{1}(0)}(x,y) = G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(x,y) - G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(x, R(y)) + \frac{1}{2\pi} \log |y|,$$

$$\nabla_{1}^{k}G_{B_{1}(0)}(x,y) = \nabla_{1}^{k}G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(x,y) - \nabla_{1}^{k}G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(x, R(y)), \quad k = 1, 2,$$

$$\nabla_{2}\nabla_{1}G_{B_{1}(0)}(x,y) = \nabla_{2}\nabla_{1}G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(x,y) - \nabla_{2}\nabla_{1}G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(x, R(y))DR(y)$$

$$= -\nabla_{1}^{2}G_{B_{1}(0)}(x,y) - \nabla_{1}^{2}G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(x, R(y))(\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} - DR(y)),$$

$$h_{B_{1}(0)}(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log \left(1 - |z|^{2}\right), \quad \nabla h_{B_{1}(0)}(z) = \frac{z}{\pi(1 - |z|^{2})},$$

$$\nabla^{2}h_{B_{1}(0)}(z) = \frac{1}{\pi(1 - |z|^{2})} \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} + \frac{2zz^{T}}{\pi(1 - |z|^{2})^{2}}.$$
(B.3)

#### **B.3 Boundary behaviour**

For the periodic solutions of Chapter 4 emanating from the boundary of a domain we need a sound asymptotic behaviour of the Green's and Robin function, when pushing several vortices towards the boundary. Starting with the Robin function, recall that  $h_{\Omega}$  is determined by the harmonic radius  $\rho_{\Omega}$  via  $h_{\Omega}(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log \rho_{\Omega}(z)$ . The maximum principle implies a monotonicity property for the harmonic radius,  $\rho_{\Omega'} \leq \rho_{\Omega}$  if  $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ . Hence if  $p \in \partial\Omega$  is a boundary point at which the double sided ball condition is satisfied, a comparison of  $\rho_{\Omega}$ with the harmonic radius of the interior ball and of the complement of the exterior ball leads to the expansion

$$\rho_{\Omega}(p - d\nu) = 2d + o(d), \tag{B.4}$$

where v denotes the exterior unit normal of the interior ball at p. For details see [8] or [34]. It turns out that this first order expansion is not sufficient for our application. Luckily it can be improved in the simply connected case.

#### **B.3.1** The harmonic radius in simply connected domains

Let now  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a simply connected bounded domain, such that a conformal equivalence in terms of a Riemann mapping  $f : \Omega \to B_1(0)$  exists. Since the Green's function (in dimension 2) is invariant under conformal transformations, see e.g. [34], we can write  $G_{\Omega}$  in terms of f and the explicitly known Green's function for the unit disc:

$$G_{\Omega}(x,y) = G_{B_1(0)}(f(x), f(y)).$$
(B.5)

Also the harmonic radius – in the simply connected case called conformal radius – can be expressed in terms of the Riemann map, which allows an improvement of expansion (B.4). We interpret here f as a holomorphic map defined on  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}$  and write f' and  $f^{(k)}$  for the first and kth complex derivative of f.

Lemma B.1 (Bandle, Flucher [8, 34]). The conformal radius can be written as

$$\rho_{\Omega} = \frac{1 - |f|^2}{|f'|}.$$
(B.6)

*Furthermore, at every boundary point*  $p \in \partial \Omega$  *and for*  $d \to 0$ *,* 

$$\rho_{\Omega}(p - d\nu(p)) = 2d - \kappa(p)d^2 + o(d^2), \tag{B.7}$$

provided  $\partial \Omega$  is of class  $C^{2,\alpha}$ ,  $0 < \alpha < 1$ .

Note that the approximation is exact for the unit disc and the upper halfplane, since

$$\rho_{B_1(0)}(z) = 1 - |z|^2 = 2d(z) - d(z)^2, \quad \rho_{\mathbb{R}^2_+}(z) = z - \overline{z} = 2d(z).$$

**Corollary B.2.** If  $\partial \Omega \in C^{k, \alpha}$ ,  $k \ge 2$ ,  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ , the conformal radius  $\rho = \rho_{\Omega}$  extends  $C^k$  to  $\overline{\Omega}$  with

$$\rho(p) = 0, \quad \nabla \rho(p) = -2\nu(p), \quad \nabla^2 \rho(p) = -2\kappa(p) \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}, \quad p \in \partial \Omega.$$

*Proof.* Since  $\partial \Omega \in C^{k,\alpha}$ , f extends to  $f \in C^{k,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$  by the Kellogg-Warschawski Theorem, cf. [65]. As a consequence of (B.2) and (B.5) the derivative f' can not be 0 on the boundary  $\partial \Omega$ . In the interior this is clear, since f is a biholomorphic map. For the moment we therefore obtain  $\rho_{\Omega} \in C^{k-1}(\overline{\Omega})$  by (B.6).

In order to see  $\rho \in C^k(\overline{\Omega})$ , derive (B.6) k times in the interior of  $\Omega$  and observe that the (k + 1)st derivative of f only appears in one term containing the product  $\rho f^{(k+1)}$ . But for  $z \to \partial \Omega$  holds

$$\left|\rho(z)f^{(k+1)}(z)\right| = \frac{\rho(z)}{d(z)} \cdot \left|\frac{d(z)}{2\pi i} \int_{|w-z| = \frac{d(z)}{2}} \frac{f^{(k)}(w) - f^{(k)}(z)}{(w-z)^2} \, dw\right| = O(d(z)^{\alpha}),$$

due to (B.4).

Now the expansion  $\rho(p - d\nu(p)) = 2d - \kappa(p)d^2 + o(d^2)$  of Lemma B.1 shows  $\rho = 0$ ,  $\langle \nabla \rho, \nu \rangle = -2$  and  $\langle \nabla^2 \rho \nu, \nu \rangle = -2\kappa$  onto the boundary. Then clearly  $\langle \nabla \rho, J\nu \rangle = 0$ , which gives  $\nabla \rho = -2\nu$  on  $\partial \Omega$ . Finally, since  $D\nu(p) : T_p \partial \Omega \to T_p \partial \Omega$  is given by multiplication with  $\kappa(p), \nabla^2 \rho J\nu = D(-2\nu)[J\nu] = -2\kappa J\nu$  and therefore  $\nabla^2 \rho = -2\kappa \cdot id_{\mathbb{R}^2}$  holds.  $\Box$ 

#### **B.3.2** The harmonic radius of an annulus

The following Lemma shows that the second order expansion of  $\rho_{\Omega}$  needed for Assumption 4.1 not only holds in simply connected domains.

**Lemma B.3.** Let  $\rho_A$  be the harmonic radius of the annulus  $A = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : a < |x| < b\}$  with 0 < a < b. Then  $\rho_A \in C^3(\overline{A})$  and

$$\rho_A(p) = 0, \quad \nabla \rho_A(p) = -2\nu(p), \quad \nabla^2 \rho_A(p) = -2\kappa(p) \cdot \mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{R}^2}, \quad p \in \partial A.$$

*Proof.* We prove this for b = 1, i.e.  $A = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : a < |x| < 1\}$ . A formula for the Robin function  $h_A$  is given by the following series

$$h_A(x) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \left( \frac{(\log |x|)^2}{\log a} - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \frac{|x|^{2m} - 2a^{2m} + a^{2m} |x|^{-2m}}{1 - a^{2m}} \right)$$

see [42], Corollary 2.1. Setting  $h_A(x) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \Big( \log(2d(x)) + \varphi(x) \Big)$  we have  $\rho_A(x) = 2d(x)e^{\varphi(x)}$ . A direct calculation shows that it suffices to prove  $\varphi(x) \to 0$ ,  $\langle \nabla \varphi(x), Jv(p(x)) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} \to 0$ ,  $\langle \nabla \varphi(x), v(p(x)) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} \to \frac{1}{2}\kappa(p(x)), |\nabla^2 \varphi|$  is bounded as  $x \to \partial A$  and  $\lim_{x \to \partial A} D^3 \varphi(x)$  exists. We just consider the outer boundary, i.e.  $|x| \rightarrow 1$ . In this case we have:

$$\begin{split} \varphi(x) &= \frac{(\log|x|)^2}{\log a} - \log\left(2(1-|x|)\right) - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \frac{|x|^{2m} - 2a^{2m} + a^{2m} |x|^{-2m}}{1 - a^{2m}} \\ &= \frac{(\log|x|)^2}{\log a} - \log\left(2(1-|x|)\right) - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(|x|^{2m} + \frac{a^{2m}(|x|^m - |x|^{-m})^2}{1 - a^{2m}}\right) \\ &= \frac{(\log|x|)^2}{\log a} + \log \frac{1 + |x|}{2} - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{a}{|x|}\right)^{2m} \frac{(|x|^{2m} - 1)^2}{m(1 - a^{2m})}. \end{split}$$

Now  $\lim_{|x|\to 1} \varphi(x) = 0$  is equivalent to

$$\lim_{|x|\to 1}\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{a}{|x|}\right)^{2m} \frac{(|x|^{2m}-1)^2}{m(1-a^{2m})} = 0.$$

The latter is true since  $0 < \frac{a}{|x|} < 1$ ,  $\frac{(|x|^{2m}-1)^2}{m(1-a^{2m})}$  is uniformly bounded, hence the series is uniformly convergent as  $|x| \rightarrow 1$ . Furthermore,

$$\nabla\varphi(x) = \left(\frac{1}{1+|x|} + \frac{2\log|x|}{|x|\log a} + 2\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{a}{|x|}\right)^{2m} \frac{1-|x|^{4m}}{(1-a^{2m})|x|}\right) \nu(p(x)),$$

so  $\langle \nabla \varphi(x), J \nu(p(x)) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} = 0$  and

I.

$$\lim_{|x|\to 1} \left\langle \nabla \varphi(x), \nu(p(x)) \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} = \frac{1}{2} + 2 \lim_{|x|\to 1} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left( \frac{a}{|x|} \right)^{2m} \frac{1 - |x|^{4m}}{(1 - a^{2m})|x|} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \kappa(p(x)).$$

Continuing differentiating, in the same manner one can derive that  $|\nabla^2 \varphi(x)|$  is bounded and that  $\lim_{|x|\to 1} D^3 \varphi(x)$  exists. The situation when *x* approaches the inner circle is analogous.

#### **B.3.3** Green's function

Now we turn to the part of Assumption 4.1 concerning the Green's function  $G_{\Omega}$ . Recall that  $Q_y : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}\nu(p(y))$  is the orthogonal projection onto the normal space  $N_{p(y)}\partial\Omega$  whenever this is defined for  $y \in \Omega$ .

**Lemma B.4.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a domain (not necessarily simply connected) and  $C \subset \partial \Omega$  a compact connected component of class  $C^{3,\alpha}$ . Choose a bounded neighborhood  $\Omega_0 \subset \Omega$  of C with  $\partial \Omega_0 \in C^{3,\alpha}$ , such that the orthogonal projection p onto  $\partial \Omega$  is welldefined on  $\Omega_0$ . For every  $\varepsilon > 0$  the function  $G_\Omega$  satisfies

$$\left|\nabla_1 G_{\Omega}(x,y)\right| + \left|\nabla_1^2 G_{\Omega}(x,y)\right| = O(d(y)), \quad \nabla_2 \nabla_1 G_{\Omega}(x,y) = O(1)Q_y + O(d(y))$$

as  $d(y) \to 0$  uniformly on the set  $A_{\varepsilon} := \left\{ (x, y) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \Omega_0 : |x - y| \ge \varepsilon \right\}.$ 

*Proof.* It is well known that  $G_{\Omega} \in C^{3, \alpha}(\overline{A}_{\varepsilon})$ , see [40] Thm. 6.19. Since  $G_{\Omega}(x, y) = 0$  for  $x \in \Omega$  and  $y \in C \subset \partial \Omega$ , we have  $\nabla_1 G_{\Omega}(x, y) = 0$  and  $\nabla_1^2 G_{\Omega}(x, y) = 0$  for  $x \in \Omega$  and  $y \in C$ . The estimate

$$\left|\nabla_{1}G_{\Omega}(x,y)\right| + \left|\nabla_{1}^{2}G_{\Omega}(x,y)\right| = O(d(y))$$

as  $d(y) \to 0$ , uniformly on the set  $\overline{A}_{\varepsilon}$  now follows because  $G_{\Omega}$  is of class  $C^3$  and  $\overline{A}_{\varepsilon}$  is compact.

Next observe that  $\nabla_1 G_\Omega(x, y) = 0, x \in \Omega, y \in C$  implies that  $D_y (\nabla_1 G_\Omega(x, y)) |_{T_y C} = 0$ , i.e.  $\nabla_2 \nabla_1 G_\Omega(x, y) = \alpha(x, y) Q_y$  for  $x \in \Omega, y \in C$  and with some  $\alpha(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}$ . Again the compactness of  $\overline{A}_{\varepsilon}$  and  $G_\Omega$  being of class  $C^3$  imply

$$\nabla_2 \nabla_1 G_\Omega(x, y) = O(1)Q_y + O(d(y))$$

as  $d(y) \to 0$  uniformly on  $\overline{A}_{\varepsilon}$ .

#### **B.4** Hydrodynamic Green's function

Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded domain with boundary  $\partial \Omega = \bigcup_{i=0}^l C_i$  consisting of smooth closed curves. Usually  $C_0$  denotes the exterior curve. For a smooth vectorfield  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^2$  the circulation around  $C_i$  is defined by

$$c_i(u) = \oint_{C_i} u \cdot ds$$

Let  $\omega = \operatorname{curl} u = \partial_1 u_2 - \partial_2 u_1$  denote the rotation of *u*. Stokes' Theorem implies

$$\int_{\Omega} \omega \, dx = c_0(u) - \sum_{i=1}^{l} c_i(u).$$
 (B.8)

**Theorem B.5** (Chap. 1, Thm. 2.2 of [57]). Given  $\omega : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  smooth and  $c_1, \ldots, c_l \in \mathbb{R}$ . There exists a unique vectorfield  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ , tangent to  $\partial\Omega$  and with curl  $u = \omega$ , div u = 0,  $c_i(u) = c_i$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, l$ . (The circulation around  $C_0$  is determined by (B.8).)

If  $\Omega$  is simply connected and  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^2$  a divergence-free vectorfield, tangent to  $\partial \Omega$  with compactly supported vorticity  $\omega = \operatorname{curl} u$ , then *u* can be expressed with the help of the Dirichlet Green's function via

$$u(x) = \int_{\Omega} J \nabla_1 G_{\Omega}(x, y) \omega(y) \, dy =: (\nabla^{\perp} G_{\Omega} * \omega)(x).$$
(B.9)

Indeed the right-hand side has divergence 0 and  $\operatorname{curl}(\nabla^{\perp}G_{\Omega}*\omega) = (-\Delta G_{\Omega})*\omega = \omega$ . Moreover, the tangential derivative of  $\nabla^{\perp}G_{\Omega}*\omega$  at a boundary point is vanishing, since  $G_{\Omega}(\cdot, y)|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$ . Therefore Theorem B.5 implies  $u = \nabla^{\perp}G_{\Omega}*\omega$ .

In the simply connected case equation (B.9) provides an equivalence between a vectorfield and its vorticity. The notion of a hydrodynamic Green's function generalizes this equivalence to multiply connected domains. The following definition and properties can be found in [34, 35].

Let  $\Omega$  be a multiply connected domain with boundary curves  $C_0, \ldots, C_l$ .

**Definition B.6.** The hydrodynamic Green's function with periods  $\gamma_0, \ldots, \gamma_l \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that  $\sum_i \gamma_i = -1$ , is defined as the solution  $G(\cdot, y)$  of the problem

$$-\Delta G(\cdot, y) = \delta_y \text{ in } \Omega,$$
  

$$\partial_{J_V} G(\cdot, y) = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega,$$
  

$$\int_{C_i} \partial_v G(\cdot, y) = \gamma_i \text{ for every } i = 0, \dots, h$$
  

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} G(\cdot, y) \partial_v G(\cdot, z) = 0 \text{ for every } y, z \in \Omega.$$

The second condition says that  $G(\cdot, y)$  is constant on each component  $C_i$  and the third can be rephrased in terms of circulations, i.e.  $c_0(\nabla^{\perp}G(\cdot, y)) = -\gamma_0$  and  $c_i(\nabla^{\perp}G(\cdot, y)) = \gamma_i$  for i = 1, ..., l. By (B.8) the hydrodynamic Green's function only has a chance to exist, if  $\sum_{i=0}^{l} \gamma_i = -1$ . The last condition in B.6 is a normalization.

**Lemma B.7** (Lem. 15.3 of [34]). Let  $\Omega$  and  $\gamma_i$ , i = 0, ..., l be as before. Then we have:

- a) The hydrodynamic Green's function exists if and only if  $\sum_{i=0}^{l} \gamma_i = -1$ .
- b) G is unique, symmetric and

$$G(x,y) = G_{\Omega}(x,y) + \sum_{i,j=0}^{l} g^{ij} u_i(x) u_j(y),$$

where  $G_{\Omega}$  is the Dirichlet Green's function,  $[g^{ij}]_{i,j=0,...,l}$  is a symmetric, positive semi definite matrix with one-dimensional kernel spanned by  $(\gamma_0, \ldots, \gamma_l)$ , and  $u_j$  is the unique harmonic function with values  $u_j = 1$  on  $C_j$ ,  $u_j = 0$  on  $C_k$  for  $k \neq j$ .

c) The hydrodynamic Robin function  $h(z) := g_{\Omega}(z, z) - \sum_{i,j} g^{ij} u_i(z) u_j(z)$  satisfies

$$h(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log(d(z)) + O(1)$$

uniformly as  $z \to \partial \Omega$ .

In particular if  $\Omega$  is simply connected, we see that G (with  $\gamma_0 = -1$ ) is nothing but the Dirichlet Green's function  $G_{\Omega}$ . For the possibly multiply connected case where  $\partial \Omega = \bigcup_i C_i$  we conclude:

**Corollary B.8.** If  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^2$  is a smooth divergence-free vectorfield, tangent to  $\partial\Omega$  and with compactly supported vorticity  $\omega = \operatorname{curl} u$  satisfying  $\Gamma := \int_{\Omega} \omega \, dx \neq 0$ . Then there exists a unique hydrodynamic Green's function G, such that  $u = \nabla^{\perp}G * \omega$ . The choice of G depends only on  $\Gamma$  and the circulations  $c_i(u)$ .

*Proof.* It is easy to see that the convolution  $\tilde{u} = \nabla^{\perp} \tilde{G} * \omega$  with an arbitrary hydrodynamic Green's function  $\tilde{G}$  satisfies div  $\tilde{u} = 0$ , curl  $\tilde{u} = \omega$  in  $\Omega$  and  $\langle \tilde{u}, \nu \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} = 0$  on the boundary. Since

$$c_i(\tilde{u}) = \int_{\Omega} c_i(\nabla^{\perp} \tilde{G}(\cdot, y)) \omega(y) \, dy = \Gamma \cdot \begin{cases} -\gamma_0, & i = 0, \\ \gamma_i, & i > 0, \end{cases}$$
(B.10)

we define  $\gamma_0 = -\frac{c_0(u)}{\Gamma}$  and  $\gamma_i = \frac{c_i(u)}{\Gamma}$  for i = 1, ..., l. By (B.8) the numbers  $\gamma_i$  satisfy the consistence relation  $\sum_{i=0}^{l} \gamma_i = -1$ , and hence the corresponding hydrodynamic Green's function *G* exists. By the definition of the periods  $\gamma_i$  the vectorfields *u* and  $\nabla^{\perp}G * \omega$  have the same circulations. Thus Theorem B.5 implies  $u = \nabla^{\perp}G * \omega$ .

If  $\Gamma = \int_{\Omega} \omega \, dx = 0$ , equation (B.10) shows that a representation of u in terms of a convolution is only possible if all circulations  $c_i(u)$  are vanishing. If this is the case, then  $u = \nabla^{\perp} G * \omega$  for any hydrodynamic Green's function G.

## Appendix C

# A derivation of the *N*-vortex problem

Here we will see how the 2D-Euler equation gives rise to the *N*-vortex problem in terms of a localization result. Roughly speaking we will see that highly concentrated vortex blobs remain concentrated while their centers follow the corresponding point vortex solution. This has been shown in [59] by Marchioro and Pulvirenti. The discussion in the first section is based on the books [34] and [57].

#### C.1 Two representations of the Euler equation

We consider an incompressible nonviscous fluid contained in a two-dimensional bounded domain  $\Omega$  surrounded by smooth closed boundary curves  $C_i$ , i = 0, ..., l, which are impenetrable for the fluid. The velocity field  $u : \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $(x, t) \mapsto u(x, t)$  and the pressure  $p : \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(x, t) \mapsto p(x, t)$  of the fluid satisfy the Euler equations

$$\partial_t u + (u \cdot \nabla)u = -\nabla p \text{ in } \Omega \times \mathbb{R}, \quad \text{div } u = 0 \text{ in } \Omega \times \mathbb{R}, \\ u \cdot v = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega \times \mathbb{R}, \quad u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 \text{ in } \overline{\Omega}.$$
(C.1)

Here div  $u = \partial_1 u_1 + \partial_2 u_2 = 0$ , where  $\partial_i = \partial_{x_i}$ , corresponds to the incompressibility condition, the scalar product with the exterior unit normal  $u \cdot v = 0$  models the impenetrability of  $\partial \Omega$ , and  $u_0$  is the initial velocity field.

Suppose that u, p are smooth solutions of the 2D-Euler equation (C.1). The vorticity associated to u is given by  $\omega = \operatorname{curl} u = \partial_1 u_2 - \partial_2 u_1$  and its time evolution is determined by the scalar equation

$$\partial_t \omega = \operatorname{curl}(\partial_t u) = -\operatorname{curl}((u \cdot \nabla)u + \nabla p) = -u \cdot \nabla \omega. \tag{C.2}$$

For  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  we denote by  $\Phi_{t, t_0}(x)$  the solution of the initial value problem

$$\dot{\phi}(t) = u(\phi(t), t), \quad \phi(t_0) = x,$$

i.e.  $t \mapsto \Phi_{t,t_0}(x)$  describes the trajectory of a particle moving with the fluid starting in x at time  $t_0$ . Note that if x is initially located in a boundary curve  $C_i$ , then  $\Phi_{t,t_0}(x) \in C_i$ . This follows from  $u \cdot v = 0$  and can for example be seen by locally writing  $C_i \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x)$  as a regular level set  $h^{-1}(0)$  and considering the Hamiltonian system  $\dot{y} = J\nabla h(y)$ . Since u is tangent to  $\partial \Omega$ , the solutions of this Hamiltonian system are a reparameterization of the particle trajectories  $\Phi_{t,t_0}(x)$ .

In other words  $\partial \Omega$  consists of invariant flow lines and as a consequence  $\Phi_{t,t_0}(x)$  is globally defined for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ,  $t, t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . Moreover,  $\Phi_{t_2,t_1} \circ \Phi_{t_1,t_0} = \Phi_{t_2,t_0}$  for any triple  $t_0, t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ . This implies that each  $\Phi_{t,t_0} : \overline{\Omega} \to \overline{\Omega}$  is a diffeomorphism with inverse  $\Phi_{t,t_0}^{-1} = \Phi_{t_0,t}$ . Since div u = 0, we also know that det  $D\Phi_{t,t_0}(x) = 1$  for any  $t, t_0 \in \mathbb{R}, x \in \Omega$ .

The properties of  $\Phi_{t,t_0}(x)$  discussed so far are also valid for an arbitrary divergencefree vectorfield  $\tilde{u}(x,t)$ , tangent to  $\partial\Omega$ . For a vector field satisfying the Euler equation and therefore (C.2), we can in addition conclude  $\omega(\Phi_{t,t_0}(x),t) = \omega(x,t_0)$ , and especially

$$\omega(x,t) = \omega(\Phi_{0,t}(x),0). \tag{C.3}$$

As a consequence we see that the total vorticity is conserved, indeed  $\Phi_{t,0}$  area-preserving implies

$$\int_{\Omega} \omega(x,t) \, dx = \int_{\Phi_{t,0}(\Omega)} \omega(\Phi_{0,t}(x),0) \, dx = \int_{\Omega} \omega(x,0) \, dx.$$

By Kelvin's Theorem the same holds for the circulations: We rewrite  $(u \cdot \nabla)u = \frac{1}{2} \nabla |u|^2 - \omega Ju$ , and get

$$\frac{d}{dt}c_i(u(\cdot,t)) = \oint_{C_i} \partial_t u \cdot ds = -\oint_{C_i} \nabla\left(\frac{1}{2}|u|^2 + p\right) \cdot ds + \oint_{C_i} \omega J u \cdot ds = 0.$$

Suppose that the initially velocity field  $u_0$  is such that  $\omega(\cdot, 0) \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  with nonzero total vorticity  $\Gamma = \int_{\Omega} \omega(\cdot, 0) dx$ , then Corollary B.8 provides a unique hydrodynamic Green's function *G*, such that

$$u(\cdot,t) = \int_{\Omega} J \nabla G(\cdot,y) \omega(y,t) \, dy = \nabla^{\perp} G * \omega(\cdot,t).$$

Hence the vorticity satisfies in  $\Omega \times \mathbb{R}$  the equation

$$\partial_t \omega + (\nabla^\perp G * \omega) \cdot \nabla \omega = 0. \tag{C.4}$$

Conversely if we suppose that  $\omega(x, t)$  satisfies (C.4) with a fixed hydrodynamic Green's function *G* and initial vorticity  $\omega(\cdot, 0) \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , then  $u := \nabla^{\perp} G * \omega$  and *p* defined as the (up to a constant unique) solution of the Neumann boundary value problem

$$\Delta p = \omega^2 - \frac{1}{2} \Delta |u|^2 \text{ in } \Omega \times \mathbb{R}, \quad \partial_{\nu} p = \left( \omega J u - \frac{1}{2} \nabla |u|^2 \right) \cdot \nu \text{ on } \partial \Omega \times \mathbb{R},$$

solve the 2*D*-Euler equation (C.1). Indeed *u* is divergence free, tangent to  $\partial \Omega$  and curl  $u = \omega$ . Thus it remains to show that

$$\tilde{u} := \partial_t u + (u \cdot \nabla)u + \nabla p = \partial_t u + \frac{1}{2} \nabla |u|^2 - \omega J u + \nabla p = 0.$$

We have curl  $\tilde{u} = 0$  by (C.4), as well as div  $\tilde{u} = 0$ ,  $\tilde{u} \cdot v = 0$  by the choice of p. In order to apply Theorem B.5 we thus need to show that the circulations  $c_i(\tilde{u}(\cdot, t))$  are vanishing. We have

$$c_i(\tilde{u}(\cdot,t)) = c_i(\partial_t u(\cdot,t)) = \frac{d}{dt}c_i(u(\cdot,t)) = \pm \gamma_i \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \omega(x,t) \, dx,$$

where  $\gamma_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 0, ..., l$  are the periods of the Green's function *G*, cf. (B.10). To see that the total vorticity is constant we can argue in the same way as before, i.e. we denote by  $\Phi_{t,t_0}(x)$  the particle-trajectory map associated to  $u = \nabla^{\perp}G * \omega$ , observe that it is an area preserving diffeomorphism and that (C.4) implies  $\omega(\Phi_{t,t_0}(x), t) = \omega(x, t_0)$ . It follows  $c_i(\tilde{u}(\cdot, t)) = 0$ .

Our discussion shows that the equations (C.1) and (C.4) are equivalent – at least under the condition of nonzero total vorticity. Note also that  $\Psi = G * \omega$  defines a stream function for *u*, which has been used in the introduction in equation (1.2).

#### C.2 The localization of vortex blobs

Following [59] we will now present the localization result. As a step in between we consider a single vortex blob on the whole plane under the influence of an external field. For  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$  and  $\Gamma \neq 0$  we define a set  $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}(a, \Gamma) \subset C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2}, \mathbb{R})$  by saying that  $\omega \in \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}(a, \Gamma)$  if and only if

supp 
$$\omega \subset B_{\varepsilon}(a), \ \omega \Gamma \geq 0$$
 on all of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \omega \ dx = \Gamma$ 

So  $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}(a, \Gamma)$  contains smooth vortex blobs concentrated in the  $\varepsilon$ -ball around a and with total vorticity  $\Gamma$ .

For the external field we consider a collection  $(F_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_1)} \subset C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^2)$  of smooth vectorfields, such that there exists a constant L > 0 independent of  $\varepsilon$  with

div 
$$F_{\varepsilon}(x,t) = 0$$
, supp  $F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,t) \subset B_L(0)$ ,  $|F_{\varepsilon}(x,t)| \leq L$  and  $|F_{\varepsilon}(x,t) - F_{\varepsilon}(y,t)| \leq L |x-y|$ 

for all  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_1)$ ,  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

For  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_1)$  we suppose that  $\omega_{\varepsilon} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$  satisfies

$$\partial_t \omega_{\varepsilon} + (\nabla^{\perp} G_{\mathbb{R}^2} * \omega_{\varepsilon} + F_{\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla \omega_{\varepsilon} = 0 \tag{C.5}$$

with initial vorticity profiles  $\omega_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, 0) \in \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}(a, \Gamma)$  such that  $|\omega_{\varepsilon}(x, t)| = O(\varepsilon^{-\eta})$  for some  $\eta < \frac{8}{3}$ .

We define the center of vorticity

$$c_{\varepsilon}(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} x \omega_{\varepsilon}(x, t) \, dx$$

and  $e_{\varepsilon}(t)$  as the solution of the initial value problem

$$\dot{e}_{\varepsilon}(t) = F_{\varepsilon}(e_{\varepsilon}(t), t), \quad e_{\varepsilon}(0) = a.$$

**Theorem C.1** (cf. Thm. 3.1 of [59]). For T > 0 and  $\delta > 0$  there exists  $\varepsilon_0 = \varepsilon_0(T, \delta) > 0$ , such that for all  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$  and every  $t \in [0, T]$  there holds

supp 
$$\omega_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, t) \subset B_{\delta}(c_{\varepsilon}(t)).$$

*Moreover,*  $|c_{\varepsilon}(t) - e_{\varepsilon}(t)| \rightarrow 0$  *uniformly on* [0, T] *as*  $\varepsilon \rightarrow 0$ *.* 

**Remark C.2.** The Theorem stated above differs slightly from the original version in [59]. First of all we have formulated everything for smooth  $\omega_{\varepsilon}$ ,  $F_{\varepsilon}$  with compactly supported fields  $F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, t)$ . This is of course way too much. The paper [59] deals with  $\omega(\cdot, t) \in L^1 \cap L^{\infty}$ , the weak form of the Euler equation and a uniformly Lipschitz continuous, uniformly bounded external field.

In fact the original formulation considers a single external field F instead of a family  $(F_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon}$ , but the proof only uses the uniform Lipschitz continuity and the uniform boundedness of F.

A third difference is that Thm. 3.1 of [59] considers a blob with vorticity  $\Gamma = 1$ , but the general case can be reduced to this case by rescaling  $\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) = \Gamma^{-1}\omega_{\varepsilon}(\sigma x,t/|\Gamma|), \sigma = \operatorname{sign}(\Gamma)$ and  $\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) = \Gamma^{-1}F(\sigma x,t/|\Gamma|).$ 

Next we look at the Euler equation in vorticity form on a bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  with smooth boundary, i.e. we fix a hydrodynamic Green's function  $G(x, y) = G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x, y) - g(x, y)$  and consider

$$\partial_t \omega + (\nabla^\perp G * \omega) \cdot \nabla \omega = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega \times \mathbb{R}.$$
(C.6)

In Section C.1 we have already seen that a solution of this equation implies that the vector field  $u = \nabla^{\perp} G * \omega$  and a suitable pressure function p solve the Euler equation (C.1). Let

 $(a_1, \ldots, a_N) \in \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega), \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_N \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  and denote by  $\omega_{\varepsilon} : \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  the solution of (C.6) with initial condition

$$\omega_{\varepsilon}(x,0) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x,0),$$

where  $\omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\cdot, 0) \in \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}(a_{i}, \Gamma_{i})$  and  $|\omega_{\varepsilon}(x, t)| = O(\varepsilon^{-\eta})$  for some  $\eta < \frac{8}{3}$ . Concerning global existence and uniqueness of solutions of (C.6), the proof with *G* being the Dirichlet Green's function can be found in [57].

For our initial value problem we consider only  $\varepsilon > 0$  satisfying  $3\varepsilon < \min_{i \neq j} |a_i - a_j|$  and  $2\varepsilon < \min_i \operatorname{dist}(a_i, \partial \Omega)$ , such that  $\operatorname{supp} \omega_{\varepsilon}^i(\cdot, 0) \cap \operatorname{supp} \omega_{\varepsilon}^j(\cdot, 0) = \emptyset$  and  $\operatorname{supp}(\omega_{\varepsilon}^i(\cdot, 0)) \subset \Omega$  for  $i \neq j$ . In view of (C.3) we define

$$\omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x,t) := \omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\Phi_{0,t}^{\varepsilon}(x),0),$$

where  $\Phi_{t,t_0}^{\varepsilon}(x)$  is the particle-trajectory map associated to the vectorfield  $u_{\varepsilon} := \nabla^{\perp} G * \omega_{\varepsilon}$ . In other words  $\omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\cdot, t)$  tracks the evolution of the vortex blob  $\omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\cdot, 0)$  initially located around  $a_{i}$ . Clearly  $\omega_{\varepsilon}(x, t) = \sum_{i} \omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x, t)$  and

$$\int_{\Omega} \omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x,t) \, dx = \Gamma_{i}$$

Next we set up the *N*-vortex Hamiltonian<sup>1</sup>  $H : \mathcal{F}_N(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$  induced by the hydrodynamic Green's function *G*, i.e.

$$H(z_1,\ldots,z_N)=\frac{1}{2}\left(\sum_{i\neq j}\Gamma_i\Gamma_jG(z_i,z_j)-\sum_{i,j}\Gamma_i\Gamma_jg(z_i,z_j)\right),$$

and denote by  $z(t) = (z_1(t), ..., z_N(t))$  the solution of the initial value problem

$$\Gamma_i \dot{z}_i = J \nabla_{z_i} H(z), \quad z_i(0) = a_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, N.$$

Let  $0 < T^+ \le \infty$  be the upper bound of the existence interval of the solution z(t).

**Theorem C.3** (cf. Thm. 2.1 of [59]). For  $T \in (0, T+)$  and  $\delta > 0$  there exists  $\varepsilon_0 = \varepsilon_0(T, \delta) > 0$ , such that for all  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ ,  $t \in [0, T]$  and i = 1, ..., N there holds

supp 
$$\omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\cdot, t) \subset B_{\delta}(z_{i}(t)).$$

*Moreover, for any*  $f \in C^0(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$  *we have* 

$$\int_{\Omega} \omega_{\varepsilon}(x,t) f(x) \, dx \to \sum_{i=1}^{N} \Gamma_i f(z_i(t))$$

uniformly on [0,T] as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . That is  $\omega_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,t) \to \sum_{i} \Gamma_{i} \delta_{z_{i}(t)}$  weakly in the sense of measures.

*Proof.* First of all we observe that the identity  $\Phi_{t,0}^{\varepsilon}(\Phi_{0,t}^{\varepsilon}(x)) = x$  implies

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Phi_{0,t}^{\varepsilon}(x) = -D\Phi_{0,t}^{\varepsilon}(x)u_{\varepsilon}(x,t)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> in the other parts of the thesis we neglect the factor  $\frac{1}{2}$ 

and therefore

$$\partial_t \omega^i_{\varepsilon}(x,t) = \frac{d}{dt} \omega^i_{\varepsilon}(\Phi^{\varepsilon}_{0,t}(x),0) = -\nabla \omega^i_{\varepsilon}(\Phi^{\varepsilon}_{0,t}(x),0) \cdot D\Phi^{\varepsilon}_{0,t}(x)u_{\varepsilon}(x,t)$$
$$= -\nabla \omega^i_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \cdot u_{\varepsilon}(x,t).$$

Thus if we write

$$\begin{split} u_{\varepsilon}(x,t) &= (\nabla^{\perp}G * \omega_{\varepsilon})(x,t) = \int_{\Omega} \nabla^{\perp}G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(x,y)\omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(y,t)\,dy \\ &+ \sum_{j\neq i} \int_{\Omega} \nabla^{\perp}G(x,y)\omega_{\varepsilon}^{j}(y,t)\,dy - \int_{\Omega} \nabla^{\perp}g(x,y)\omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(y,t)\,dy \\ &=: (\nabla^{\perp}G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} * \omega_{\varepsilon}^{i})(x,t) + F^{i}(\omega_{\varepsilon}^{1},\ldots,\omega_{\varepsilon}^{N})(x,t), \end{split}$$

we see that the functions  $\omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}$  satisfy the following system of Euler equations

$$\partial_t \omega^i_{\varepsilon} + \left( \nabla^\perp G_{\mathbb{R}^2} * \omega^i_{\varepsilon} + F^i \left( \omega^1_{\varepsilon}, \dots, \omega^N_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \cdot \nabla \omega^i_{\varepsilon} = 0, \quad \text{in } \Omega \times \mathbb{R}, \ i = 1, \dots, N.$$
(C.7)

Next we regularize the interaction between different vortex blobs, as well as the interaction with the boundary by a modification of the convolutions in  $F^i$ . Let  $T \in (0, T^+)$  and choose b > 0 such that  $b \le |z_i(t) - z_j(t)|$  and  $b \le \text{dist}(z_i(t), \partial\Omega)$  for all  $1 \le i < j \le N, t \in [0, T]$ . Take smooth cutoff functions  $\xi_1, \xi_2 : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  with

$$\xi_1(x) = \xi_1(|x|) = \begin{cases} 1, & |x| \ge \frac{b}{4} \\ 0, & |x| \le \frac{b}{8} \end{cases} \qquad \xi_2(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & x \in \Omega \text{ and } \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial\Omega) \ge \frac{b}{4} \\ 0, & x \notin \Omega \text{ or } \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial\Omega) \le \frac{b}{8} \end{cases}$$

and define  $\tilde{g}, \tilde{G} : \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\tilde{g}(x,y) = \xi_2(x)\xi_2(y)g(x,y), \qquad \tilde{G}(x,y) = \xi_2(x)\xi_2(y)\xi_1(x-y)G_{\mathbb{R}^2}(x,y) - \tilde{g}(x,y).$$

Let  $\tilde{\omega}^i_{\varepsilon}$  denote the solution of the following system of regularized Euler equations

$$\partial_t \tilde{\omega}^i_{\varepsilon} + \left( \nabla^\perp G_{\mathbb{R}^2} * \tilde{\omega}^i_{\varepsilon} + \tilde{F}^i \big( \tilde{\omega}^1_{\varepsilon}, \dots, \tilde{\omega}^N_{\varepsilon} \big) \right) \cdot \nabla \tilde{\omega}^i_{\varepsilon} = 0, \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}, \ i = 1, \dots, N,$$
(C.8)

where  $\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\cdot, 0) = \omega_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, 0)$  and

$$\tilde{F}^{i}(\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{1},\ldots,\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{N})(x,t)=\sum_{j\neq i}\int_{\Omega}\nabla^{\perp}\tilde{G}(x,y)\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{j}(y,t)\,dy-\int_{\Omega}\nabla^{\perp}\tilde{g}(x,y)\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(y,t)\,dy.$$

This system coincides with (C.7) as long as the distance between different vortex blobs and towards the boundary are sufficiently large.

The vector fields  $f_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x,t) = \tilde{F}^{i}(\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{1},\ldots,\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{N})(x,t)$  are smooth, uniformly bounded, uniformly Lipschitz continuous and for each  $\varepsilon, t$  the support supp  $f_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\cdot,t)$  is contained in  $\Omega$ . Thus we can apply Theorem C.1, which provides for every  $\delta > 0$  a number  $\varepsilon_{0}(T,\delta) > 0$ , such that

$$\operatorname{supp} \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\cdot, t) \subset B_{\delta}(c_{\varepsilon}^{i}(t)) \quad \text{with} \quad c_{\varepsilon}^{i}(t) \coloneqq \frac{1}{\Gamma_{i}} \int_{\Omega} x \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x, t) \, dx, \tag{C.9}$$

whenever  $t \in [0, T]$ , i = 1, ..., N and  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ . Note that also for the regularized system there holds  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \tilde{\omega}^i_{\varepsilon}(y, t) \, dy = \Gamma_i$  for any *t*. We will now show that  $c^i_{\varepsilon}(t) \to z_i(t)$  uniformly on [0, T]

as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Let  $\delta > 0$  and  $\varepsilon < \min(\delta, \varepsilon_0(T, \delta))$ . At time t = 0 we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| z_i(0) - c_{\varepsilon}^i(0) \right| &= \left| a_i - \frac{1}{\Gamma_i} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (a_i + y) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^i(a_i + y, 0) \, dy \right| \\ &\leq \varepsilon \int_{B_{\varepsilon}(0)} \frac{\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^i(a_i + y, 0)}{\Gamma_i} \, dy \leq \varepsilon \leq \delta. \end{aligned}$$

For the development in time observe that  $G(z_i, z_j) = \tilde{G}(z_i, z_j)$ ,  $g(z_i, z_i) = \tilde{g}(z_i, z_i)$  on [0, T]and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (v(x,t) \cdot \nabla \tilde{\omega}^i_{\varepsilon}(x,t)) x \, dx = - \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} v(x,t) \tilde{\omega}^i_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \, dx$$

for any smooth divergence-free vector field v. Hence

$$\begin{split} \left| \dot{z}_{i}(t) - \dot{c}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(t) \right| &= \left| \sum_{j \neq i} \Gamma_{j} \nabla^{\perp} G(z_{i}, z_{j}) - \Gamma_{i} \nabla^{\perp} g(z_{i}, z_{i}) - \frac{1}{\Gamma_{i}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left( \nabla^{\perp} G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} * \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i} + f_{\varepsilon}^{i} \right) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i} dx \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{j \neq i} \left| \Gamma_{j} \nabla^{\perp} \tilde{G}(z_{i}(t), z_{j}(t)) - \frac{1}{\Gamma_{i}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \nabla^{\perp} \tilde{G}(x, y) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{j}(x, t) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(y, t) dx dy \right| \\ &+ \left| \Gamma_{i} \nabla^{\perp} \tilde{g}(z_{i}(t), z_{i}(t)) - \frac{1}{\Gamma_{i}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \nabla^{\perp} \tilde{g}(x, y) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x, t) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(y, t) dx dy \right| \\ &+ \left| \frac{1}{\Gamma_{i}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \nabla^{\perp} G_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(x, y) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x, t) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(y, t) dx dy \right|. \end{split}$$

The last term actually is 0 due to the symmetry of  $G_{\mathbb{R}^2}$ . For the first term we estimate

$$\left|\Gamma_{j}\nabla^{\perp}\tilde{G}(z_{i}(t),z_{j}(t))-\Gamma_{j}\nabla^{\perp}\tilde{G}(c_{\varepsilon}^{i}(t),c_{\varepsilon}^{j}(t))\right| \leq M_{1}\left(\left|z_{i}(t)-c_{\varepsilon}^{i}(t)\right|+\left|z_{j}(t)-c_{\varepsilon}^{j}(t)\right|\right)$$

with a constant  $M_1 > 0$  depending on  $\tilde{G}$ ,  $\tilde{g}$  and  $\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_N$ . On the other hand (with a similar constant  $M_2$ )

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \Gamma_{j} \nabla^{\perp} \tilde{G}(c_{\varepsilon}^{i}(t), c_{\varepsilon}^{j}(t)) - \frac{1}{\Gamma_{i}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \nabla^{\perp} \tilde{G}(x, y) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{j}(x, t) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(y, t) \, dx \, dy \right| \\ &= \left| \frac{1}{\Gamma_{i}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left( \nabla^{\perp} \tilde{G}(c_{\varepsilon}^{i}(t), c_{\varepsilon}^{j}(t)) - \nabla^{\perp} \tilde{G}(x, y) \right) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{j}(x, t) \tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(y, t) \, dx \, dy \right| \leq M_{2} \delta, \end{aligned}$$

since supp  $\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\cdot, t) \subset B_{\delta}(c_{\varepsilon}^{i}(t))$  for i = 1, ..., N. The same procedure applied to the term involving  $\nabla^{\perp} \tilde{g}(z_{i}(t), z_{i}(t))$  finally gives us

$$\left|\dot{z}_{i}(t)-\dot{c}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(t)\right|\leq M_{3}\sum_{j=1}^{N}\left|z_{j}(t)-c_{\varepsilon}^{j}(t)\right|+M_{3}\delta$$

Thus

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} |z_i(t) - c_{\varepsilon}^i(t)| \le M_4 \delta + M_4 \int_0^t \sum_{i=1}^{N} |z_i(s) - c_{\varepsilon}^i(s)| \, ds$$

and we can apply Gronwall's lemma to conclude  $|z_i(t) - c_{\varepsilon}^i(t)| \leq M_4 \delta e^{M_4 T}$  for  $t \in [0, T]$ . This shows  $|z_i(t) - c_{\varepsilon}^i(t)| \to 0$  uniformly as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . By (C.9) we therefore can find to every  $\delta > 0$  a number  $\varepsilon_0(T, \delta) > 0$ , such that for every  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0, t \in [0, T]$  and i = 1, ..., N there holds

supp 
$$\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{\iota}(\cdot, t) \subset B_{\delta}(z_{i}(t)).$$

In particular if  $\delta < \frac{b}{4}$ , we can conclude that as long as  $t \in [0, T]$  the collection  $\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}$ , i = 1, ..., N not only is a solution of the regularized system (C.8), but also of the original system (C.7). Hence  $\tilde{\omega}_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\cdot, t) = \omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\cdot, t)$  for  $t \in [0, T]$ , i = 1, ..., N. This shows that the vortex blobs remain localized around the point vortex solution.

It remains to prove the uniform convergence

$$\int_{\Omega} f(x)\omega_{\varepsilon}(x,t)\,dx \to \sum_{i=1}^{N} \Gamma_{i} z_{i}(t)$$

for  $f \in C^0(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Let  $\tilde{\delta} > 0$  and take  $\delta > 0$  independent of  $t \in [0, T]$ , such that  $|f(x) - f(z_i(t))| \leq \tilde{\delta}$  whenever  $|x - z_i(t)| \leq \delta$ . For  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0(T, \delta)$  we have

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} f(x)\omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x,t) \, dx - \Gamma_{i}f(z_{i}(t))\right| \leq \int_{B_{\delta}(z_{i}(t))} |f(x) - f(z_{i}(t))| \left|\omega_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x,t)\right| \, dx \leq \tilde{\delta} \left|\Gamma_{i}\right|$$

and the statement follows.

## Bibliography

- [1] J. F. Adams: Lectures on Lie groups. Chicago: Univ. of Chicago Press, 1982.
- J. C. Alexander: A primer on connectivity. Fixed Point Theory. Vol. 886. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1981, 455–483.
- [3] H. Amann: Ordinary Differential Equations. Berlin, Boston: De Gruyter, 2011.
- [4] H. Aref: *Relative equilibria of point vortices and the fundamental theorem of algebra*. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. **467.2132** (2011), 2168–2184.
- [5] H. Aref, P. K. Newton, M. A. Stremler, T. Tokieda, D. L. Vainchtein: *Vortex Crystals*. Adv. Appl. Mech. **39** (2003), 1–79.
- [6] T. Ashbee: *Point vortex dynamics simulation in a conformally mapped domain.* 2015. http://de.mathworks.com/matlabcentral/fileexchange/49130-point-vortex-dynamics-simulation-in-a-conformally-mapped-domain.
- [7] Z. Balanov, W. Krawcewicz, H. Steinlein: *Applied equivariant degree*. Springfield, Mo: American Institute of Mathematical Sciences, 2006.
- [8] C. Bandle, M. Flucher: Harmonic Radius and Concentration of Energy; Hyperbolic Radius and Liouville's Equations  $\Delta U = e^U$  and  $\Delta U = U^{\frac{n+2}{n-2}}$ . SIAM Review **38.2** (1996), 191–238.
- [9] A. M. Barry: Vortex crystals in fluids. Boston University, 2012.
- [10] T. Bartsch: A generalization of the Weinstein-Moser theorems on periodic orbits of a Hamiltonian system near an equilibrium. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 14.6 (1997), 691–718.
- [11] T. Bartsch, Q. Dai: Periodic solutions of the N-vortex Hamiltonian system in planar domains. J. Diff. Equ. 260.3 (2016), 2275–2295.
- [12] T. Bartsch, Q. Dai, B. Gebhard: Periodic solutions of N-vortex type Hamiltonian systems near the domain boundary (2016). arXiv: 1610.04182.
- [13] T. Bartsch, B. Gebhard: Global continua of periodic solutions of singular first-order Hamiltonian systems of N-vortex type. Math. Ann. 369.1-2 (2017), 627–651.
- T. Bartsch, J. Mawhin: The Leray-Schauder degree of S<sup>1</sup>-equivariant operators associated to autonomous neutral equations in spaces of periodic functions. J. Diff. Equ. 92.1 (1991), 90–99.
- [15] T. Bartsch, A. M. Micheletti, A. Pistoia: The Morse property for functions of Kirchhoff-Routh path type (2017). arXiv: 1708.09315.
- [16] T. Bartsch, A. Pistoia: Critical points of the N-vortex Hamiltonian in bounded planar domains and steady state solutions of the incompressible Euler equations. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 75.2 (2015), 726–744.
- [17] T. Bartsch, A. Pistoia, T. Weth: N-Vortex Equilibria for Ideal Fluids in Bounded Planar Domains and New Nodal Solutions of the sinh-Poisson and the Lane-Emden-Fowler Equations. Comm. Math. Phys. 297.3 (2010), 653–686.

- [18] T. Bartsch, M. Sacchet: *Periodic solutions with prescribed minimal period of the 2-vortex problem in domains* (2017). arXiv: 1608.06775.
- [19] A. V. Bolsinov, A. V. Borisov, I. S. Mamaev: Bifurcation analysis and the Conley index in mechanics. Regul. Chaotic Dyn. 17.5 (2012), 451–478.
- [20] D. Cao, Z. Liu, J. Wei: Regularization of Point Vortices Pairs for the Euler Equation in Dimension Two. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 212.1 (2014), 179–217.
- [21] X. Carton, B. Le Cann, A. Serpette, J. Dubert: *Interactions of surface and deep anticyclonic eddies in the Bay of Biscay.* Journal of Marine Systems **109-110** (2013), 45–59.
- [22] J. E. Colliander, R. L. Jerrard: Ginzburg-Landau vortices: weak stability and Schrödinger equation dynamics. Journal d'Analyse Mathematique 77.1 (1999), 129–205.
- [23] O. Cornea, G. Lupton, J. Oprea, D. Tanré: Lusternik-Schnirelmann Category. American Mathematical Society, Providence Rhode Island, 2003.
- [24] D. G. Crowdy, J. S. Marshall: *The motion of a point vortex around multiple circular islands.* Physics of Fluids **17.5** (2005), 056602.
- [25] D. Crowdy, J. Marshall: Green's functions for Laplace's equation in multiply connected domains. IMA J. Appl. Math. **72.3** (2007), 278–301.
- [26] Q. Dai: Periodic solutions of the N point-vortex problem in planar domains. Gießen: Justus-Liebig-Universität, 2014.
- [27] E. Dancer: A new degree for S<sup>1</sup>-invariant gradient mappings and applications. Ann. Inst.
   H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 2.5 (1985), 329–370.
- [28] M. del Pino, M. Kowalczyk, M. Musso: Singular limits in Liouville-type equations. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 24.1 (2005), 47–81.
- [29] G. Dylawerski, K. Gęba, J. Jodel, W. Marzantowicz: An S<sup>1</sup>-equivariant degree and the Fuller index. Annales Polonici Mathematici 52.3 (1991), 243–280.
- [30] J. D. Eldredge: Numerical simulation of the fluid dynamics of 2D rigid body motion with the vortex particle method. J. Comp. Phys. **221.2** (2007), 626–648.
- [31] P. Esposito, M. Grossi, A. Pistoia: On the existence of blowing-up solutions for a mean field equation. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 22.2 (2005), 227–257.
- [32] L. C. Evans: *Partial differential equations*. Graduate studies in mathematics v. 19. Providence, R.I: American Mathematical Society, 1998.
- [33] C. L. Fefferman: *Existence and smoothness of the Navier-Stokes equation*. Clay Millenium Problems (2000).
- [34] M. Flucher: *Variational Problems with Concentration*. Birkhäuser, Basel Boston Berlin, 1999.
- [35] M. Flucher, B. Gustafsson: Vortex motion in two-dimensional hydrodynamics, energy renormalization and stability of vortex pairs. TRITA-MAT-1997-MA-02 (1997).
- [36] A. Fonda, A. J. Ureña: A higher dimensional Poincaré–Birkhoff theorem for Hamiltonian flows. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 34.3 (2017), 679–698.
- [37] C. García-Azpeitia, J. Ize: *Bifurcation of periodic solutions from a ring configuration in the vortex and filament problems.* J. Diff. Equ. **252.10** (2012), 5662–5678.
- [38] B. Gebhard: Periodic solutions for the N-vortex problem via a superposition principle (2017). arXiv: 1708.08888.
- [39] M. Gelantalis, P. Sternberg: Rotating 2N-vortex solutions to the Gross-Pitaevskii equation on S<sup>2</sup>. J. Math. Phys. 53.8 (2012), 083701.

- [40] D. Gilbarg, N. S. Trudinger: Elliptic partial differential equations of second order. Berlin, New York: Springer, 1998.
- [41] M. J. Gourlay: Fluid Simulation for Video Games (Part 3). Intel online articles (2009).
- [42] M. Grossi, F. Takahashi: On the location of two blowup points on an annulus for the mean field equation. Comptes Rendus Mathematique **352** (7-8 2014), 615–619.
- [43] H. Hofer, E. Zehnder: Symplectic Invariants and Hamiltonian Dynamics. Springer Basel, 2011.
- [44] J. Ize, A. Vignoli: Equivariant Degree Theory. Berlin, New York: De Gruyter, 2003.
- [45] R. L. Jerrard, H. M. Soner: Dynamics of Ginzburg-Landau Vortices. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 142.2 (1998), 99–125.
- [46] K. Khanin: Quasi-periodic motions of vortex systems. Phys. D 4.2 (1982), 261–269.
- [47] G. R. Kirchhoff: Vorlesungen über mathematische Physik. Teubner, Leipzig, 1876.
- [48] J. P. Kossin, W. H. Schubert: *Mesovortices in Hurricane Isabel*. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 85.2 (2004), 151–153.
- [49] C. Kuhl: Equilibria for the N-vortex-problem in a general bounded domain. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 433.2 (2016), 1531–1560.
- [50] C. Kuhl: Symmetric equilibria for the N-vortex problem. J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 17.3 (2015), 597–624.
- [51] M. Kurzke, C. Melcher, R. Moser, D. Spirn: *Ginzburg-Landau Vortices Driven by the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert Equation*. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. **199.3** (2011), 843–888.
- [52] J. Leray, J. Schauder: *Topologie et équations fonctionnelles*. Annales scientifiques de l'École normale supérieure **51** (1934), 45–78.
- [53] C. C. Lin: On the motion of vortices in two dimensions I. Existence of the Kirchhoff-Routh function. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 27.12 (1941), 570–575.
- [54] C. C. Lin: On the motion of vortices in two dimensions II. Some further investigations on the Kirchhoff-Routh function. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **27** (1941), 575–577.
- [55] S. G. Llewellyn Smith: How do singularities move in potential flow? Physica D 240.20 (2011), 1644–1651.
- [56] A. Majda, A. L. Bertozzi: *Vorticity and incompressible flow.* Cambridge texts in applied mathematics. Cambridge New York: Cambridge University Press, 2002.
- [57] C. Marchioro, M. Pulvirenti: Mathematical Theory of Incompressible Nonviscous Fluids. Springer, New York, 1994.
- [58] C. Marchioro, M. Pulvirenti: *Vortex Methods in Two-Dimensional Fluid Dynamics*. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, 1984.
- [59] C. Marchioro, M. Pulvirenti: *Vortices and localization in Euler flows*. Comm. Math. Phys. **154.1** (1993), 49–61.
- [60] J. Mawhin, M. Willem: *Critical point theory and Hamiltonian systems*. Applied mathematical sciences v. 74. New York: Springer-Verlag, 1989.
- [61] K. R. Meyer, G. R. Hall, D. Offin: *Introduction to Hamiltonian Dynamical Systems and the N-Body Problem*. Vol. 90. Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer New York, 2009.
- [62] J. Moser: Periodic Orbits near an Equilibrium and a Theorem by Alan Weinstein. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 29.6 (1976), 727–747.

- [63] J. Moser, E. Zehnder: Notes on dynamical systems. Courant lecture notes in mathematics 12. New York: Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York University, American Mathematical Society, 2005.
- [64] P. K. Newton: The N-Vortex Problem. Springer, New York, 2001.
- [65] C. Pommerenke: *Boundary Behaviour of Conformal Maps*. Vol. 299. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1992.
- [66] P. H. Rabinowitz: Some global results for nonlinear eigenvalue problems. J. Func. Anal. 7.3 (1971), 487–513.
- [67] G. E. Roberts: Stability of Relative Equilibria in the Planar n-Vortex Problem. SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Sys. 12.2 (2013), 1114–1134.
- [68] E. J. Routh: Some Applications of Conjugate Functions. Proc. London Math. Soc. 12.1 (1880), 73–89.
- [69] S. Rybicki: A degree for S<sup>1</sup>-equivariant orthogonal maps and its applications to bifurcation theory. Non. Anal.: Theory, Meth. & Appl. **23.1** (1994), 83–102.
- [70] S. Rybicki: Degree for S<sup>1</sup>-equivariant strongly indefinite functionals. Non. Anal.: Theory, Meth. & Appl. 43.8 (2001), 1001–1017.
- [71] S. Rybicki: On periodic solutions of autonomous Hamiltonian systems via degree for S<sup>1</sup>equivariant gradient maps. Non. Anal.: Theory, Meth. & Appl. 34.4 (1998), 537–569.
- [72] S. Rybicki: Applications of degree for S<sup>1</sup>-equivariant gradient maps to variational nonlinear problems with S<sup>1</sup>-symmetries. Topological Methods in Nonlinear Analysis 9.2 (1997), 383–417.
- [73] E. Ryzhov, K. Koshel: *Steady and perturbed motion of a point vortex along a boundary with a circular cavity.* Physics Letters A **380** (7-8 2016), 896–902.
- [74] M. Struwe: Existence of periodic solutions of Hamiltonian systems on almost every energy surface. Boletim da Sociedade Brasileira de Matemática 20.2 (1990), 49–58.
- [75] J. J. Thomson: A Treatise on the Motion of Vortex Rings. London, Macmillan, 1883.
- [76] R. Venkatraman: *Periodic orbits of Gross-Pitaevskii in the disc with vortices following point vortex flow.* Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations **56.3** (2017).
- [77] A. Weinstein: Normal Modes for Nonlinear Hamiltonian Systems. Inventiones mathematicae 20.1 (1973), 47–57.